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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Good afternoon.

          3  My name is Councilwoman Margarita Lopez.  I am the

          4  Chair of this Committee, and I will read a statement

          5  for you in a couple of minutes.  But before I

          6  proceed with that, I would like to introduce who is

          7  here with us, for everybody to know the name and the

          8  face.

          9                 Council Member Angel Rodriguez is

         10  sitting at my left.  There is not any other Council

         11  member here right now that I see.  And then the

         12  staff will introduce themselves for you to know who

         13  they are.

         14                 MS. BOLANOS:  My name is Maritza

         15  Bolanos.  I'm the Counsel to the Committee.

         16                 MS. EMERMAN:  Anne Emerman, Senior

         17  Staff to the Committee.

         18                 MR. POLENBERG:  Michael Polenberg,

         19  Council Finance.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  With that said,

         21  good afternoon. I would like to welcome everyone

         22  here to this hearing of the Committee of Mental

         23  Health, Mental Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse

         24  and Disability Services.  My name is Margarita

         25  Lopez, and I am the Chair of the Committee.  I would
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          2  like to welcome my colleagues on the Committee at

          3  this time, I cannot mention their names because they

          4  are not sitting here, they're supposed to, but they

          5  are not here right now.  Therefore, who knows where

          6  they are.

          7                 Today the members of the Committee

          8  will vote on Resolution No. 284, which calls up the

          9  New York Legislation to adopt Assembly Bill A.8448,

         10  and its companion Senate Bill S.1212A, by the New

         11  York State Legislature.  It will expand the Social

         12  Service Law to include mentally ill persons who are

         13  discharged without health insurance from psychiatric

         14  inpatient care at the State Mental Hospital, or

         15  recent operated by the State, County or City of New

         16  York, so that such persons should be presumed

         17  eligible for Medicaid coverage from the day of

         18  discharge.

         19                 Our colleague, Assemblyman James

         20  Brenner, has sponsored this legislation because it

         21  would substantially assist discharged planners in

         22  assuring that mentally ill prison inmates can more

         23  easily and effectively receive all the benefits of

         24  an adequate discharge plan, as mandated in the case

         25  of Brad H. V. Giuliani.
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          2                 Immediately upon release from prison,

          3  usually people with psychiatric disabilities who are

          4  released from a State prison or mental hospitals do

          5  not have health care insurance coverage at the time

          6  that they are discharged.  Without the appropriate

          7  follow up medical care, which includes not only all

          8  of the necessary supply of medication, but also

          9  visits for counseling, the mentally ill often

         10  decompensate and act out in the community.  As a

         11  result, this person are subject to re-

         12  incarceration, or re- hospitalization. Most, if not

         13  all, of these persons, are eligible for Medicaid.

         14  However, the application process for Medicaid takes

         15  between 40 to 60 days or longer to the time that an

         16  applicant can access health care, the members of the

         17  Committee of Mental Health are particularly

         18  concerned because in New York City alone,

         19  approximately 10,000 inmates at Riker's Island are

         20  presumed eligible for Medicaid and discharge

         21  planning annually.  However, only 639, I repeat

         22  that, 639 of the released inmates were enrolled in

         23  the Medicaid Grant Program, during his first 12-

         24  month of the statewide operation, which is the

         25  primary program for them to obtain their medication.
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          2                 At past hearings we have had

          3  testimony on the ineffectiveness of this program,

          4  despite the State allocation over six million

          5  annually for the Medication Grant Program.  The need

          6  for more useful programs, such as Presumpted

          7  Medicaid Eligibility, which Resolution 284 supports,

          8  it is important in order to provide ongoing

          9  treatment and medication, and to ensure that these

         10  persons do not decompensate and act out, but instead

         11  become integrated into the community.

         12                 The New York State Legislation need

         13  to provide for and make sure that all persons,

         14  including those with serious mental disabilities

         15  have insurance by enacting Presumptive Medicaid

         16  coverage for persons with serious mental illness

         17  disabilities.  Not just because the mental illness,

         18  but because they need help services also.

         19                 Today's hearing will focus on the

         20  other side topic regarding programs for crisis

         21  intervention, and alternative to incarceration for

         22  persons with mental disabilities, in the areas

         23  Mental Health policy, Public Safety, Forensic

         24  Criminal Justice Services and Correction.

         25                 Since the 1960s, a nationwide shift
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          2  has occurred in the provision of Mental Health Care

          3  Services and Treatment leading to a mass closing of

          4  public mental hospitals.  In the last 40 years, this

          5  country has reduced its number of State inpatient

          6  beds from 339 per 100,000 persons to 29 per 100,000

          7  persons.

          8                 This shift in Mental Health policy

          9  has also occurred in New York State.  In the 1960s,

         10  Public Mental Health policy officials envisioned

         11  that these institutionalization patients will be

         12  treated with a comprehensive network of outpatient

         13  clinics and treatment, residential program,

         14  supported employment and other necessary services.

         15                 However, as the National Alliance for

         16  the mentally ill has stated, "Unfortunately, due to

         17  inadequate funding and development, the community-

         18  based services were unable to provide adequate care

         19  for a large portion of mentally ill individuals.  As

         20  a result today, many mentally ill people have been

         21  arrested and incarcerated for criminal behavior that

         22  most likely never would have happened if these

         23  individuals were properly cared for in the

         24  community."  And what we have done in practical

         25  terms in this city of ours, is criminalized an
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          2  illness and turning people who suffer from a disease

          3  into criminals that have extensive criminal record,

          4  instead of expensive mental health record of

          5  recovery.

          6                 Today's hearing will emphasize our

          7  programs which provide Alternative to Incarceration

          8  for seriously mentally ill offenders.  I am forced

          9  to use that word in order to be able to communicate

         10  with people, but I personally resent very much to

         11  have to use that terminology to identify people who

         12  suffer from mental illness, who ended in jail when

         13  they never should have ended in there.

         14                 On such a successful program in New

         15  York City, which is funded by the New York Council,

         16  is the Nathaniel Project.  The Nathaniel Project is

         17  unique because it brings new services into the

         18  community.  The Nathaniel Project clinics receive

         19  intensive case management for a full two years, and

         20  a psychiatrist on the staff provides treatment.

         21  Isn't that sensible?

         22                 In addition, the Project has

         23  collaborated with Pathway to Housing to create new

         24  client beds through a U.S. Department of Housing and

         25  Urban Development program.  This HUD program funded
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          2  25 new beds for people being diverted from prison,

          3  and funding was provided to build a 64- bed

          4  transitional residence for people with serious

          5  mental illness who are being released from jail and

          6  prison.

          7                 Significantly, the Nathaniel Project

          8  saves New York City approximately $14,274 in jail

          9  expenditures per participant per year, approximately

         10  a savings of $650,000 per year based on 50

         11  participants per year.  Money that we desperately

         12  need now for this budget crisis that we have right

         13  now, to be provided for day care centers, perhaps.

         14  This is one type of program model, which allows with

         15  properly trained crisis intervention teams of patrol

         16  officers working in collaboration across various

         17  City agencies, such as the Department of Mental

         18  Health.

         19                 The New York City Police Department

         20  and the Correction Department can bring about both

         21  humane and cost effective solutions to this

         22  situation, and this program proves it.

         23                 Thank you, and we will now call our

         24  first witness. Before I do that, I must inform you

         25  that the Administration refused to come to this
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          2  meeting today, and refused to testify in this

          3  hearing.  It is my position at this point that I am

          4  no longer going to tolerate a refusal from the

          5  Administration to come to any more of my hearings.

          6  And from this moment on, I'm putting the

          7  Administration on notice that I'm going to put them

          8  on the next meeting that I call in subpoena power

          9  mode.  I am going to demand that they come here, if

         10  not, I'm going to call for a subpoena and I'm going

         11  to enact that subpoena.  I am sick and tired of the

         12  refusal of the Administration to come here to

         13  testify about the needs of the mentally ill or about

         14  the needs of the disabled community utilizing

         15  excuses that are unacceptable.  I am not going to

         16  any longer accept an explanation that is based on

         17  Brad H. V. Giuliani, because that case is in

         18  negotiations right now, and they cannot come here

         19  and speak for that reason.  The negotiations about

         20  that are over in regard to me.

         21                 And in regard to me, Mr. Mayor,

         22  Commissioners, hear me well, no longer you can tell

         23  me that you are not coming here. And the

         24  notification is going to be in writing to you,

         25  verbally in this meeting, and I'm calling for
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          2  subpoena power in the next meeting, and I will have

          3  the vote of the Council members on this.

          4                 With that, I make very clear my

          5  position.  The Council members that are here right

          6  now, I will ask them to introduce themselves, if

          7  they can help me, and starting from my right to the

          8  left.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I'm Gale

         10  Brewer from the West Side of Manhattan, and

         11  delighted to be here.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Good

         13  afternoon, Helen Foster, 16th District, the Bronx.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTIN- DILAN:  Good

         15  afternoon. Council Member Eric Martin- Dilan, 37th

         16  District, Brooklyn.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ:  Council

         18  Member Angel Rodriguez, 38th District in Brooklyn.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I would also like

         20  to ask my colleagues to express their opinion about

         21  the issue of the subpoena, because I want the

         22  Administration to understand very clearly that this

         23  is very serious.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  It is a very

         25  important issue, and I will support the Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Helen.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  I agree with

          4  both of my colleagues, and I will support you on

          5  this issue, because we do need some answers.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTIN- DILAN:  Madam

          7  Chair, you have my full support.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RODRIGUEZ:  I think

          9  one of the responsibilities of the Mayor is to make

         10  sure that he responds to the people.  And I think

         11  the Council is the voice of the people and the ones

         12  that ask those questions, and this is the only place

         13  where they get to be questioned, and I will support

         14  you very, very strongly on this issue.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you very

         16  much to all of my colleagues.

         17                 Now we're going to begin with the

         18  process, and Maritza Bolanos, who is the Counsel to

         19  the Committee, who is the person who saved me from

         20  having heart attacks, is going to be in control of

         21  this meeting.  Because as you can imagine, I am not

         22  a happy puppy today.  Then, Maritza, please, can you

         23  call the first person?

         24                 Remember, you're going to be

         25  testifying, each one of you for three minutes, the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  clock is going to be ticking, and when you hear the

          3  sound, please, wrap up.  Thank you very much.

          4                 MS. BOLANOS:  Our first witness is

          5  Mrs. Loretta Cerbelli.

          6                 Please raise your right hand?  Do you

          7  swear that the testimony you're about to provide

          8  before this Committee is the whole truth and to the

          9  best of your knowledge?

         10                 MS. CERBELLI:  Yes.

         11                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please state your name,

         12  for the record?

         13                 MS. CERBELLI:  My name is Loretta

         14  Cerbelli.

         15                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please start, thank

         16  you.

         17                 MS. CERBELLI:  My name is Loretta

         18  Cerbelli.  On October 25th, 1998, my son Kevin was

         19  shot and killed by police officers inside the 110th

         20  Precinct in Queens.  I have listened to these

         21  officers testify and I have read their deposition

         22  transcripts for my son's lawsuit.  While all of the

         23  officers claimed that they knew right away that my

         24  son was mentally ill, Kevin had schizophrenia, none

         25  of the officers remembered what training or
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          2  instruction they received about how to handle

          3  emotionally disturbed persons.  After the shooting,

          4  one police officer derogatorily described Kevin's

          5  condition in a police report as shitsophrenia (sic).

          6                 Although the officers who shot my son

          7  in a barrage of uncontrolled gunfire, gave lip

          8  service to the Patrol Guides' Isolate and Contain

          9  Provision, they shot Kevin, before they shot Kevin,

         10  several officers surrounded him and continued to

         11  close in on him, while they simply screamed at him

         12  to drop a screwdriver, a knife, they claimed he had

         13  in his hands.  All of the officers admitted that

         14  Kevin had backed into a corner and was by himself,

         15  posing no imminent threat to anyone, when they moved

         16  closer to him. So much for isolate and contain.

         17                 By the way, mysteriously the knife

         18  and screwdriver the officers say Kevin had at the

         19  time, just disappeared for a couple of years, until

         20  recently when the Police Department claimed to have

         21  found them hidden under different voucher numbers in

         22  the property warehouse.

         23                 I was here two years ago when Council

         24  Members Sheldon Leffler and Una Clarke held a

         25  similar hearing.  I listened carefully for answers
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          2  when the Police representatives testified about all

          3  the wonderful things the Police Department was doing

          4  to teach officers how to interact with the mentally

          5  ill.  Not once did any of these officers acknowledge

          6  that the police officers could benefit from

          7  additional and improved training and guidance.

          8  Listening to the Police Department representatives

          9  you would think that everything is perfect and there

         10  is absolutely no room for improvement.

         11                 Respectfully I disagree.  I grew up

         12  with great admiration for the police, my great-

         13  grandfather was a dedicated Captain, and I was

         14  always told that the police are there to protect and

         15  serve.  The officers who killed my son were not

         16  there to protect and serve a mentally ill person in

         17  crisis.  It is time for police officers to value the

         18  lives of the mentally ill as they should value all

         19  human life, rather than ignorantly treat them like

         20  trash or skells, as they say.

         21                 I believe the Police Department's

         22  lack of real concern and value for the lives of

         23  people like my son, are the real reasons why nothing

         24  has changed and they continue to say everything is

         25  perfect.  Say what you will, actions speak louder
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          2  than words. It is time for the Police Department to

          3  protect and serve the people who are sick and need

          4  the help the most.

          5                 Thank you, Council members, for

          6  listening.

          7                 MR. GIORDANO:  Thank you.  My name is

          8  Carmen Giordano, I'm Mrs. Cerbelli's attorney.  I

          9  don't really have a statement to make, I just wanted

         10  to indicate that I was also present at the last

         11  hearing held by the previous Council, the previous

         12  Committee.  And as Mrs. Cerbelli indicated there was

         13  a great deal of praise that the Police Department

         14  languished upon itself, and their training and

         15  policies on handling the mentally ill in crisis.

         16  And we just do not see it, we just don't see that it

         17  is perfect and doesn't need improvement.  We think

         18  it really could benefit from improvement.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  At this moment I

         20  would like to ask Council Member Diaz to introduce

         21  himself, please?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Thank you.  I'm

         23  Reverend Ruben Diazepam.  I represent the 18th

         24  District in the Bronx.  I was born in Puerto Rico,

         25  grew up in Puerto Rico, and now I met here, the
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          2  Honorable Chairperson Margarita Lopez.  And I

          3  congratulate her for conducting this meeting, and I

          4  appreciate your coming to testify. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Ms. Cerbelli, did

          6  I pronounce it right?

          7                 MS. CERBELLI:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I have a problem

          9  with the English language, or the English language

         10  have a problem with me, I don't know which one of

         11  the two is, but I try my best.

         12                 I want to, from the bottom of my

         13  heart, to thank you for coming to testify here,

         14  because I know it had to be very difficult for you

         15  to revive the pain that you are going through. Then

         16  I want you to know that I am in full appreciation of

         17  what you're doing, and I understand that you're

         18  doing it to save the lives of other children in

         19  order for them not to go through this.

         20                 Then for your sacrifice I have a

         21  great admiration.

         22                 Now I'm going to ask you to forgive

         23  me for the questions that I'm going to ask you, they

         24  are not intended to hurt you in any way.  It is that

         25  I need more information on this issue. Are you okay
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          2  with that?

          3                 MS. CERBELLI:  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  When

          5  your son was intervened by the Police, where was he

          6  intervened, where he was, and under what

          7  circumstances did this occur?

          8                 MS. CERBELLI:  He was inside the

          9  110th Police Station.  He had been on the phone with

         10  me several minutes before, he called me from home

         11  and he went there in the midst of a crisis for help.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then he went to

         13  the Precinct, himself.

         14                 MS. CERBELLI:  Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And he went in

         16  there looking for help?

         17                 MS. CERBELLI:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Did you know, did

         19  he share with you prior to the disaster that we're

         20  talking about here that happened with him, did he

         21  share with you what he wanted help for?

         22                 MS. CERBELLI:  He knew he was in the

         23  midst of a crisis, and normally when he would call

         24  me and he was in the midst of a crisis after his

         25  medication was changed, he would, I would advise him
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          2  and beg him to please go to the hospital, and

          3  normally, he would go to the hospital and call me

          4  from Elmhurst and let me know he was getting

          5  admitted for help.

          6                 And this time he had told me over the

          7  phone that he didn't want to go there, that they

          8  don't help.  And I don't know why - -

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  He was

         10  taking medication currently at the time he went

         11  there?

         12                 MS. CERBELLI:  He had been on a

         13  different regimen of medication that made, helped

         14  him to live a perfectly normal life. And his

         15  medication was abruptly changed when a new doctor

         16  took over his case at the hospital for absolutely no

         17  reason other than he wanted to change it.  And he

         18  was hospitalized several times after the change, the

         19  medication was not helping him whatsoever.  And I

         20  kept pleading with them to put him back on his

         21  former medication, and no one would listen.

         22                 MR. GIORDANO:  If I just may add,

         23  Kevin was a patient at Elmhurst Hospital.  He was

         24  discharged a couple of months before from Elmhurst

         25  Hospital and he was assigned to their outpatient
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          2  treatment program.

          3                 He began to decompensate rather

          4  rapidly, and he did not show up at the hospital

          5  repeatedly to obtain his medication. The hospital

          6  records indicate that there was some contemplation

          7  of a mobile crisis referral, but they never followed

          8  through on it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do you know the

         10  lapse that occurred between him not going into the

         11  center and the time that they were thinking about

         12  triggering an emergency unit to go to him?

         13                 MR. GIORDANO:  The mobile crisis

         14  referral was the idea that it should be done was

         15  written in the hospital chart over a month before

         16  Kevin Cerbelli was shot and killed, and they never

         17  followed through.  There was a record, an expost

         18  facto record created by the Social Worker that was

         19  in charge of Kevin's case. After Kevin was shot and

         20  killed, and this employee found out about it, he

         21  created a document after the fact indicating all the

         22  fictitious dates within which he tried to call Kevin

         23  on the phone. The fact remains, however, that the

         24  mobile crisis referral was never made and Kevin

         25  continued to compensate.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Let me have a

          3  clarification in what you just.   You're saying that

          4  an employee of the hospital created a record that

          5  was false, in order to cover up the lack of services

          6  that were not given.  You're saying that for a fact,

          7  or you're saying that as a conclusion that you

          8  reached, had you proved this?  I need to understand

          9   - -

         10                 MR. GIORDANO:  I can tell you exactly

         11  what the facts are, Madam Chair.  The, we requested

         12  and we subpoena records from the hospital.  We were

         13  provided with records, we were not provided with

         14  this particular page.  When we conducted the

         15  deposition of the individual who was in charge of

         16  Mr. Cerbelli's case, that, he brought that record

         17  with him.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Himself.

         19                 MR. GIODANO:  Himself.  He admitted

         20  that he created that record after he found out that

         21  Kevin Cerbelli was shot and killed.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  On the record he

         23  admitted to that.

         24                 MR. GIORDANO:  Yes.  And that record

         25  is distinctly different from the rest of the chart.
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          2  The rest of the chart has a chronological record of

          3  attempts made to contact Mr. Cerbelli.  And those,

          4  the dates on the particular page that was created

          5  afterward, were not anywhere in the chart.

          6                 So it is my conclusion that that is

          7  false, certainly, and it contradicts the idea that

          8  he wanted to refer Kevin to mobile crisis.

          9                 But getting back to the point of the

         10  Police, Kevin came into the 110th Precinct, he was

         11  clearly in a state of crisis. All of the officers

         12  that were there immediately identified that, they

         13  testified to this under oath, that he was an

         14  emotionally disturbed person in crisis.  They failed

         15  to follow the provisions of the Patrol Guide, which

         16  in and of themselves are completely inadequate and

         17  antiquated at this point in time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I would like to

         19  know if in the process in which he was there, do you

         20  have an idea for how long he was inside of the

         21  precinct?

         22                 MS. CERBELLI:  He had called me

         23  exactly 8:30 that Sunday evening, and I believe they

         24  say the shooting was at approximately 8:52.  He was

         25  on the phone with me about 10 minutes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do you know if

          3  the precinct called in the intervention crisis unit

          4  to come to the precinct to intervene with him, a

          5  psychiatrist to work with him, any personnel that

          6  can help in dealing with a mentally person?

          7                 MS. CERBELLI:  Excuse me, did you ask

          8  if the police- -

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, the

         10  precinct, anybody in the Police Department from that

         11  precinct, that they call a crisis intervention unit,

         12  that they reached out to any of the psyche units?

         13                 MS. CERBELLI:  From my understanding

         14  they had put in a call, but the crisis intervention

         15  did not respond to the call.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  They did call but

         17  the crisis intervention did not respond?

         18                 MS. CERBELLI:  No.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do we have proof

         20  of this, do we know?

         21                 MR. GIORDANO:  Well, it's not 100

         22  percent clear.  It seems as though after the

         23  shooting stopped and the kind of gun smoke cleared,

         24  then a call was made to ESU.

         25                 The officers claimed that the
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          2  situation was unfolding too rapidly and there was no

          3  time to make any effort to call anyone else or get

          4  ESU's special equipment.  However, there was no

          5  effort to slow the situation down as the police are

          6  required to do.  There was no effort to isolate and

          7  contain Kevin.  Kevin had backed into a corner of

          8  the precinct, he was not an imminent threat to

          9  anyone.  And the officers moved in on him, closed in

         10  on him and with their guns pointing at him, several

         11  officers yelling at him, which is not exactly the

         12  smartest thing to do with an individual who is in

         13  crisis.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Absolutely not,

         15  contraindicated to do that.

         16                 MR. GIORDANO:  Contraindicated,

         17  exactly.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Was he armed?

         19                 MS. CERBELLI:  Excuse me?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Kevin was armed?

         21                 MS. CERBELLI:  Armed?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, did he have

         23  any weapons or anything that can be understood as a

         24  weapon?

         25                 MS. CERBELLI:  Well they claimed that
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          2  he had a screwdriver in one hand and a knife in the

          3  other.  And I had never seen that knife in my life.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  How about you,

          5  had you requested?

          6                 MR. GIORDANO:  Yes, well there has

          7  been a lot of litigation on this particular issue

          8  because the knife and screwdriver the Police claimed

          9  Mr. Cerbelli had, had mysteriously disappeared for a

         10  couple of years.  And it took several motions to the

         11  Federal Judge in order to locate those items they

         12  claimed he had.

         13                 Now the screwdriver that was found at

         14  the scene, and the 911 Sprint printout, indicate

         15  that a screwdriver, that there was a screwdriver

         16  during the incident.  The hospital record indicates

         17  that there was a screwdriver.  There was blood on

         18  the screwdriver, as we have seen only in photographs

         19  thus far. However, there was no mention of the knife

         20  in the Sprint report, the first report of the

         21  incident by the Police, and there was no mention of

         22  the knife in the hospital record of the officer,

         23  there was no officer that was injured by Mr.

         24  Cerbelli.  There was an officer who was shot by

         25  another police officer, but nonetheless, they did go
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          2  to the hospital.  And there was no blood on the

          3  screwdriver as we have seen in photographs.

          4                 So I can say, mildly, have our

          5  suspicions as to the actual, as to the actual

          6  possession by Mr. Cerbelli of the knife.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  Any of the

          8  members who would like to ask any questions?  Then I

          9  thank you for your testimony, and I would like to

         10  tell you that I'm very, very sorry that your son

         11  died.

         12                 MS. CERBELLI:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And I don't know

         14  if you have received any communication from our

         15  government apologizing to you for your son's life.

         16                 MS. CERBELLI:  Never.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I want to

         18  apologize to you for what had been happen to your

         19  son and for what had been done to you, and I'm very

         20  sorry.

         21                 MS. CERBELLI:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you for

         23  coming today.

         24                 MR. GIORDANO:  Thank you.  I just

         25  want to thank, Maritza, your Counsel also for her
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          2  very good work on this issue.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          4                 MS. BOLANOS:  Our next witness is the

          5  Honorable Matthew D'Emic.  I feel a little strange

          6  swearing in a Judge, but that is part of the

          7  procedure.

          8                 Do you swear that the testimony

          9  you're about to give before this Committee is the

         10  whole truth and to the best of your knowledge?

         11                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  I do.

         12                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please state your name

         13  and organization for the record, and proceed.  Thank

         14  you.

         15                 Make sure that your button is in so

         16  that the light is off.

         17                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Okay.  Matthew D'Emic,

         18  I'm representing the Office of Court Administration.

         19    I'm a Judge of the Court of Claims and assigned to

         20  the Brooklyn Supreme Court. Chief Administrative

         21  Judge Jonathan Litman, who appreciates your

         22  invitation to testify, Madam Chairwoman, and regrets

         23  his inability to be here in person today, asked me

         24  to represent him and to talk to the Committee about

         25  the latest problem- solving initiative of Chief
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          2  Judge Judith Kay, the Brooklyn Mental Health Court.

          3                 The Mental Health Court is a

          4  collaborative effort of the Court System, the Office

          5  of Mental Health, the Brooklyn District Attorney's

          6  Office, the Defense Bar.  We also utilize the

          7  services of TASC and TADD, ATI, and we seek to

          8  divert defendants with serious and persistent mental

          9  illness from prison and into treatment, while at the

         10  same time balancing the public safety concerns of

         11  the community.

         12                 I presented to the Committee a

         13  research paper from the Center for Court

         14  Intervention, as well as a brief description of the

         15  Court, and it details the reasons for starting a

         16  Mental Health Court in New York State, and also

         17  gives in detail some of the statistical reasons for

         18  that and what we hope to accomplish.

         19                 The resources for this Court have

         20  been committed by all our partners, and I hope to be

         21  able to come back here some time in the future and

         22  to advise of our progress.  But it is our hope in

         23  starting this Court, which of course the success in

         24  this court is measured by who we keep out of jail,

         25  rather than who we put into jail, we hope that by
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          2  offering alternatives to incarceration to defendants

          3  with serious mental illness that it will be a

          4  benefit to them, to society and to the families who

          5  have suffered for a long time.

          6                 If I can just say as an aside, before

          7  I finish, just today we found a program for a

          8  defendant who was evaluated and assessed by our

          9  staff, and who had 28 misdemeanor convictions over

         10  several years, and is now, hopefully, on his way to

         11  some sort of treatment.  What we will do, is expect

         12  people to be in treatment for 12 to 18 months.  They

         13  plead guilty to a felony and a misdemeanor.  If they

         14  succeed in the program then their case will be

         15  dismissed, generally, and if they fail, they will

         16  agree to appear in incarceration, but built into

         17  that is the knowledge that relapse in many cases is

         18  part of recovery, and our expectations of our

         19  defendants are, I think, balanced by what they

         20  suffer from.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I would like to

         22  know your opinion about Medicaid being pre- approved

         23  for this kind of population that we're talking

         24  about, in order to give them the power to have it,

         25  how do you think that will influence the process
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          2  here, would it be positive or negative, do you

          3  support the piece of legislation that exist at the

          4  State level?

          5                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  The Code of Judicial

          6  Conduct prevents me from commenting on any pending

          7  legislation or any policy considerations.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

          9                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  So, obviously, I will

         10  have to leave that for others.  I know that our

         11  psychiatrist that we have hired on staff, Dr. Nadel,

         12  testified here at the last hearing, and I think she

         13  commented on that, as well.  But I have to, I'm

         14  constrained by what I can talk about.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then let me

         16  rephrase my question.  If the individuals that your

         17  system had to intervene with will have access to

         18  medication, would that be helpful to stabilize them

         19  further, instead of going through a process in which

         20  they don't have access to medication because there

         21  is no funding to buy the medication, unless they

         22  have Medicaid, if they had that Medicaid in place,

         23  that that will be helpful?

         24                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  I'm going to leave

         25  that answer to others, you know, again, I have to be
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          2  careful about what I comment on, no matter what.

          3                 I will say this, is that many of the

          4  people that are in our Court are incarcerated

          5  awaiting beds.  So, obviously, the need for beds or

          6  more beds, more programs would, obviously, be

          7  beneficial to the Court.  And again, we have had

          8  great success with the TADD program, with the TASC

          9  program, who I monitor their progress and their

         10  programs with our own staff that we're getting, I

         11  mean, this Court just started in March and we

         12  started slowly.  So I'm hoping that after a year to

         13  be able to present statistically what the benefits

         14  to society, what the benefits to the defendants, and

         15  what the benefits to their family were.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do you have

         17  preliminary numbers with you about how many people

         18  you have been involved at this point?

         19                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  At this point, now,

         20  I'm going to preference this by saying something

         21  else, for the past four years I have sat in the

         22  Brooklyn Domestic Violence Court.  And there is a

         23  substantial minority, even though Domestic Violence

         24  is different now because success in that Court is

         25  not measured by who I keep out of jail, because
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          2  obviously, you know, it's due process to the

          3  defendant and victim's safety and the preservation

          4  of societal piece are all part of that puzzle.  But

          5  a substantial minority of cases, about 15 to 20

          6  percent, I placed in different programs, and I could

          7  probably get you the numbers.  But I would say that

          8  we have had a great deal of success both in MICA

          9  programs, you know, people with both, dual diagnosis

         10  with mental illness and substance abuse problems,

         11  with drug and alcohol programs.  So I think we have

         12  had really a good deal of success in that.

         13                 The Mental Health Court now, at this

         14  point in time, I think we only have about 16 cases

         15  that I'm handling, and about 8 or 9 of those are

         16  monitoring people in programs already, and the

         17  balance are working through the system now, they're

         18  in the process of being evaluated and assessed.

         19                 I mean the Court System has committed

         20  two and a half, basically, case managers, an MSW as

         21  a clinical director, and a psychiatrist who is on

         22  staff on Tuesday mornings to do the evaluation and

         23  assessment, come up with a treatment plan, present

         24  it to the defense attorney, who presents it, you

         25  know, who discusses it with the defendant.  And if
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          2  the treatment plan is acceptable to the defendant

          3  and Counsel, then at that point in time we reach a

          4  contract where the defendant will agree to go into

          5  treatment and to succeed in treatment.  And I will

          6  agree that if he does succeed in treatment, the case

          7  will be dismissed.

          8                 So, you know, the problem is it is

          9  coercive in the sense that the defendant agrees to a

         10  jail term.  So what we're trying to do is take the

         11  best of the Domestic Violence model, the Drug Court

         12  model, the Family Treatment Model, the Community

         13  Court model, put them together, because obviously

         14  when you're dealing with people with Axis I

         15  diagnosis, I mean, schizophrenia or bipolar disease

         16  or major depression, it is a complicated issue.  So

         17  it's too soon, I think, to see, to tell you, you

         18  know, anything negative or positive about it.  But

         19  we're certainly very hopeful, and you know, there

         20  are examples of this around the country, I think

         21  there are about 10 other Mental Health Courts in

         22  different states, none of them felony courts.  This

         23  is a felony court, but we feel that it is, I feel

         24  very lucky to be the Judge that was picked to

         25  preside over this Court, because I think it has a
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          2  great deal of potential to do a lot of good.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You are

          4  cumulating those statistics?

          5                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That you are

          7  doing.

          8                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Yes.  Well actually,

          9  another thing, the Center of Court Intervention had

         10  for the Domestic Violence Court provided computer

         11  technology.  And it has been enhanced now for the

         12  Mental Health Court, and I'm not the one that knows

         13  about this, but the computer, every time somebody

         14  goes into the computer, statistics are generated as

         15  to, because success is going to be measured in a lot

         16  of different ways.  I mean the number of days you

         17  keep somebody out of prison and in a program, even

         18  if eventually or finally he doesn't succeed, there

         19  is a certain savings to that, a certain benefit to

         20  that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Absolutely.

         22                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  So I was, as a matter

         23  of fact, last Friday at NYU at Dr. Landsberg

         24  Seminar, and we had statistics on Drug Court, on

         25  Domestic Violence, Anger Management Programs, from a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  member, from Mike Ramberg  (phonetic) from the

          3  Center of Court Intervention, and he was discussing

          4  the Mental Health Court as well, and the different

          5  measures of success.  And that is what they're

          6  doing, and hopefully, you know in six months to a

          7  year, those statistics will be available in written

          8  form.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I thank you.

         10  Members of the Committee, please?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         12  very much, it sounds very exciting.  I have two

         13  quick questions, I have a lot of experience because

         14  I have a son with everything you just described

         15  plus.  But he did, in fact, go to jail after some

         16  time and did not have these kinds of opportunity

         17  that you just suggested, and he is now at the STARE

         18  program at Manhattan Psychiatric.  So I'm very

         19  familiar with your population.

         20                 My question is, if in fact somebody

         21  has dual diagnosis, as you described, drug,

         22  substance abuse and other kinds of mental illness,

         23  are there drug treatment programs that are

         24  accessible and somewhat easy the find?  Because I

         25  think that is a challenge.
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          2                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Yes, when you say easy

          3  to find, I think that is a difficult, I mean there

          4  are, and we have had success.  But the difficulty, I

          5  had a case today where they're telling me it's two

          6  to three months to find a bed.  The person is 14th

          7  on the waiting list, I forget which program it is, I

          8  think it was Services for the Under- served, but

          9  14th on the waiting list two to three months, but it

         10  was actually the TADD program, the Ken Linn's

         11  program that was trying to find a bed.  And they

         12  said, look, we will advance the kid, we put it off

         13  for three weeks, not for three months, because I

         14  want to keep, you know, we want to keep control over

         15  it and find out how we're moving up on the waiting

         16  list.  But they're still looking for other programs,

         17  and you know, scurrying kind to find them, because

         18  you know sometimes somebody is only facing, I mean,

         19  the District Attorney's Office may offer six months

         20  in jail and five years probation.  If somebody has

         21  to wait three months for a bed, it may be better for

         22  them to take the plea, which is not better in the

         23  long- run, but better in terms if you were a defense

         24  attorney you might say, you might recommend that,

         25  you know.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  The other

          3  question I had, which may be best addressed to the

          4  Social Worker and the staff who was here at the

          5  previous hearing and who testified so expertly, is

          6  that do you have a database of all available

          7  programs?  Like do you feel that there is enough

          8  information available to, if there are beds

          9  available and programs available, you know what they

         10  are?

         11                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Yes, I do, because,

         12  you know, again, I have a, the Court System has

         13  provided me with a resource coordinator whose job

         14  kind of is to monitor all of that, plus we have the

         15  MSW who has a lot of experience in other areas.  I

         16  have the clinical director, I mean, I'm sorry, the

         17  psychiatrist, and plus again, we have TADD and TASC

         18  working on it.  So with all those resources

         19  together, I think we have a handle on every bed that

         20  is available in the State.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And then is

         22  there hope that Brooklyn will be, if Brooklyn is

         23  successful, which I'm sure it will be, then it would

         24  be expanded to other areas in the five boroughs in

         25  the State?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Well, a lot of time

          3  has been spent by the Project Director that, from

          4  the Center of Court Intervention, actually detailing

          5  procedures and policies, accreditations of sanctions

          6  for failure.  You see, in our Drug Court, for

          7  example, you might put somebody in jail if they test

          8  positive for a couple of days. You know in a Mental

          9  Health setting that is not always the best

         10  alternative.  So a lot of time has been spent trying

         11  to really put this down in writing so that it can be

         12  replicated.

         13                 You know my own feeling is that this

         14  cannot be driven by a single judge.  I mean if I

         15  were to leave tomorrow, I can only succeed if

         16  somebody else can step right in and take it over.

         17  So the idea is to have this kind of a court in all

         18  62 counties of the State.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         20  very much, Madam Chair.

         21                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then I want to go

         23  back to something that you indicated that sometimes

         24  the lawyers recommend to the client to plead guilty

         25  because there are no beds available, what beds are
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          2  you talking about that are not available?

          3                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Well what I'm saying

          4  is that, I mean, I remember this happening on one

          5  occasion, and like for example, the example today, I

          6  forget what the jail alternative is.  But oftentimes

          7  when a case first comes into the system, the

          8  District Attorney's Office will say, look, we will

          9  recommend one to three years in jail for a plea, I

         10  don't know, burglary or something like that.

         11  Sometimes the plea offer six months.  Now if

         12  somebody has to wait in jail two to three months for

         13  a bed in a drug program or a MICA program, I think

         14  we're really talking about the co- occurring

         15  disorders, the chemical abuse mental illness, which

         16  beds are limited, sometimes it takes a long time.

         17  And you know that presents a real ethical dilemma

         18  for a defense attorney who may feel that treatment

         19  is the best course for his client, and yet, he will

         20  have to wait in jail almost, he could almost be out

         21  of jail by the time he gets a bed.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  This is an

         23  outrage, then the beds to deal with the mental

         24  illness or the substance abuse is not available,

         25  therefore in order to deal with the problem because
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          2  it will take more time that the attorney is forced

          3  to plea guilty that person, because it will be a

          4  less amount of time, but the treatment never occur.

          5                 JUDGE D`EMIC:  That can happen.  I

          6  mean I wouldn't dwell on that, and they're all

          7  pleading guilty at some point in time.  I'm just

          8  saying that the length of time it takes to get a bed

          9  sometimes, could, depending on the nature of the

         10  plea arrangement, could outlast the time it takes to

         11  find a bed.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I hear you, it is

         13  fascinating for me how we don't think in those terms

         14  when we're dealing with somebody who is diabetic,

         15  for example.  If they have diabetes, they will make

         16  sure that they found the insulin for that person.

         17  But when we're dealing with a mentally ill person

         18  who needs treatment, the treatment becomes

         19  irrelevant, and the only thing that is relevant is

         20  to deal with the alleged violation of the law.  And

         21  it very well be that the violation of the law is

         22  real and it need to be taken care of, but where is

         23  the medical treatment in that component?

         24                 JUDGE D'EMIC: There is treatment,

         25  it's just, you know, like anything else,
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          2  Councilwoman, there is a policy consideration and

          3  it's just limited resources.  We start by trying to

          4  identify who the population is in the Brooklyn

          5  Supreme Court that may be amenable to this kind of a

          6  treatment, and you know, it's been a slow process.

          7  But I think it is, we're all trying.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do you have any

          9  agreement with any one of the particular psychiatric

         10  hospitals in the area of Brooklyn that can provide

         11  extra beds?

         12                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  No.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Nothing.

         14                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  No.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do you have any

         16  negotiations, any conversation, any communication

         17  with the Commissioner of Mental Health to try to

         18  create a resolution to this problem in order to open

         19  more beds somewhere?

         20                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Yes.  Well the, I mean

         21  that is not really my job, we have a Project

         22  Director that does that.  But our clinical director

         23  and project director have really been in close

         24  communication with the Department of Mental Health

         25  in the City and the Office of Mental Health in the
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          2  State to try, you know, an solve this problem, or

          3  try at least alleviate it.  I don't think we could

          4  ever talk about solving it, but to alleviate the

          5  need a little bit. And, you know, it's a difficult,

          6  especially this year, it's a very difficult process.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  From those 16

          8  people that you talk about, how many of them have

          9  Medicaid when they got to you?

         10                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  I don't know.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You don't know

         12  that.

         13                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  I could find out for

         14  you, but I don't know.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  When they got to

         16  you that they were in treatment?

         17                 JUDGE D`EMIC:  Yes, about, not all of

         18  them, but about eight or nine were in treatment.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  In treatment?

         20                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  With what kind of

         22  program?

         23                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Well we use a variety

         24  of different programs.  I mean, Project Return,

         25  Project Renewal, Promesa, there are a number of
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          2  projects.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then there is

          4  possibility that they have Medicaid, but not

          5  necessarily.

          6                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Yes, I don't know, but

          7  I mean there are, people are going to testify that

          8  could probably answer that question for you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I'm not pressing

         10  you.

         11                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  But I could get the

         12  information for you, I just have to talk to my

         13  resource coordinator.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Let me say this,

         15  I'm not pressing you, it is that I asked you the

         16  question in case that you know that you can tell me.

         17                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  Yes, that is okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You know, I'm

         19  greedy that way, I like to get information in my

         20  head.

         21                 JUDGE D`EMIC:  Well that is good.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, I don't

         23  have no further questions for this witness.  I thank

         24  you very much.

         25                 JUDGE D'EMIC:  I thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  At this moment

          3  we're going to stop to do some in- house business.

          4  We're going to take a vote on the resolution that is

          5  in front of you, today.  And I would like to do that

          6  because some of the members of the Committee may

          7  have to go.  I would like to proceed with that right

          8  now, and if the Counsel will help me on the

          9  resolution in question, I would be more

         10  appreciative.

         11                 MS. BOLANOS:  I'm just going to read

         12  the caption on the resolution.  This is Resolution

         13  284, calling upon the New York State Legislature to

         14  enact the Assembly Bill 8844- A and it's companion

         15  Senate Bill S.1212- A, which would amend and expand

         16  the Social Service Law to include mentally ill

         17  persons who are discharged without health insurance

         18  from psychiatric inpatient care at a State Mental

         19  Hospital or a prison operated by the State County or

         20  City of New York so that such persons shall be

         21  presumed eligible for Medicaid coverage from the

         22  date of their discharge.  And so that the mentally

         23  ill prison inmates can more easily and effectively

         24  receive all the benefits of an adequate discharge

         25  plan, as mandated in the case of Brad H. V. The City
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          2  of New York, immediately upon their release.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Roll call.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Lopez.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, and I would

          6  like to make an explanation of this bill.  It is

          7  critical that people who suffer from mental illness

          8  get access to the resources that will allow them to

          9  seek help when they choose to do so.  If they choose

         10  to do that, and then they don't have the medical

         11  coverage that they need to accomplish their

         12  objective, we, as a society, are really condemning

         13  the mentally ill never to have peace, and never to

         14  have the fair treatment that every human being

         15  should have in our society.  In base of that, I am

         16  extremely supportive of these two bills and I vote

         17  yes.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Brewer.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes, I'm

         20  supportive.  I want to make one comment, it's my

         21  experience over the last 15 years with these systems

         22  that young people, particularly who are mentally

         23  ill, who have substance abuse, and who are coming

         24  out of the State system, and I have a son who is

         25  particularly challenged, that when he came out he
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          2  did have health insurance and there was a treatment

          3  plan.  However, I know that that is not true across

          4  the board.  But I just want to let you know coming

          5  out of the jail system on the City of New York,

          6  where I also have experience, that is absolutely not

          7  true.  I vote aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Diaz.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Madam Chair,

         10  could I explain my vote?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, absolutely,

         12  Sir.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DIAZ:  Thank you.  I

         14  have to congratulate you because this is an

         15  injustice that has been done to people that really

         16  need it, and you look up to it and you are present

         17  for this.  Your leadership, your dedication is

         18  commendable. So I congratulate you, and I am very

         19  honored and very happy to join you in this

         20  resolution, and I vote yes.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTIN- DILAN:  Madam

         23  Chair, may I have a brief moment to explain my vote?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Absolutely.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTIN- DILAN:  Just
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          2  before I vote I would like to just express to the

          3  State and the City that we have to do a lot more to

          4  help this community.  And Madam Chair, you have been

          5  the hero to the disabled, and I congratulate you and

          6  keep up the good work.  On that note, I vote yes.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Foster.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gennaro.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  I vote yes,

         11  and I wish to also congratulate you, Madam Chair, on

         12  all your great work that you have done.  I'm proud

         13  to vote yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you, Sir.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of six in

         16  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         17  abstentions, the item is adopted. Please sign the

         18  Committee report.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Council Member

         20  Lew Fidler, I'm sorry, would you like to make a

         21  comment?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  It's hard for

         23  me to resist, Madam Chair, thank you.  You have

         24  brought particularly in the process of the budget

         25  negotiation, the issue of the mentally disabled
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          2  community, I think, to the forefront and have made

          3  clear things that had been made unclear to many of

          4  us, what is going on in this City in terms of the

          5  lack of discharge planning is cruel. And although

          6  I'm not a member of this Committee, I came up here

          7  to lend my support to you and to this resolution,

          8  and I am sure that when it comes to the floor of the

          9  Council, hopefully, it will be unanimous yes, and I

         10  know I will be voting yes, and thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  I

         12  guess that I would like to know what was the vote on

         13  this resolution at this point?

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The vote stands at

         15  six in the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         16  abstentions.  The item is adopted.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The resolution

         18  passed.  Yes?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTIN- DILAN:  Madam

         20  Chair, at this point I would like to add my name as

         21  a co- sponsor to this resolution.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Absolutely, you

         23  don't even have to ask about it.  I just want, some

         24  of the members may have to go on the Council, and

         25  the hearing will continue, but I want to make clear
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          2  before any of the members leave, that the members of

          3  the Administration that were invited here today was

          4  Dr. Ben Chu, President of the Health and Hospital

          5  Corporation; Dr. Thomas Frieden, Commissioner of the

          6  Department of Health; The City of New York

          7  Corporation Council, Michael Cordozer; and

          8  Commissioner Raymond W. Kelly from the Police

          9  Department; Commissioner William Fraser from the

         10  Department of Correction; Roger Parris, Assistant

         11  Commissioner, Health Substance Abuse Forensic

         12  Services of the Department of Correction; Honorable

         13  James F. Brennan, New York State Assembly; Brescia,

         14  he couldn't be here.  But the people that I

         15  mentioned before that are part of the Administration

         16  are on notice today that in the next meeting that I

         17  call I will issue a subpoena for each and every one

         18  of them if they refuse to come to a hearing here in

         19  the next time that we're going to have our meetings.

         20    Just for the members to be aware of that.  Thank

         21  you.

         22                 We will proceed now with the next

         23  witness.

         24                 MS. BOLANOS:  Our next witness is Dr.

         25  Gerald Landsberg.  Please raise your right hand?  Do
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          2  you swear that the testimony you're about to provide

          3  before this Committee is the whole truth and to the

          4  best of your knowledge?

          5                 DR. LANDSBERG:  I do.

          6                 MS. BOLANOS:  Thank you, please state

          7  your name and organization, for the record?

          8                 DR. LANDSBERG:  I'm Dr. Gerald

          9  Landsberg.  I'm from New York University School of

         10  Social Work where I direct the Institute Against

         11  Violence, and have a contract with the New York City

         12  Community Trust on a Forensic Health Planning and

         13  Advocacy Project.

         14                 What I want to do today is actually

         15  talk about two different things.  First, summarize a

         16  report we did looking at the pathways of the

         17  mentally ill into the criminal justice system, was

         18  done under a SAMHSA Grant, the research was done in

         19  1999 over eight months and the results were

         20  published in the Spring of 2000 and distributed to

         21  City, non- City agencies, advocates, et cetera.  In

         22  course of that review we actually met with police

         23  officers, commanders, with mobile crisis teams,

         24  emergency rooms, City department officials.  And

         25  based upon that we issued a series of nine
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          2  recommendations.

          3                 One was for the police in mental

          4  health to reexamine and look at the model of crisis

          5  intervention that occurred.

          6                 The second was, in fact, for

          7  expanding the possibility of CPEPs, Comprehensive

          8  Psychiatric Emergency Programs, because they were

          9  identified as a more effective way of reaching out

         10  and dealing with this population.

         11                 The third was to really seriously

         12  examine the role of the mobile crisis teams that are

         13  funded by the Department of Mental Health and their

         14  ability to deal with this.

         15                 The fourth is the need to, in fact,

         16  develop more resources for, in fact, MICA- related

         17  individuals going into the criminal justice system

         18                 The fifth had to do with housing and

         19  residential care, and the need to, in fact, expand

         20  that.

         21                 The sixth had to do with training,

         22  and the need to reexamine both Police training and

         23  training for mental health and substance abuse

         24  agencies.

         25                 Another recommendation had to do with
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          2  the need to develop a management information

          3  tracking system so agencies across jurisdictions

          4  could talk to each other and keep track of these

          5  clients that tend to fall between the systems.

          6                 From the work that we did in that

          7  project, we were able to get the New York City

          8  Community Trust to fund NYU both the School of

          9  Social Work and the School, the Wagner School

         10  through the Center of Excellence of New York City

         11  Governance.  To do a two- year project by which we

         12  were to look at the forensic mental health system in

         13  New York, and to come up with a series of

         14  recommendations.  That project is aimed at trying to

         15  identify issues and concerns, both for adults,

         16  children or adolescents and victims.

         17                 Now I'm not going to talk today about

         18  the juveniles and victims, that deserves separate

         19  hearings on their own because they're such

         20  complicated issues.  For example, we identified,

         21  with respect to juveniles, there were 12 separate

         22  different agencies. But through that process we have

         23  involved City agencies, voluntary agencies, the

         24  Alliance for the Mentally Ill, to begin to discuss

         25  very key areas and issues.  And there are three
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          2  major task forces that we have.

          3                 One is one on emergency services, one

          4  is on diversion programs, and the third one is, in

          5  fact, on community mental health and substance abuse

          6  services, what is needed.

          7                 Now one of the things we have already

          8  developed, and it is in your packet, we have packets

          9  of materials, but I'm going to ask Henrietta.

         10                 In looking at this complex issues

         11  what we were able to do, is identify six different

         12  possible points of intervention with respect to the

         13  mentally ill in the criminal justice system. And the

         14  six points of intervention, and this is very

         15  important because there tends to be, in looking at

         16  this issue, a great deal of trying to come up with

         17  single source answers, and it is not to do that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Let me interrupt

         19  you for a moment.  I'm almost blind, you need to

         20  bring that closer.  Okay, this is very helpful.  Do

         21  you have anymore of this?

         22                 DR. LANDSBERG:  Yes, we have separate

         23  handouts for people.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I'm sorry.

         25                 DR. LANDSBERG:  Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I got it.

          3                 DR. LANDSBERG:  Okay.  There are six

          4  different points of intervention.

          5                 One point is what we call

          6  preventative, where the mental health substance

          7  abuse agencies could in fact identify people who are

          8  at risk, who have previous experiences with criminal

          9  justice agencies, and in fact, can intervene to help

         10  keep them out of the criminal justice system.

         11                 The second intervention point is pre-

         12  booking, the police, mentally ill person on the

         13  street kind of intervention.

         14                 The third piece is post- booking, you

         15  have heard Judge D'Emic talk about the role of the

         16  Court, but there are multiple different strategies

         17  with respect to Court- related services.

         18                 The fourth piece is the role of

         19  probation.  It I very interesting, just an aside,

         20  one of the key departments in City Criminal Justice

         21  is probation, but probation serves something like

         22  80,000 individuals, of which 10 to 15 thousand may

         23  be mentally ill, but they have never been brought

         24  into the discussions about MICA individuals in the

         25  criminal justice system until we brought them to the
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          2  table.

          3                 The fifth point of intervention is

          4  incarceration. Riker's, or you know, prison, and the

          5  need especially there around discharge planning as

          6  well as good service inside.

          7                 And the last point has to do with

          8  post- incarceration in follow- up.  In the need

          9  especially for housing services.  There is a huge

         10  link between people recidivism, recidivizing, and in

         11  fact, not getting housing services.

         12                 Now what we have been doing, is in

         13  fact, these task forces have been meeting coming up

         14  with recommendations in the course of the summer we

         15  will be putting them together, issuing a drafting

         16  report in September for discussion, and we would

         17  welcome public input on those draft reports.  And

         18  hopefully, we will come up with a final report in

         19  December, and then spend the last six months of the

         20  project going back to public forums to try and get,

         21  you know, consensus on building, you know, a

         22  movement to in fact change the system.

         23                 One of the big things that we have

         24  come up across is, and you have heard presented in

         25  previous hearings today, model programs.  The issue
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          2  is not that there aren't good model programs, but

          3  what is the overall capacity of these model programs

          4  versus the need.  The needs for the number of

          5  individuals who are mentally ill involved in the

          6  criminal justice system in New York are staggering.

          7  Despite the model programs, and they are to be

          8  applauded, the fact is the capacity to serve this

          9  population is so small that in fact it is a

         10  continuing revolving door, and in fact, we really

         11  need to address that issue.  So you have a model

         12  program, but how are we going to replicate it and

         13  where are we going to put it in place, and what are

         14  we going to do, and I think that is a very important

         15  kind of theme.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  How

         17  many, roughly, you don't have to be precise, is the

         18  number of these particular individuals who need our

         19  help, who are not being help at this moment and are

         20  constantly going in and out, in and out?

         21                 DR. LANDSBERG:  According to our

         22  data, another chart, okay?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you.

         24                 DR. LANDSBERG:  And this falls in

         25  with what you do, there are roughly, the numbers in
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          2  New York City, what 115,000 have passed through

          3  Riker's Island, but 15,000 we estimate needs

          4  services.

          5                 You reported that is only 600 some

          6  odds got discharged planning.  And then we have the

          7  numbers that go up to State hospitals, and the big

          8  issue is where they discharge to and, you know, who

          9  is picking up the services.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And what we're

         11  talking about right now, to the best of your

         12  knowledge, is at least 15,000 people with mental

         13  illness are released from jail to New York City each

         14  year?

         15                 DR. LANDSBERG:  From Riker's Island.

         16  That is based on the data that we got from the New

         17  York City Department of Mental Health.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  From the City?

         19                 DR. LANDSBERG:  From the City,

         20  itself.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That doesn't

         22  include nothing else?

         23                 DR. LANDSBERG:  No.  The State is

         24  probably is another thousand, prisons are another

         25  thousand.  So it's a total of probably 16,000.  And
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          2  I would say, now you have got to remember that a

          3  very high percentage of those people wind up being

          4  homeless again, because of the lack of housing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And the lack of

          6  services.

          7                 DR. LANDSBERG:  And the lack of

          8  services, yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And follow- up.

         10                 DR. LANDSBERG:  Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And psychiatric

         12  care.

         13                 DR. LANDSBERG: Right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And medications.

         15                 DR. LANDSBERG:  And medications.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And jobs.

         17                 DR. LANDSBERG:  Absolutely.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And jobs.

         19                 DR. LANDSBERG:  Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Any Council

         21  member?  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And in that

         23  16,000, are those 16,000 the State separate

         24  individuals, or are those 16,000 discharges?

         25                 DR. LANDSBERG:  It's been, no, it's
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          2  16,000 discharges.  But you have got to remember

          3  there is another factor here, that the average

          4  mentally ill individual who winds up in Riker's

          5  spends considerably more time than a non- mentally

          6  ill person.  So in fact, the non- mentally ill

          7  person who goes to Riker's, based upon, has an

          8  average of around 40 days.  With their best

          9  estimates for a mentally ill person is 240 days.  So

         10  that many of those are almost there for six months.

         11  So the exact number, again, part of the problem is

         12  there is no adequate, you know, management

         13  information system to keep of these individuals, you

         14  know, that go in and out of the system.  There is

         15  data, obviously, that is kept by the criminal

         16  justice system, but that data is not readily

         17  translated into, you know, data that is available to

         18  mental health providers.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So then

         20  you're not able to look at that 16,000 figure and

         21  say it's 12,000 individuals.

         22                 DR. LANDSBERG:  No, I would estimate

         23  that it is at least 10 to 12 thousand, I'm just

         24  guessing, but I would not be able to say with

         25  precision.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I mean the

          3  logic of it is that if there were adequate discharge

          4  planning services, you would know right away if the

          5  recidivist rate was going to be cut, you know, what

          6  the savings, you know, to pay for it, you know,

          7  would be.  If I know that there is 16,000 discharges

          8  and by properly planning, you know, maybe two-

          9  thirds of those people will not come back.  But I

         10  know I have saved 4,000 periods of 240 days of

         11  incarceration in Riker's together with all the

         12  concomitant costs of the DA and the Court system,

         13  and maybe that might make some sense to people as we

         14  try and budget for a proper discharge planning

         15  initiatives to point out that it pays for itself.

         16                 DR. LANDSBERG:  Yes, I think the

         17  issue, there has been a few studies about the

         18  diversion costs and we heard some last week in the

         19  conference we did.  And the issue, and sometimes

         20  diversion may not "save" lots of money, but the

         21  issue is, are people better off in the community

         22  than in, you know, jails and prisons.  And because

         23  the quality of life for both the community and

         24  individuals seems very clear to be much higher when

         25  they're able to stay in the community.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Without

          3  question, but you know the push/pull in our world

          4  today, unfortunately, is what does it cost to do it?

          5    And my point is if we could identify the amount of

          6  recidivism within that figure, it might help justify

          7  to those who need to see dollars and cents why this

          8  makes sense from that point of view as well.

          9                 DR. LANDSBERG:  Now there may, one of

         10  the things as part of the jail diversion study we

         11  did with SAMHSA, the Research Triangle Institute

         12  looked at a "cost" benefit analysis.  We don't have

         13  that data yet.  That data may be very useful once it

         14  comes in, but we do not have that data yet.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Council Member

         16  Brewer.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         18  very much.  My question is this, you look at all

         19  people coming out of Riker's and out of the State

         20  system, is that correct?  And is there a difference

         21  in terms of discharge planning?  Obviously, those

         22  who go upstate have more time, oops, for discharge

         23  planning than those --

         24                 DR. LANDSBERG:  The general consensus

         25  from our discussions appears to be that the State
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          2  prisons have begun to do a much better job in terms

          3  of arranging for discharge planning.  It is not

          4  perfect, but considering where it was, you know,

          5  two, three years ago, it is much better, much more

          6  systematic, and Riker's from everybody's reports is

          7  a continuation of major problems.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  That is

          9  certainly my experience.

         10                 The second question is, when people

         11  come out even on the State level, they're obviously

         12  assigned an officer to work with them during, to the

         13  extent of their, until they're finally discharged.

         14  And it's also my experience that that is something

         15  to look at, because that officer only has that

         16  person for a certain period of time, they have

         17  smaller caseloads, from my experience. However, I

         18  often wished that there was an after- care after the

         19  officer.  Because even though a person may seem to

         20  be passing the urine tests and you know meeting on a

         21  regular basis, I will promise you as a family

         22  member, it just never ends and the recidivism starts

         23  the day that parole officer term ends.

         24                 DR. LANDSBERG:  One of the issues

         25  that we have identified, and we brought New York
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          2  State Parole into discussion, is what are the, what

          3  needs to occur on a continuing basis between parole

          4  and the mental health substance abuse system, to in

          5  fact, address the issue you're raising.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, so

          7  you're looking at that?

          8                 DR. LANDSBERG:  Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Any other member

         12  have a question?  Don't leave, it is that I don't

         13  like to take the question for myself only, and leave

         14  everybody else to take.  I would like Council Member

         15  Felder to introduce himself, please.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Hi, I'm

         17  Council Member Felder.  I don't want to have the

         18  chutzpa to ask questions, since I wasn't here, and I

         19  don't want to repeat anything, but I just want to

         20  commend the Chair for holding this hearing, and tell

         21  you as well as everyone else here, how strongly I

         22  feel about this issue, because it affects all

         23  communities and everyone in the City.  And I think

         24  just to have people going out without having the

         25  care that they deserve is really a sin.  So I thank
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          2  you for coming today.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can you clarify

          4  for me, if by any chance, you know a comparison

          5  between the amount of dollars that will spend in a

          6  person who suffer from mental illness and is outside

          7  in the community, compared to a person that is

          8  incarcerated who suffers from mental illness, who

          9  doesn't need to be there, but need to be medicated

         10  and treatment and whatever?

         11                 DR. LANDSBERG:  The one, we don't

         12  have any data yet from New York, okay.  There was

         13  some information reported from Connecticut, and it

         14  looked like actually there was almost comparable,

         15  which was about, well, and I don't know, the cost in

         16  Connecticut may be different than the cost in New

         17  York.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well like they

         19  have more money than we do, actually.

         20                 DR. LANDSBERG:  But it appeared to be

         21  about the same, the report.  But the difference was

         22  that the dollars went to community care to

         23  residential versus going to the prison and to the

         24  District Attorney, et cetera.  So it was where the

         25  money was spent ultimately then necessarily overall
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          2  costs.

          3                 I think what we're going to

          4  hopefully, when we get this data that the Research

          5  Triangle Institute is compiling, we will be able to

          6  better, you know, look at that question.  Because

          7  they were comparing the costs of somebody

          8  incarcerated versus someone in the community.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you.

         10  Any other questions from any of the members?  No.

         11  Thank you very much for coming today.

         12                 DR. LANDSBERG:  You're welcome.

         13                 MS. BOLANOS:  Our next witness is

         14  Amanda Masters.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Madam Chair,

         16  I just want to say that material from the last

         17  speaker is terrific.  And I want to say thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You know I just

         20  was thinking about that, and I didn't want you to

         21  let you go without thanking you again.  This

         22  information is very useful for me and for the

         23  members of the City Council.

         24                 DR. LANDSBERG:  I just want to say I

         25  have spent 20 years, including four in the New York
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          2  City Department of Mental Health as an Assistant

          3  Commissioner, thinking and worrying about the issue

          4  of the mentally ill through the criminal justice

          5  system. And I think these hearings, and you to be

          6  congratulated, in terms of bringing such focused

          7  attention to that, because I think this is very much

          8  what it needs to have.  I think because it tends, it

          9  has tended to be a lost issue for many populations.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well I promise

         12  you, for the remaining time I'm going to be here,

         13  this issue is not going to be lost at all.  It is

         14  going to be in your face, Mr. Mayor, in your face.

         15  Thank you.

         16                 MS. BOLANOS:  Our next witness can

         17  come forward now. Please raise your right hand?  Do

         18  you swear that the testimony you're about to give

         19  before this Committee is the whole truth and to the

         20  best of your knowledge?

         21                 MS. MASTERS:  Yes.

         22                 MS. BOLANOS:  Make sure that you

         23  press the button so that the light is off, and state

         24  your name and organization, for the record.  Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 MS. MASTERS:  Amanda Masters, New

          3  York Lawyers for the Public Interest.  I'm first

          4  going to read the testimony of Doris Busch Boskey,

          5  who could not be here today.  And I have some brief

          6  testimony of my own.  In the interest of time, I'm

          7  going to try and abbreviate Ms. Busch Boskey's

          8  testimony a bit.

          9                  "I am sorry I cannot be here today,

         10  I testified before the City Council on December

         11  14th, 1999, shortly after my son, Gary Busch, also

         12  known by his Hebrew name, Gidone, was shot and

         13  killed by police in Borough Park on August 30th.  He

         14  was 31 years- old and had moved there only eight

         15  months earlier after completing computer courses

         16  with a 3.9 average at Briarcliff College in December

         17  of 1998.  He started to do web designs as well as

         18  scripting and programming, and had met someone he

         19  wanted to marrying.  He finished a book of poetry

         20  about five and a half weeks before he was killed and

         21  he was looking for job.  He was warm, intelligent,

         22  creative and very religious and was loved by many

         23  people, who are as devastated as we are by his loss.

         24    He was always there to help others, even to share

         25  his food with the homeless.  On that day August

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  30th, 1999, someone he had met and fed once the week

          3  before came to visit.

          4                 One hour before the shooting, police

          5  were called to his apartment because of a

          6  disturbance.  He tried to shake their hands in

          7  peace, but they refused and used obscene language.

          8  The volunteer patrol had called an ambulance

          9  thinking he needed help, the police canceled it.

         10  Six officers, including two Sergeants were there.

         11  The officers were angry and annoyed when they left.

         12                 Within an hour, more than six

         13  officers returned in response to another call.  At

         14  least some of these officers, one a Sergeant, had

         15  been there on the earlier call.  At this time, Gary

         16  was inside his one- room basement apartment praying

         17  as usual, and holding a small religiously inscribed

         18  hammer.

         19                 Instead of waiting, the Sergeant who

         20  had been there earlier and other officers, dragged

         21  Gary's visitor up the steps by force and handcuffed

         22  him.  The visitor had explained that the small

         23  hammer that Gary was holding was just a religious

         24  object.  Gary was called out of his apartment and as

         25  he stood at the bottom of the stairwell in front of
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          2  his doorway, an officer leaned over the railing and

          3  sprayed him directly in the eyes and face with

          4  pepper spray.  He screamed out in pain and anguish,

          5  unable to see or breathe.  The officers including

          6  the Sergeant were on the steps and above him, still

          7  holding a small hammer he tried to get away, and

          8  found his way up the steps getting well past the

          9  officers.  If there was any contact with the

         10  Sergeant on those steps it was surely inadvertent.

         11  This Sergeant had slight abrasions on one arm, or a

         12  slight abrasion which could have come from the brick

         13  walls.

         14                 Gary's body had multiple bruises.

         15  The Sergeant, who had been there earlier, on the

         16  earlier call, had 12 Civilian Review Board

         17  Complaints against him, two had been substantiated

         18  as excessive force.

         19                 As Gary stood in pain across the

         20  driveway close to the wall of an adjacent building,

         21  the officers, including the Sergeant, drew their

         22  guns and formed an arch around him.  Crouched down

         23  in firing position, one of the officers fired a

         24  shot, and that shot was followed by a lot of shots,

         25  the other officers fired reflexively and he was hit
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          2  12 times.

          3                 Within minutes the coverup began.  In

          4  order to justify the shooting, police and City

          5  officials released the false story that he was shot

          6  while attacking a Sergeant in spite of numerous

          7  outraged eyewitness accounts to the contrary.  They

          8  tried to portray him as violent and deranged

          9  equating emotional problems with violence in order

         10  to influence public opinion.  This is an unfortunate

         11  misconception and creates a stigma, especially for

         12  the victims of these abuses."

         13                 She goes on to say," We need better

         14  screening and training of all police officers, no

         15  matter what their rank, so that they can handle

         16  situations like this.  We need more available and

         17  faster responding ESU units, we need to implement a

         18  crisis intervention system in our City that can help

         19  in these situations, and deadly physical force

         20  should never be used in a situation like this."

         21                 She also goes on to say that she is

         22  pleading again with the City Council in her son

         23  Gary's name, and for all the others who have been

         24  abused or killed.  And it's time to stop the abuses

         25  and time for systemic change to start.
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          2                 She attaches to her testimony a poem

          3  that he wrote the year he was killed, as well as a

          4  letter from one of his college professors.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I want to thank

          6  you for bringing the message from this mother, that

          7  obviously, has to still be in pain.  And I want to

          8  thank her and all of the parents of the unfortunate

          9  people who have died under these circumstances, for

         10  helping me to continue doing my work and try to

         11  bring clarity into this issue to stop anybody else

         12  from being killed under these circumstances.  And I

         13  thank you and I thank her for that.

         14                 Okay, you can continue.

         15                 MS. MASTERS:  I have some brief

         16  testimony.  As I said before my name is Amanda

         17  Masters and I'm a staff attorney at NYLPI.  I'm

         18  going to first describe some other examples of

         19  people with mental illness who have been mistreated

         20  by the NYPD.  These examples will show the

         21  deficiencies in current NYPD policies.  Then I will

         22  briefly outline what the current NYPD policies are

         23  and why they must be changed.

         24                 In the interest of time, I will try

         25  and summarize my testimony, but I respectively
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          2  direct your attention to the written testimony where

          3  each issue is explored in full detail.  And though I

          4  may not be able to get to every detail orally, the

          5  Administration will have the full testimony, and of

          6  course, have access to the transcripts.

          7                 We're asking for changes in Police

          8  Policy and increased Police accountability.  NYPD

          9  tacit and explicit policies for interacting with

         10  people with mental illness result in needless

         11  injuries to civilians and to police officers.  The

         12  policies should change, and the NYPD should train

         13  officers to follow the better policies and then hold

         14  officers accountable for following the new policies

         15  and better protecting civil rights.

         16                 The first story I'm going to talk

         17  about is the story of Yancy Romero.  Yancy Romero is

         18  a young man with schizophrenia. On November 4th,

         19  1999, a member of his family called 911 for

         20  assistance regarding Yancy.  The Police arrived at

         21  the apartment and quickly resorted to the use of

         22  force.  An officer shot him in the face with a taser

         23  gun, a taser gun consists of two darts that enter

         24  your body and send a charge through your body.  The

         25  taser report indicates that two shots were fired
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          2  with the apparent excuse that Yancy continued to

          3  struggle after being shot in the face once. One of

          4  the shots lodged in Yancy's left eye, permanently

          5  harming him.

          6                 A good outcome could have resulted

          7  that day if the officers had simply talked to the

          8  family first and learned that Yancy could have been

          9  talked to rather than tackled.  He was at home with

         10  his family and wearing just light bedclothing.  And

         11  the taser gun should have never been used in this

         12  instance, but force wasn't even really necessary

         13  here.

         14                 The second story I'm going to refer

         15  to as John Doe #1.  John Does #1 is a young man with

         16  schizophrenia who is not able to hear and able to

         17  sign in American Sign Language.  On June 23rd, 2001,

         18  shortly after his release from a hospital and his

         19  return to his mother's house, his family called the

         20  Police for assistance concerning John.

         21                 An ESU unit responded to his home,

         22  but did not consult with the family or the neighbors

         23  about John, regarding how to communicate with John.

         24  John went into his bedroom, the ESU officers then

         25  treated him like a barricaded perp.  They destroyed
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          2  the bedroom door to get in apparently with battering

          3  ram or some other device, and encountered a

          4  terrified John in his bedroom. John apparently waved

          5  his arms, and in response the officer shot him with

          6  rubber bullets knocking him to the ground and

          7  subduing him.  He arrived at the hospital with

          8  rubber bullets bruising on his back and the back of

          9  his arm, indicating he was possibly shot from

         10  behind.

         11                 A good outcome could have resulted

         12  that day if the officers had talked to the family

         13  and neighbors that day.  They would have learned

         14  that John likes police officers and it would have

         15  been feasible to communicate with him.

         16                 When I visited their apartment after

         17  the attack, his family showed me a pin that a police

         18  officer from a local precinct had given John once

         19  while communicating with John that he was a friend

         20  and it was safe to go to the hospital with him.

         21                 John's story also highlights the

         22  complete lack of uniformity in a system where

         23  families have to depend on random kindness from an

         24  occasional officer who may have the intuitive sense

         25  or personal experience that enables him to deal
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          2  effectively with a person like John.

          3                 The third story I'm going to refer to

          4  as John Doe #2.  John Doe #2 is a man with mental

          5  illness who is staying at the Fort Washington intake

          6  shelter.  A call was placed to 911 for assistance

          7  concerning John.  Immediately upon arrival at the

          8  shelter, John was knocked to the ground by the

          9  police officers. His tooth was cracked in the fall

         10  and an officer was also injured.

         11                 The shelter staff would have been

         12  able to tell the officers that John did not require

         13  that sort of treatment and that John could have been

         14  talked to.  The police did not consult with people

         15  who knew John.  Indeed, the officers at the scene

         16  charged John with unlawfully imprisoning the shelter

         17  worker.  The shelter worker denied being imprisoned

         18  and explained that she removed herself from the

         19  scene because that was the proper procedure.

         20                 Nonetheless, John was ultimately

         21  charged with assault on the police officer and

         22  resisting arrest.  And the District Attorney

         23  prosecuted the attempted assault charge.  The

         24  shelter worker testified that the police officer

         25  had, indeed, assaulted John, and that they knocked
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          2  him to the ground, and John did not try and injure

          3  anyone.

          4                 John was ultimately acquitted at

          5  trail.

          6                 In the meantime, John spent five

          7  months in detention at Riker's and another 7 months

          8  waiting for his trail.  This was a ridiculous waste

          9  of taxpayer money.  And a good outcome could have

         10  been had that day if the police had not resorted to

         11  force rather than trying to communicate with the

         12  EDP.

         13                 We can expect more out of the NYPD.

         14  Police officers are professionals and they deal with

         15  people with mental illness and people exhibiting

         16  irrational behavior every day on the job.

         17                 At the 1999 City Council hearing on

         18  this discrete topic, the NYPD reported that in 1998

         19  they 64,000 radio calls concerning EDPs, 25,000 of

         20  those calls were custody cases, and the ESU was

         21  involved in 1,900 of those cases, breaking down to

         22  about 195 calls a day.

         23                 In 1994 NYPD training materials used

         24  in the Social Science Department of the Police

         25  Academy stated that in July of 1986 there were
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          2  approximately 70 EDP calls per day. "Therefore, an

          3  officer can easily see the need to enhance his or

          4  her knowledge and ability in handling this

          5  population."  The police student guide training

          6  materials are attached as Exhibit 1 to the

          7  testimony.

          8                 If those figures are accurate the

          9  frequency of EDP calls has more than doubled between

         10  1986 and 1998, and they're very large numbers.

         11  Given those large numbers we can fairly expect the

         12  NYPD to have policies in place that protect the

         13  civil rights of people with mental illness.  And we

         14  can fairly expect the NYPD to be accountable in

         15  following those policies.

         16                 In my testimony I describe an

         17  opportunity the City Council has to conduct some

         18  oversight of the NYPD by requesting a litany of

         19  documents that exists, and I will not go through

         20  them, but I will refer you to the list in the

         21  testimony.

         22                 I want to briefly explain what the

         23  Patrol Guide Policy for dealing with people with

         24  mental illness is.  The portion of the Patrol Guide

         25  entitled Mentally Ill or Emotionally Disturbed
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          2  Persons is attached to the testimony as Exhibit 2.

          3                 The Zone of Safety is an NYPD policy

          4  that you hear a lot about.  The Zone of Safety

          5  Policy must be changed.  The Zone of Safety is

          6  described in the Patrol Guide as a minimum distance

          7  of 20 feet from the individual, that is supposed to

          8  vary depending on where the EDP is and what they

          9  might be holding.  And that distance should be

         10  maintained even if the EDP doesn't remain

         11  stationary. But in practice what we hear is that the

         12  EDP's failure to remain stationary doesn't lead to

         13  the police moving their position, but leads to a use

         14  of force, even deadly force if the EDP is perceived

         15  to be gesturing with the object that they're

         16  holding.

         17                 Tacit NYPD Policy allows police

         18  officers to resort to force in these situations.

         19  This policy was expressed by the NYPD in 1999 when

         20  they attended hearings here.  At the 1999 hearing,

         21  Sheldon Leffler posed a hypothetical question to

         22  Captain DeFillipo in which a man holding a stick

         23  with a piece of metal on it takes steps into the

         24  Zone of Safety.  Captain DeFillipo testified, "I

         25  would not have any problem using deadly force in
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          2  that instance."  And that is testimony at page 32,

          3  and we believe this policy is not working and should

          4  be change.

          5                 The Patrol Guide also distinguishes

          6  what officers are supposed to do with an EDP who

          7  poses an immediate threat as opposed to an EDP who

          8  does not constitute an immediate threat.  And if the

          9  EDP poses an immediate threat, deadly force may be

         10  used. This deadly force policy must be changed.  The

         11  police are not well trained and do not have the non-

         12  lethal weaponry they would need to use to avoid

         13  unnecessary use of excessive force and death under

         14  this policy.

         15                 If the EDP does not constitute an

         16  immediate threat of serious harm, then the police

         17  officers are to use the isolate and contain policy.

         18  This is also a policy that does not work and must be

         19  changed.

         20                 If the EDP does not pose immediate

         21  serious harm the officers are directed to isolate

         22  and contain them, maintaining the Zone of Safety.

         23  And what this means is that the officers encircle

         24  the person who is having problems and maintain a

         25  distance from them, performing a periphery around
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          2  them.  This is not effective because the isolate and

          3  contain policy leads to an escalation of tensions

          4  and frustration when the EDP does not respond

          5  rationally to orders, to drop it, or to maintain

          6  their position.

          7                 The policy of waiting ESU and a

          8  supervisor to arrive must be changed.  The policy as

          9  it stands right now, is that the police officers are

         10  to sort of maintain the holding pattern and wait for

         11  the ESU or the supervisors to arrive.  If the

         12  supervising officer on arrival is not able to move

         13  the situation beyond this holding pattern, the

         14  helpful hints in the Patrol Guide are to employ your

         15  protective shields, call in a hostage negotiation

         16  team, and perhaps call in a supervisor of the ESU

         17  Team.

         18                 What that means is you now have a

         19  person with mental illness decompensating surrounded

         20  by armed officers who are now raising shields that

         21  obscure their faces, and still not responding

         22  rationally to directions to drop it or to surrender

         23  himself.

         24                 A rational person might put his hand

         25  up and surrender in such a situation, but a paranoid
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          2  schizophrenic is not likely to.

          3                 Another policy that we go into in

          4  more detail with is the NYPD must move more toward a

          5  psychiatric model and away from a criminal model for

          6  dealing with these situations.

          7                 Copies of the Academy training

          8  material are also annexed to the testimony.  I will

          9  not go into them in detail, they're Exhibit 1.

         10  Except to say that what you see from these materials

         11  is directions to the new officer that time plus

         12  distance equals safety, which is not particularly

         13  helpful.  They give the definition of paranoid

         14  schizophrenia and the helpful hint that the officer

         15  ought to empathize.  But that really is not a

         16  substitute for having a person who is trained to

         17  deal with mental illness.  In other words, a social

         18  worker or a psychiatric emergency worker at the

         19  same.  The videos that go along with the Academy

         20  training include topics that have nothing to do with

         21  handling an EDP situation, like Homelessness in

         22  America, or a video tape of therapy sessions.

         23                 The portion of the video tape that

         24  deals with communicating with the mentally ill was

         25  timed at five and a half minutes.  Common sense
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          2  tells us that the policies that are in place right

          3  now are not working.  The portion of the video that

          4  describes the isolate and contain policy shows a

          5  diagram of officers surrounding the EDP in a circle

          6  and maintaining a 20- foot distance from him.

          7  Common sense tells us that armed men standing in a

          8  circle or otherwise forming a perimeter are likely

          9  to injure each other if they feel that they must

         10  fire their weapons.

         11                 We also believe that the NYPD must

         12  acquire the non lethal weaponry that is available on

         13  the market right now and teach the police officers

         14  how to use it.  There are devices on the market

         15  today and use in other cities that operate by firing

         16  a plastic like substance at the civilian that

         17  becomes a net and can immobilize the civilian

         18  without harming them.  There is no reason for the

         19  NYPD not to be using these devices.

         20                 And in conclusion, we would just urge

         21  the Council to consider the oversight

         22  recommendations.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I would like to

         24  ask you, I mean the information that you have given

         25  us is very useful.  But will you be amicable to
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          2  belong to an Advisory Committee to this Committee on

          3  this issue in particular to see if we can put

          4  together or issue a report at the end of day with

          5  specific recommendations of what are the changes

          6  that can be implemented in handling a person with

          7  mental illness when they're in crisis?  Yes?

          8                 MS. MASTERS:  Certainly, yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you, I

         10  appreciate that. I would like to call Council Member

         11  Felder.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you

         13  very much and thank you for your testimony.  I just

         14  wanted to address the testimony, some of which you

         15  read, from Doris Busch Boskey.  And before becoming

         16  a Council member I was Assemblyman Heiken's Chief of

         17  Staff for seven years and very familiar with this

         18  case.  And although she mentions in her testimony

         19  something to the effect that no one really cared,

         20  the Assemblyman and myself, as well as many other

         21  people in the community were very, very involved

         22  with this case, and it is probably the greatest

         23  tragedy that was experienced in the community in

         24  many, many years.

         25                 And the suggestion that you just made
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          2  in closing about having the equipment to be able to

          3  shoot something plastic with a net, clearly would

          4  have saved Mr. Busch's, Gidone Busch's life that

          5  day.  There is no question about that, because I

          6  spent hours talking to witnesses who were there,

          7  including people from the civilian patrol who were

          8  there on the scene, and if the police had that

          9  equipment on hand, I have no doubt that Gary would

         10  be alive today.

         11                 In addition, I just wanted to ask the

         12  Chair to follow- up.  I believe that at that time

         13  there was a commitment made by the Police Department

         14  to do some additional training to be able to help in

         15  situations such as this.  I don't know if that was

         16  ever done, and if it wasn't done, then clearly until

         17  many of the suggestions that you're making are

         18  implemented, I think that that would be very

         19  helpful, at least, in some way.

         20                 I saw the hammer that you referred to

         21  and that was referred to in the papers at the time

         22  as being the threat to the life of one of the

         23  policemen.  The hammer was this size, not larger, I

         24  saw the hammer in the District Attorney's Office,

         25  and I'm not in any way degrading the work that the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            87

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  Police Department does, and I don't think anyone

          3  here on the Committee feels that way, and I will not

          4  speak for anybody, but in a situation such as

          5  Busch's situation where people were obviously under

          6  a lot of stress, and I'm talking about the police

          7  officers, not the young man who had been maced, it's

          8  really, it's something that will forever live in my

          9  mind and be something I will never forget.  That

         10  this young man died for one reason, and it is not as

         11  though any of those officers woke up that morning

         12  and said that they decided that they would like to

         13  kill someone that day, but they clearly were not

         14  experienced and did not have the know- how to deal

         15  with a situation like that and something went very,

         16  very wrong.

         17                 So I want to, again, applaud the

         18  Chairwoman for holding this hearing, and I thank you

         19  for your testimony.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Just for the

         21  information of the public and the Council members,

         22  we are very seriously looking into this issue, and

         23  we have a meeting with Commissioner Kelly.

         24  Commissioner Kelly was extremely cooperative, and I

         25  have to say that communication between him and I,
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          2  during that meeting, was extremely helpful to me.

          3  And I believe that we're going to be able to move

          4  this forward.  That meeting with Commissioner Kelly

          5  happened this week.  And I brought to him this

          6  problem, one of the three issues that I want to

          7  handle with him.

          8                 I would like to move this issue

          9  forward in negotiations until we can not move it

         10  forward no more, and then I will go in my mode of,

         11  you have to do what I said.  But for now, we're

         12  moving into the mode of, let's see if we can

         13  negotiate this.

         14                 I cannot disclose more information in

         15  regard to that at this moment.  But I can tell you

         16  that I feel confident that Commissioner Kelly was

         17  very amicable to have a conversation about this

         18  issue and some suggestions that I put on the table.

         19  Then you're going to hear more about this, and we're

         20  going to have more hearings on this.

         21                 I want to ask you, the cases that you

         22  mentioned, what year those cases happened?

         23                 MS. MASTERS:  Yancy Romero was 1999,

         24  John Doe's is 2001, and John Does #2 is also 2001

         25  into 2002.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And the policies

          3  that you were talking about were implemented after

          4  these cases or before these cases?

          5                 MS. MASTERS:  I believe that, it is

          6  my understanding that there haven't been significant

          7  policy changes since shortly after the Bumper's case

          8  in the early eighties.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  And my

         10  last question, have you become familiarized with the

         11  problem that exists in CUNY, at John Jay College of

         12  a class that is given to the police officers to

         13  become more sensitive and sensitized about the

         14  issues that affect people of color and people with

         15  severe mental illness?

         16                 MS. MASTERS:  I'm aware of some

         17  classes that have gone on recently on the issues of

         18  cultural sensitivity, if that is what you're

         19  referring to.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.  Are you

         21  familiarized with that?

         22                 MS. MASTERS:  The content of the

         23  courses?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No?

         25                 MS. MASTERS:  No.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  It would

          3  be important for me to find more information on

          4  that, if you by any chance get information, I'm

          5  planning to visit the course myself, because I want

          6  to learn more about what it is they're teaching in

          7  there.  But it is one of the programs that are

          8  claimed to be in place in order to help the police

          9  officers to become more clear of how to deal with

         10  situations like this.

         11                 MS. MASTERS: There is one course at

         12  John Jay that the Police Department talks about

         13  because ESU officers attend it, to learn how to deal

         14  with EDP situations.  And at the last hearing,

         15  Captain DeFillipo testified about that training, and

         16  saying that it was offered to all people who were

         17  interested in promotions in the Department.

         18                 And in my testimony there is some

         19  contradictory --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That is

         21  interesting.

         22                 MS. MASTERS:  There is some

         23  contradictory information from Sergeant Wall of ESU

         24  No. 3, who recently testified in yet another case

         25  that is in Federal Court right now that there was no
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          2  requirement, that you actually take that course to

          3  become an ESU officer, and no requirement that you

          4  take that course in order to remain being an ESU

          5  officer.  So that many of the ESU officers have

          6  never taken courses in psychiatric tactics.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Or anything?

          8                 MS. MASTERS:  Well, I'm not sure, I'm

          9  not aware of whether the other course you mentioned

         10  is mandatory or an elective course.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you.

         12  Yes, Gale.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you.  I

         14  guess I just want to follow- up on Council Member

         15  Lopez.  So to the best of your knowledge there is an

         16  ongoing training, and obviously there is a little

         17  bit in the Academy, which you outlined, but the

         18  ongoing training is not completely clear, is that

         19  what you're saying?

         20                 MS. MASTERS:  Yes.  I mean I think we

         21  learned in bits and pieces about what some of the

         22  training is like that the officers receive at the

         23  Academy, and later on in tact training, when they're

         24  actually out on the street.  I don't think that the

         25  Department has ever been completely forthcoming.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            92

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  For instance they might share video tapes, but the

          3  video tapes will say, turn off the tape and give

          4  lecture #3, and we don't know what lecture #3 is

          5  about.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And do you

          7  know if there has ever been an advisory group or

          8  something along those lines on this issue to the

          9  Police Department, you know, so that your expertise,

         10  for instance, or those of your colleagues could be

         11  incorporated into some of the ongoing discussions of

         12  the Police Department?   I know in the past, for

         13  instance, when I worked in the Dinkins

         14  Administration, and there were many issues in terms

         15  of discrimination and people of color, there were

         16  task forces set up on that issue.  Mental health is

         17  also a tremendous concern, and I was just wondering

         18  to the best of your knowledge has there been any

         19  similar outreach effort to bring people into the

         20  Department?   Now maybe there has been within the

         21  Department of Mental Health, collaboration with the

         22  Police Department.  But from the best of your

         23  knowledge, I guess not with people like you or

         24  community- based organizations?

         25                 MS. MASTERS:  Actually I think that
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          2  there will be later testimony by the Urban Justice

          3  Center and possibly naming about a pilot project

          4  that was started, but then never fully realized that

          5  did involve some cooperation.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, thank

          7  you very much, Madam Chair.

          8                 MS. BOLANOS:  We're going to call

          9  witnesses in panels now at this point.  Our next

         10  panel, and please all three persons please come up,

         11  Anne Swern, Barbara Rochman, and Ray Brescia.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  At this point I

         13  would like to recognize the presence here of Council

         14  Member Yassky, would you like to introduce yourself,

         15  Sir?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you

         17  very much, Madam Chair, not just for recognizing me,

         18  but for holding this hearing on this very, very

         19  important topic, as I know everyone here knows, this

         20  is one of the most, I think, disputed items in this

         21  year's budget process, and the discharge planning

         22  part of it has been. And I think that you're helping

         23  to shed light on it, I really appreciate it.  Thank

         24  you.

         25                 And I'm particularly, while I have
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          2  the mic, I will just take this opportunity to

          3  welcome, not only my friend, Ray Brescia, but also

          4  my neighbor, Anne Swern, whose work in pioneering

          5  the Brooklyn Mental Health Court that she is going

          6  to tell you about, has been truly extraordinary, I

          7  think it is a model for, I hope it will serve as a

          8  model for the rest of the City and even the country.

          9    And I'm looking forward to hearing about it.

         10                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please, each of you

         11  raise your right hands?  I'm going to swear all of

         12  you in at one time.  Do you each, independently,

         13  swear that the testimony that you're about to

         14  provide before this Committee is the whole truth and

         15  to the best of each of your knowledge?

         16                 ALL:  Yes.

         17                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay, please state your

         18  name and organization before you begin your

         19  testimony, and we will start with Ms. Anne Swern.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 MS. SWERN:  Thank you.  Thank you,

         22  Madam Chair, Joe Hynes, District Attorney Hynes

         23  appreciates the invitation here today.  He is sorry

         24  he cannot be here, I am here instead, I am his

         25  Counsel.
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          2                 District Attorney Hynes has dedicated

          3  himself to reducing crime in Brooklyn and improving

          4  the quality of life for its residents.  In an effort

          5  to break the vicious of drug abusers committing

          6  crimes, doing prison time, re- offending upon their

          7  release from incarceration in order to support their

          8  drug addiction, DA Hynes has been in the forefront

          9  of instituting prosecutor- run drug treatment

         10  alternatives to prison.  His DTAP Program boasts a

         11  recidivism rate for graduates that is half the rate

         12  for comparable defendants who serve State prison

         13  time.  In the course of these pioneering efforts, DA

         14  Hynes came to the conclusion in 1998, that a certain

         15  population of drug abusers, namely those who had co-

         16  occurring disorders of serious, persistent mental

         17  illness and substance abuse, had complex needs that

         18  were not being met.  Since then, DA Hynes has

         19  striven to divert more and more mentally ill

         20  defendants into treatment, while at the same time

         21  remaining mindful of his responsibility to protect

         22  public safety.

         23                 DA Hynes supports Resolution #284

         24  which calls upon New York State Legislature to enact

         25  legislation which would ensure that mentally ill
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          2  persons who are discharged without health insurance

          3  from State prisons and City jails will be presumed

          4  eligible for Medicaid treatment for 90 days from the

          5  date of the discharge.  And I would just like to

          6  tell you a little bit briefly about three programs

          7  that were involved in, in Brooklyn, that relate to

          8  this issue.

          9                 The first is our Treatment

         10  Alternative for Dually Diagnosed Defendants, we call

         11  TADD.  That was begun as a small pilot project back

         12  in 1998 and was launched by our office.  We were

         13  originally aimed at only dually diagnosed

         14  defendants, because that is whom we found were not

         15  being treated.  We were diverting drug offenders

         16  from 1990 and we found that there were a group of

         17  people that we tried to divert and were not being

         18  readily accepted into traditional substance abuse

         19  facilities.  So we got a small amount of money from

         20  DCJS at the time, and we decided to explore a pilot

         21  project that would be aimed at pushing the envelope

         22  and seeing what services could be applied to this

         23  traditionally untreated population.

         24                 TADD's object was to divert jail- and

         25  prison- bound misdemeanor and non- violent felony
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          2  offenders to treatment venues, while at the same

          3  time obtaining appropriate disposition of the

          4  pending criminal charges consistent with public

          5  safety.

          6                 Now as of June 1st, 2002, TADD has

          7  identified and screened 719 defendants, out of which

          8  339 have been accepted by the program.  Of those

          9  accepted by the program, 49 percent are currently in

         10  treatment, 8 percent have completed treatment, 25

         11  percent have dropped out and returned to face their

         12  charges, 3 percent have outstanding warrants, and 15

         13  percent are currently pending placement.  And of

         14  that 15 percent that is currently pending placement,

         15  70 percent are housed at Riker's Island right now.

         16  Fifty percent of those who were accepted and placed

         17  in treatment entered residential programs, 26

         18  percent were referred to outpatient facilities, 5

         19  percent entered hospital programs, and 19 percent

         20  were referred to other forms of treatment, such as

         21  temporary shelters, clinics and transitional

         22  housing.

         23                 In the fall of 2001, the United

         24  States Department of Health and Human Services,

         25  Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services
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          2  Administration, SAMHSA, has awarded us $1.2 million

          3  over the next 3 years to expand TADD to serve a

          4  greater number of defendants and to create a

          5  replicable program, and to research and analyze the

          6  diversion process.  These funds are being shared by

          7  us, they're shared by TASC, whom you will hear from

          8  later, the treatment providers and the researchers.

          9  Therefore, since November 15, 2001, we have been

         10  able to keep additional statistical information on

         11  all those referred to TADD.

         12                 And significant to this Committee, I

         13  hope, your honor, Madam Chairperson, I'm so used to

         14  being in Court, significantly to this Committee,

         15  over three- quarters of the people referred to TADD

         16  since November 15th, had prior contact with the

         17  criminal justice system, and over one- fifth of them

         18  had more than 10 prior arrests.

         19                 Now there are two other programs, of

         20  which I would like to just briefly draw your

         21  attention, because they do involve the issue of

         22  Presumptive Medicaid eligibility.  The second is a

         23  program that we initiated in the Brooklyn DA's

         24  Office called ComALERT, it is a prisoner re- entry

         25  program.  It is a partnership, it is not a court,
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          2  it's a partnership where over 100 service providers,

          3  located mostly in Brooklyn, but also in the City of

          4  New York, meet with us once a month to help connect

          5  offenders coming out of prison.  Some offenders who

          6  are currently on probation with the treatment

          7  resources that are in our community.

          8                 Of significance to why the Brooklyn

          9  DA's Office is involved in it, is because as you

         10  know that the chance of re offending when you come

         11  out of prison is high, especially if you don't have

         12  benefits.  The other thing is that if you do re-

         13  offend and say, for example, you're a drug addict

         14  and you have a new local, miner misdemeanor charge,

         15  it is easy for us to deal with the new charge as

         16  well as to help access the services in a

         17  comprehensive plan for this re- entry person.  It's

         18  the first of its kind, this re- entry partnership in

         19  the City.  It's the first one, the only one in the

         20  country run by the DA's Office, and we're hopeful

         21  that it will get the support that it needs.  And

         22  clearly the ability to have Presumptive Medicaid

         23  eligibility is significant for our ability to

         24  connect these offenders with the treatment services.

         25                 The final thing I wanted to talk
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          2  about is we have a small arraignment diversion

          3  project in Brooklyn, that is partnered with the

          4  Criminal Court, the Office of Court Administration,

          5  and the City's Department of Mental Health.  And we

          6  have a psychologist that is in night arraignments

          7  that is able to assess these defendants, charged

          8  with very, very low level criminal charges that

          9  night, and the ability for TASC, who is the

         10  treatment manager to actually transport the

         11  defendant to a location where they will be safe and

         12  where the next morning they can access better

         13  services.

         14                 We have had a small amount of

         15  defendants that have, thus far, availed themselves

         16  of it, 45 defendants, and temporarily there was no

         17  psychologist involved, but now a new psychologist

         18  has been hired, and we're hopeful that that program

         19  will expand to day arraignments, where that

         20  psychologist employed and being used in the Court

         21  System will help us better identify people who could

         22  easily be diverted from the criminal courts early on

         23  in the process.

         24                 In conclusion, I just would like to

         25  say that these programs, the Brooklyn DA's Office is
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          2  committed to diverting mentally ill offenders from

          3  the criminal justice system at a variety of times

          4  when they intersect with the system.  Of course the

          5  charges that the defendants face are very

          6  significant in terms of when that diversion occurs.

          7  And we support the notion of Presumptive Medicaid

          8  eligibility because it will enable us to divert

          9  people at whatever stage we encounter them, and

         10  enable them to access services.

         11                 And I want to tell you one anecdote

         12  as it relates to this Committee.  One of TADD's

         13  success stories is an individual who in June of 1999

         14  threatened a person with a knife in the subway.  He

         15  was arrested and charged with menacing and criminal

         16  possession of a weapon, which are both misdemeanor

         17  offenses.  This individual was homeless and he was

         18  living in the subway tunnels.  He had a drug

         19  addiction and had previously been arrested and spent

         20  time at Riker's Island.  When he was arrested this

         21  time, however, he was identified as a potential TADD

         22  defendant.  We arrange to be evaluated by a

         23  psychiatrist while he was being held at Riker's

         24  Island.  The candidate was diagnosed with an Axis I

         25  diagnosis schizophrenia.  In September of 1999, he
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          2  pleaded guilty to menacing and was placed in the

          3  Bowery Resident Committee, February 2000 he was

          4  transferred to Rosebud, a permanent MICA residential

          5  facility.

          6                 As it turned out, this man is one of

          7  the plaintiffs in Brad H., now taking appropriate

          8  medication, receiving treatment and living in an

          9  apartment, he has recaptured his sense of dignity

         10  and a sense of control over his life.  He graduated

         11  from TADD last month, this graduate's experience

         12  illustrates the positive outcome that can result in

         13  an appropriate treatment diversion of mentally ill

         14  jail- or prison- bound individuals.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  Next.

         17                 MS. ROCHMAN:  My name is Barbara

         18  Rochman.  I am here representing the Women's City

         19  Club of New York. We had previously proposed that

         20  the Police Department establish a pilot program

         21  using Emergency Mental Evaluation Teams, or EMET

         22  teams as they are call, to response to calls

         23  involving the mentally ill or emotionally disturbed.

         24

         25                 In the recent past, the Women's City
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          2  Club of New York has advocated on behalf of mentally

          3  ill prison inmates to assure that Medicaid coverage

          4  would be available to them upon discharge from

          5  custody as Resolution No. 284 provides.  We have

          6  also called for improved Police response to

          7  incidents involving what the Police called EDPs,

          8  emotionally disturbed persons.  We are very pleased,

          9  Madam Chair, that this Committee is addressing the

         10  broad issue of the criminalization of the mentally

         11  ill, which has created a situation requiring more

         12  effective and more humane policies to deal with this

         13  vulnerable and fragile population, when they are

         14  caught up in the criminal justice system.

         15                 As you heard from previous witnesses,

         16  in 1999 there were several highly publicized

         17  incidents in New York City where mentally ill

         18  persons were killed by police officers.  As a

         19  result, Women City Club began to look at what we

         20  thought was an issue of training.  We soon learned

         21  that better training of police recruits to deal with

         22  emotionally disturbed persons, while important, was

         23  not the real answer.  And we have summarized our

         24  findings and recommendations in the brief document

         25  that it is attached at the back of this testimony,
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          2  entitled, "A New Initiative Changing Police 911

          3  Response to the Emotionally Disturbed."  It

          4  describes the use of EMET teams, how they have

          5  worked in other jurisdictions, how New York City

          6  responds in these cases, and how such programs could

          7  work here.

          8                 And at the City Council hearing in

          9  1999, which has been discussed before, we learned

         10  how the Police respond to emotionally disturbed

         11  persons.  And it is somewhat similar to what you

         12  have heard, but I like to repeat it.  The beat

         13  officer, first on the scene, must wait for a patrol

         14  car to arrive, and is only permitted to contain the

         15  individual.  The Emergency Services Unit and

         16  Emergency Medical Services are dispatched at the

         17  same time. ESU officers assume control when it

         18  becomes clear that other officers cannot handle the

         19  subject.  Thus several police vehicles, at least,

         20  six to eight uniformed officers, some with guns

         21  exposed, some dressed in full riot gear respond, and

         22  this response can be very threatening and can

         23  further excite the subject.

         24                 The responding officers do not

         25  receive the special training in answering EDP calls
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          2  that we believe is required. Regular police training

          3  provides 12 to 15 hours on dealing with violent

          4  EDPs.  In municipalities with Emergency Mental

          5  Evaluation Teams, highly specialized training is

          6  provided to officers specially selected to deal with

          7  EDPs.

          8                 Programs instituted - -  and I would

          9  add that we too had difficulty in getting all the

         10  details about the training that is provided, it was

         11  very difficult to get this information from John

         12  Jay, from the Police Department and so forth,

         13  similarly to what your former witness testified to.

         14                 Programs instituted in Memphis,

         15  Tennessee and in San Diego, Sacramento and Long

         16  Beach, California have successfully used Emergency

         17  Mental Evaluation Teams to respond to these calls.

         18  They are first response patrol car teams consisting

         19  of specially trained police officer and a clinician

         20  mental health professional. They also have available

         21  the less than lethal technologies for subduing

         22  people without resorting to the use of deadly

         23  weapons.

         24                 I think that our Police Department

         25  has increased their use of the less than lethal
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          2  technologies since 1999 or even 2000, but how well

          3  trained they are and how widespread the

          4  dissemination of these technologies is, I don't

          5  know.

          6                 We tried to interest two previous

          7  Police Commissioners in developing a pilot project

          8  using EMET teams, but our efforts were rebuffed.  We

          9  met with the Deputy Commissioner of the Policy and

         10  Planning Department, together with a number of

         11  officers and supervisors of the Emergency Services

         12  Unit.  They all indicated familiarity with the EMET

         13  programs.  They had attended conferences about these

         14  programs, and had concluded that they could not work

         15  in New York City because we were larger than other

         16  cities, and because New York was different.  They

         17  stated that their first obligations was to protect

         18  the safety of their officers, and at the presence of

         19  a non- police officer, mental health professional

         20  would jeopardize that safety.

         21                 However, they had no response when it

         22  was pointed out that the City using EMET teams did

         23  not experience increased injuries to police

         24  officers, but considered these programs to be safer

         25  for their officers.  Nor did they respond to the
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          2  fact that the Memphis program did not need to use

          3  deadly force in dealing with EDPs, and that the Long

          4  Beach program not only had not needed their less

          5  than lethal weapons, but had rarely even had to use

          6  handcuffs to subdue the EDPs, all without increasing

          7  injuries to the police.

          8                 The ESU representatives told us that

          9  they were highly trained for emergencies.  However,

         10  it emerged that most of their training was designed

         11  to handle physical emergencies requiring great skill

         12  and bravery, but did not appear to include the depth

         13  of training that officers specialized in dealing

         14  with the mentally ill in a crisis situation receive,

         15  when the EMET teams are used.

         16                 Now it was our intention to raise

         17  this issue again with the new Police Commissioner,

         18  so we're very pleased that you're having this

         19  hearing, and as you indicated that you have been

         20  talking to Police Commissioner Kelly on this whole

         21  subject.

         22                 So we look forward to the

         23  recommendations coming from your Committee and will

         24  be happy to do what we can to ensure that the

         25  mentally ill are dealt with in appropriate and safe
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          2  manner, if they have to come in contact with the

          3  police.

          4                 MR. BRESCIA:  Good afternoon.  My

          5  name is Ray Brescia with the Urban Justice Center.

          6  I'm going to do my best to summarize the testimony

          7  because I know there are lots of others who want to

          8  speak today.  You also have with you a report that

          9  our office issued on Police interactions with people

         10  with psychiatric disabilities.  And just, I was at

         11  the City Council hearing December of 1999, and

         12  rolling back a couple of, a year and a half, Kevin

         13  Cerbelli's death occurred in October of 1998, Gary

         14  Busch's in August of 1999, the Brad H. Litigation,

         15  which I'm Co- Counsel with John Gresham of New York

         16  Lawyers for the Public Interest and the Law Firm of

         17  Debevoise and Plimpton, that was commenced in August

         18  of 1999.  This has been happening for a long, you

         19  know, much longer than this brief time period that

         20  explained, but nothing is happening from the Mayor's

         21  Office, the previous Mayor and this Mayor on making

         22  a difference in the areas that are the subject of

         23  this hearing.

         24                 And I applaud the support that the

         25  City Council has expressed for the presumptive
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          2  eligibility bill that is languishing Upstate and for

          3  moving the City on these issues.

          4                 Taking first the issue of Police

          5  training, you have our report, it summarizes some of

          6  the issues, which are, as people have talked about

          7  earlier this afternoon, the limited number, the

          8  limited amount of training, 12 hours that the police

          9  recruits receive in an eight- month long training

         10  program at the Academy on how to deal with people

         11  with psychiatric disabilities.

         12                 Secondly, the ESU protocols that when

         13  a 911 call is made that the 911 caller in a split

         14  second says, oh, this might be an EDP, let's call

         15  the ESU as well as the local precinct.  Well the ESU

         16  is not centrally located, I'm sorry, it is centrally

         17  located in each Borough with one and maybe two

         18  officers in each Borough, you know, station houses.

         19  Whereas we know the precincts are spread out

         20  throughout the City, who is going to respond first,

         21  clearly, it is going to be the beat cop who has just

         22  received 12 hours of training in the Academy.

         23  Moreover as Police officials have told me, they know

         24  that in the precinct the desk sergeant will refer

         25  the youngest recruit, the youngest police officers
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          2  to go out to deal with the EDPs, which the Police

          3  refer to, not only as emotionally disturbed persons,

          4  but every day people, that is what EDP means to the

          5  Police.  This is just another situation with an

          6  every day person who is in trouble, and the Police

          7  have to respond.

          8                 Now even based on this split- second

          9  determination by the dispatcher of, well, this might

         10  be an EDP, the Police respond to almost 70,000 of

         11  these calls a year, 70,000, I submit to you, that

         12  means that the New York City Police Department is

         13  the largest psychiatric outreach team in the world.

         14  Not surprising, which is New York City.  And yet,

         15  the recruits receive 12 hours of training in the

         16  Academy.

         17                 So the training and the ESU protocols

         18  are critical in areas where the Police have to

         19  respond and change their practices.

         20                 In addition, as my colleague, Amanda

         21  Masters mentioned the idea of non- lethal weapons,

         22  which, you know, Police will tell you, oh, yeah,

         23  sometimes the Sergeants carry some of that stuff in

         24  their trunks, but you know the beat cop doesn't have

         25  it, doesn't know how to use it, even with those non-
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          2  lethal weapons that they do carry.  Okay?  And

          3  interesting to note, the Police consider pepper

          4  spray to be a non- lethal weapon, and as we know in

          5  Mr. Busch's case they sprayed pepper spray into his

          6  face, which is probably the reason why he was

          7  agitated as many of the non- police witnesses have

          8  testified.

          9                 So these issues, the training, the

         10  protocols and the non- lethal weapons are key issues

         11  that the Police have to respond to.  You have our

         12  report with the recommendations, there are many

         13  jurisdictions, and this is one of those areas that

         14  perhaps the City government, or perhaps the Mayor's

         15  Office and the Police Department, in particular,

         16  will say well, New York should be the best, and New

         17  York should be the best.  But other cities are doing

         18  it better, there is no question that in Memphis, in

         19  Ithica, in Seattle, in Portland, they're doing it

         20  better.  You know, they have specialized police

         21  officers who respond to EDP calls that have

         22  specialized training, have special badges in some

         23  instances and they know how to respond to people in

         24  crisis.  In New York we refuse to adopt that, those

         25  sorts of protocols.
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          2                 At the same time we have domestic

          3  violence officers in each of the precincts,and there

          4  are more domestic violence calls in New York City

          5  than there are EDP calls.  And the Police's response

          6  has been we cannot have this sort of, the EMET type

          7  of approach because there are too many EDP calls,

          8  New York City is too big.

          9                 But they have a DV component, they

         10  have DV officers in each precinct that respond to DV

         11  calls, that serve as resources to their other

         12  officers to help explain situations to help people

         13  get the resources that they need.  So the response

         14  that, you know, it's too big a problem in New York,

         15  you know,  we cannot change our policies is, you

         16  know, bely by the fact that in the Domestic Violence

         17  situation where there are far more calls, over three

         18  times as many calls, they do have this sort of

         19  approach.

         20                 So in the report that you have, one

         21  of the key recommendations, sort of a threshold

         22  recommendation is that as has been done in the past,

         23  the Mayor create a Mayoral Commission to review this

         24  issue, the issue of Police responses to people with

         25  psychiatric disabilities.  Because, you know, it has
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          2  to come from on high, it cannot come from, you know,

          3  from advocates, perhaps it cannot come from the City

          4  Council, I would like to think that it can and the

          5  Police would respond to it.  But I think the answer

          6  is, it has to come from the highest officials in the

          7  Mayor's Office and perhaps the Commissioner as well.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well let me say

          9  this to you, I am very seriously considering

         10  creating legislation about this. Then I don't know

         11  if anybody has done it before, but hey, I like

         12  always to be the first one, let's put it that way.

         13  And I am very seriously looking into that and

         14  exploring the possibility of creating legislation in

         15  regard of this, if we're not going to get to a point

         16  in which we come to an agreement.  Because what

         17  we're talking about, in my opinion, I mean I'm not a

         18  lawyer, but I know a little bit about rights, what

         19  we're talking about is violation of human rights in

         20  continuing basis here.  That is what we're talking

         21  about.

         22                 And the reason for the violation is

         23  that you are mentally ill.  Then because you're

         24  mentally ill I can violate your rights, and that is

         25  what the conclusion I have arrived to.  Then based

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            114

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  on that, I think that any lawyer out there will say,

          3  you know, Margarita, you're right, perhaps you can

          4  legislate on this. And if the Administration doesn't

          5  want me to legislate, if the Police Commissioner

          6  doesn't want me to legislate, and if the

          7  Commissioner of Mental Health, in general, doesn't

          8  want me to legislate, perhaps that will be a

          9  motivator to get them in that room and negotiate

         10  this.

         11                 Then that is the good news I have and

         12  that is the reason we're having these hearings.

         13                 MR. BRESCIA:  Good.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Because that is

         15  where I'm going.

         16                 MR. BRESCIA:  Great.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I wanted to ask

         18  some questions from the panel.

         19                 MR. BRESCIA:  If I could, just the

         20  recommendations on ATI's, - -

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Oh, I'm sorry.

         22                 MR. BRESCIA: - -  which are on page

         23  7?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

         25                 MR. BRESCIA:  Basically what you said
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          2  already, there needs to be enhanced services that

          3  many ATI's, currently in the City and outside of the

          4  City, simply, you know, they're sort of brokers for

          5  services, and creating ATI's doesn't actually mean

          6  that there are new services.  And we know that the

          7  Mental Health System needs new services.

          8                 The Nathaniel Project, as you have

          9  described, is unique and that it does provide

         10  services.  But I will let my colleagues at the

         11  Nathaniel Project tell you about that, and I think

         12  they're going to testify later.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  They will have

         14  the opportunity to testify on that.

         15                 MR. BRESCIA:  Okay, thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  First of all, any

         17  other DA have the comprehensive approach that DA

         18  Hynes has on this issue?  And I'm not asking you

         19  that question in a facetious way, I'm serious. I

         20  mean I'm not asking to put anybody on the spot.

         21                 MS. SWERN:  I'm going to say I'm

         22  optimistic.  In 1990, we were the only ones who did

         23  DTAP, we created it, now it's in 15 counties, there

         24  is federal legislation pending to encourage DA's

         25  around the nation to do it.  I can only say that I'm
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          2  as optimistic about this as I was about that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then in the City

          4  here, - -

          5                 MS. SWERN:  In the City.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: - -  all of the

          7  other DA's have the same approach to this issue?

          8                 MS. SWERN:  As I said, originally

          9  with drug treatment, we were the first one, we

         10  created it.  But they adopted it within three years

         11  of our creation.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Manhattan, Bronx,

         13   - -

         14                 MS. SWERN:  For drug treatment, yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: - -  Queens and

         16  Staten Island.

         17                 MS. SWERN:  Yes.  Every one of the

         18  five DA's Offices and a Special Narcotics Prosecutor

         19  does DTAP.  That means that they divert prison-

         20  bound drug addicts to long- term residential

         21  treatment rather than send them to State prison.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  How about mental

         23  illness?

         24                 MS. SWERN:  Hasn't happened yet, but

         25  I'm hopeful.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, I want to

          3  be an agent of inspiration, and I am telling you

          4  right now that I'm going to start writing letters to

          5  each and every one of them, and ask them, why not,

          6  if this is working?  Then be ready for the answers

          7  that we're going to get, and maybe you get into a

          8  situation, but you can tell them that who did this

          9  was me, just me alone.

         10                 The other question I wanted to know,

         11  in regard of the mentally ill, the people that you

         12  are serving in there, are you finding that they are

         13  severely mentally ill in the majority of them and

         14  that they show up to your, you know, to the steps of

         15  your home, so we can say, without Medicaid?

         16                 MS. SWERN:  First of all, the people

         17  that we see for TADD are people who have been

         18  rejected from other programs or in other specialty

         19  courts, that is why it was created.  And they have

         20  to, by definition, be severely and persistently

         21  mentally ill.  That is one of the reasons that they

         22  did not receive services in the first place.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         24                 MS. SWERN:  We find that many people

         25  do not have Medicaid when they're in the criminal
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          2  justice system and we need to divert them, and that

          3  is one of the reasons that the DA wanted me to come

          4  here to testify, because we do find that it is very

          5  helpful if they apply for their benefits while

          6  they're incarcerated.  And in fact, we recently

          7  found that some of them actually get their cards

          8  while they're incarcerated and they sometimes send

          9  them to offices such as TASC because they do not

         10  have a home and they know they're going to be going

         11  out someplace, and actually their cards end up at

         12  TASC's door.

         13                 So we know that some of them have

         14  begun to apply while they're incarcerated.  But of

         15  course, the presumptive eligibility would allow for

         16  people to access services, whether they have applied

         17  or not, and get them the moment they walk out of

         18  Riker's Island, or the moment they leave Danamora

         19  (phonetic).

         20                 Then when a person comes out, more

         21  likely than not, would not have Medicaid, and

         22  obviously, is not going to have SSI or any benefits,

         23  because you cannot have benefits at the time,

         24  correct?

         25                 MS. SWERN:  That is our experience.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then it is

          3  impossible for somebody to be housed at the time

          4  that they come out, because by definition they don't

          5  have the benefit to pay for the rent that they have

          6  to pay, correct?

          7                 MS. SWERN:  That is our experience

          8  and that is why we're trying to push the envelope

          9  here to try to be able to access these services

         10  seamlessly from the moment they leave jail to the

         11  moment they're diverted into treatment.  Because

         12  most of them are pending in jail prior to diversion

         13  to treatment.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  If we will have a

         15  drop- in center in which we can specialize that

         16  drop- in center to get those people in there, would

         17  that be helpful?

         18                 MS. SWERN:  The drop- in center would

         19  be helpful for some of the defendants, but there

         20  are, as I said, there are a range of criminal

         21  defendants that I'm speaking about.  And in Brooklyn

         22  we look at every single person that comes to our

         23  step to see whether or not it is appropriate.  We

         24  have people charged with very, very low- level

         25  crimes that can be diverted that night - -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Immediately.

          3                 MS. SWERN: - -  when they appear at

          4  arraignments. There are other people, for example,

          5  elder abuse, we find that there is a lot of elder

          6  abuse cases where the victims have called the Police

          7  and want the defendant arrested, but then they call

          8  us a couple of days later and say, we really didn't

          9  want them to go to jail or prison, we just want them

         10  to receive treatment, get their medication and all

         11  that other things.

         12                 And what we say to them is good, we

         13  will try to help effectuate that, and we find that

         14  the court system is one of those places where that

         15  can, if all the stars are aligned properly, we can

         16  actually do that.  Where the victim, if the victim

         17  is on board, even if the defendant is charged with a

         18  serious crime that involves violence, that we can

         19  divert them to treatment instead of incarceration to

         20  allow for enough time where they can learn life

         21  skills, medication compliance and things like that.

         22  And the victim is usually happy with that and it

         23  usually works in terms of the defendants prognosis.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The three of you

         25  will be willing to be part of that Task Force, if I
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          2  put it together, in order to put a final report in

          3  the hands of the Commissioner, and each of the

          4  Commissioners that I mentioned before, and if at the

          5  end of the day we don't accomplish nothing, with a

          6  time table in place, we will then proceed to

          7  legislate on this issue, would you be willing to

          8  dedicate your time to something like this?

          9                 MS. SWERN:  I will ask DA Hynes if he

         10  will spare me, I'm his Counsel, I will ask him.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.  But the

         12  idea sound appealing to you?

         13                 MS. SWERN:  I think people studying

         14  the issue is a great thing.  I think this is an

         15  issue that has not been studied enough and there is

         16  not enough public attention on it, and I applaud

         17  anybody looking at it who is intelligent and

         18  committed and hardworking.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Oh, that is me.

         20  Thank you for the compliment.

         21                 Yes, Barbara.

         22                 MS. ROCHMAN:  Women's City Club I

         23  know would be happy to participate, whether it's me

         24  individually or some other members, but certainly we

         25  would - -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, I'm sorry,

          3  I don't want to misrepresent what I was saying, I'm

          4  not talking about you, personally, I was talking

          5  about your organization?

          6                 MS. ROCHMAN:  Oh, definitely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

          8                 MR. BRESCIA:  Yes, the Urban Justice

          9  Center is committed to that.  But to be honest, it

         10  has, there has to be participation and buy- in by

         11  the Police and the Mayor's Office.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I understand

         13  that, I'm trying to do that.

         14                 MR. BRESCIA:  Gerald Landsberg's

         15  report that he mentioned, the nine point plan in

         16  September of 2000, you know, all of the

         17  recommendations of the City Club, all the reports

         18  that are being done about, you know, Police

         19  interactions, they're not worth anything if the

         20  Police have a head in the sand approach to this.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Trust me on this,

         22  I understand that part.  I know to dance Tango, due

         23  to the fact that I'm Latino, I know that you need

         24  two people.  And in this case, we cannot dance

         25  alone, and I'm very aware of that.
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          2                 Council Member Yassky.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes, I just

          4  want to follow up a little bit on this Medicaid

          5  angle, and I know none of you here are here as

          6  Medicaid experts, but does Medicaid pay for the kind

          7  of treatment that when you divert folks that they

          8  get, including the life skills part, do they end up

          9  paying for that?

         10                 MS. SWERN:  I only know a little bit

         11  about it.  Ken Linn, who will speak from TASC knows

         12  more.  However, I do know, like for example, clinic

         13  visits and medication, clearly medication is paid

         14  for.  In drug treatment and in mental health

         15  services, a portion of that is public assistance

         16  dollars, but I don't know exactly what portion,

         17  there are people here that do know the answers to

         18  that.

         19                 MR. BRESCIA:  In most instances, yes,

         20  it would pay for it.  You know there are rehab and

         21  vocational rehab elements in addition to more

         22  traditional medication and medication management

         23  services that are all Medicaid, you know, paid by

         24  Medicaid.  I mean there is a City match to that, so

         25  it's not, you know, there is a portion of the
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          2  Medicaid is paid by City dollars, but I don't think

          3  that is what the question you're asking is.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  No, but only

          5  a portion, and that is the whole idea.  And I would

          6  say, Madam Chair, I was delighted to hear that

          7  you're planning to press forward legislatively on

          8  the Police training angle, but I also think the

          9  diversion angle is terribly important, and if you

         10  are going to follow- up on that, please know that

         11  you will have my full support.               And I

         12  think one argument to make that is particularly

         13  effective is the fiscal argument that when folks go

         14  to jail or to prison, you know, you're talking about

         15  the State and the City paying 100 percent of that.

         16  When they go to, if they get treatment, now you're

         17  talking about the Federal government picking up

         18  half.  So I think that is a very, very powerful

         19  argument.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Any other

         21  question?  Then I can ask one more, because nobody

         22  else wants to ask a question.  I'm calling you

         23  Barbara and I'm taking a license (sic) here that I

         24  should not, do I have permission?  Thank you.  You

         25  can call me Margarita any time, no problem.
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          2                 In regard of the stories that you

          3  have put together, from 1998, 1999, have you seen

          4  any movement in anything different that has been

          5  implemented since then to now?

          6                 MS. ROCHMAN:  No, other than, as I

          7  mentioned, I think they did increase some - -

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can you pull the

          9  microphone closer to you?

         10                 MS. ROCHMAN:  I think there was some

         11  increase in the usage of less than lethal weapons.

         12  Other than that, no, I don't know of any changes,

         13  and I was interested to hear the other witnesses who

         14  seemed to indicate the same thing, that there really

         15  hasn't been any change.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No change.

         17                 MS. ROCHMAN:  Since those egregious

         18  cases were, you know, came forward in 1998, I guess

         19  that happened.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, the reason

         21  I asked you that is because I know that at the

         22  Federal level some agreements have occurred that

         23  localities should begin implementing policies that

         24  are not about incarcerating mentally ill, but giving

         25  them treatment an alternative to incarceration, that
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          2  is the reason I asked you.  And I wanted to see if

          3  in any way you have seen some changes, because one

          4  of the thoughts I have been having is to contact the

          5  Federal Delegation to Congress and to the Senate on

          6  this issue.  Because a lot of federal dollars are

          7  coming down to serve this population and the

          8  mandates of the federal dollars on this issue are

          9  not being obeyed, particularly federal dollars that

         10  are going to the Police Department, to intervene

         11  with people in policing communities.  Then I'm

         12  looking into that direction and see if we can do

         13  some creative legislation in that arena.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 MS. BOCHMAN:  No, but I haven't seen

         16  any changes, perhaps you know more.

         17                 MR. BRESCIA:  Yes, if I may, as

         18  Amanda Masters pointed out, there has been no

         19  significant change in the Police Department's

         20  protocol since after 1984, after the Eleanor Bumpers

         21  case.

         22                 And so, we think, the legal community

         23  thinks that there are serious violations of State

         24  and Federal Law in the way the City is conducting

         25  its policy towards what it calls EDPs. There are
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          2  potential 88 violations, State and Federal

          3  Constitution violations, and so we see that, you

          4  know, litigation is inevitable if there isn't some

          5  kind of negotiation, if the Police doesn't change,

          6  if the Police don't change what they're doing.

          7                 I mean there are, you know, case

          8  after case of personal injury and wrongful death

          9  cases cost the City coffers millions and millions of

         10  dollars.  In addition, in the Brad H. Case, which

         11  you know we got a preliminary junction in the Summer

         12  of 2000, the City is facing contempt fines in that,

         13  more dollars going to, you know, contempt, when it

         14  should be going to services.

         15                 So the City is just inviting

         16  litigation in this area, you know, on a systemic

         17  level, while at the same time, every day there are

         18  more violations and more, as I said, wrongful death

         19  and personal injury cases that cost the City, you

         20  know, millions of dollars.

         21                 So, you know, in terms of the money

         22  angle, a lot of people have talked about the cost-

         23  effectiveness of all of this, when you're just

         24  talking about the legal violations that the City is

         25  engaging in now, you know, that also has a cost.
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          2  And putting aside the incredible human cost in all

          3  of this.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you

          5  very much to the three of you, and I want to

          6  congratulate DA Hynes for all of the good

          7  initiatives that come out of there.

          8                 MS. SWERN:  Thank you, and I'm sure

          9  he says the same to you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, we know

         11  each other personally.  Thank you.

         12                 MS. BOLANOS:  Our next panel is, are:

         13    Ann- Marie Louison, John Gresham, and Kenneth

         14  Linn.  Yes, yes, you wanted to have your staff come

         15  up with you, sure, they can come up.  Can you put

         16  some additional chairs here for them?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I want to let

         18  people know here that I don't have no problem in

         19  staying here until is necessary, and that has been

         20  my policy always when I have hearings.  I get very

         21  much educated by everything that you guys tell me.

         22                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay, please raise your

         23  right hand? Do each of you, independently, swear

         24  that the testimony that you're about to provide

         25  before this Committee is the whole truth and to the
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          2  best of your knowledge?

          3                 ALL:  Yes.

          4                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay, we are going to

          5  start with Ann Marie Louison, and we need to stay to

          6  the three minutes, and are each of your staff

          7  members testifying?  Oh, okay, please state your

          8  name and organization for the record, and before you

          9  begin?  Thank you.

         10                 MS. LOUISON:  I'm Ann- Marie Louison

         11  from CASES.              Good afternoon, Council

         12  Member Lopez and members of the Committee.  Thank

         13  you for holding this hearing on this important issue

         14  and for giving us the opportunity to testify.  My

         15  name is Ann- Marie Louison.  I'm the Deputy Director

         16  of Mental Health Programs at CASES.  These are my

         17  colleagues, Karen Dubin, Simones Talton, Gricel

         18  Flores, and Anderson Bernier.  We are the staff of

         19  the Nathaniel Project.

         20                 We are very pleased to be here today

         21  because alternatives to incarceration initiatives

         22  for person with mental disabilities are very

         23  important to us.  We all work in a program called

         24  the Nathaniel Project, a two- year alternative to

         25  incarceration program for people with serious and
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          2  persistent mental illnesses who have committed

          3  felony offenses.  Starting January 2000, the

          4  Nathaniel Project was funded by the City Council and

          5  was created by CASES, New York City's oldest and

          6  largest alternatives to incarceration agency.

          7  Subsequent funding was provided by the van Ameringen

          8  Foundation, the New York Community Trust, the

          9  Schnurmacher Foundation, and the United Way.

         10                 The Nathaniel Project is staffed by

         11  Masters level staff who work to provide all the

         12  services that our clients need to live successfully

         13  in the community.  The cultural and ethnic diversity

         14  of our staff reflects the diversity of the clients

         15  we serve.  We are committed to justice, public

         16  safety, the importance of serving people who have

         17  been under- served, and the believed that people can

         18  change when they are offered hope and get the right

         19  services.  The project works in the Manhattan

         20  Supreme Court to identify criminal defendants that

         21  have a DSM- IV Axis I diagnosis that impairs their

         22  functioning and meets the New York State Office of

         23  Mental Health criteria for a severe and persistent

         24  mental illness.  All of our participants would go to

         25  state prison, usually for around three to six years,
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          2  if they did not enter the Nathaniel Project.  We

          3  provide services for two years, two years of

          4  intrusive case management and court supervision

          5  services to get participants engaged in mental

          6  health, substance abuse treatment, and supportive

          7  housing.  We escort our participants' back to court

          8  for progress reports during the two years of

          9  supervision and provide comprehensive court reports

         10  to the judge, prosecutor, and defense attorney on

         11  client's progress.

         12                 MS. DUBIN:  The Nathaniel Project is

         13  an extremely intensive intervention designed for

         14  high need clients that have a treatment history

         15  characterized by frequent use of psychiatric

         16  emergency rooms, inpatient hospitalization,

         17  substance abuse, homelessness, and lack of

         18  engagement in traditional outpatient services.  For

         19  our clients this is the last chance to avoid a long

         20  prison term.  The demographic profile of our

         21  participants confirms that we are working with

         22  individuals who need intensive services. Most of our

         23  participants have failed to engage in community

         24  treatment services.  They are the people that are

         25  forgotten, defined as resistant and difficult, the
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          2  ones that others say won't make it.  These are the

          3  clients that we are interested in taking into our

          4  program:

          5                 Eighty- eight percent are seriously

          6  and persistently mentally ill and chemically

          7  addicted.

          8                 Ninety- two percent were homeless at

          9  the time of release from jail.

         10                 Ninety- two percent are Latino or

         11  African- American.

         12                 Forty- eight percent have a chronic

         13  health problem that included HIV, asthma, and

         14  seizure disorders.

         15                 Seventy- eight percent were not

         16  involved in any treatment at the time of arrest.

         17                 Fifty percent committed a violent

         18  felony.

         19                 Twenty- four percent have previously

         20  been to state prison.

         21                 Eighty- two percent had an arrest

         22  history prior to the instant felony arrest that made

         23  them eligible for the Nathaniel Project.

         24                 Sixty- four percent had more than

         25  five years of contact with the criminal justice
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          2  system.

          3                 Fifty- seven percent of our

          4  participants have had, at least, five arrests in

          5  their criminal history.

          6                 MS. TALTON:  Our staff and consultant

          7  psychiatrist screen potential clients while they are

          8  in jail.  We advocate with the prosecutor and judge

          9  to get the client admitted to our program. Clients

         10  are typically released to the custody of the

         11  Nathaniel Project after pleading guilty.  Their

         12  sentencing is adjourned for 18- 24 months with the

         13  understanding that if they successfully complete the

         14  program, they will not be sentenced to

         15  incarceration, and if they fail, they will be

         16  sentenced to a significant period of time in state

         17  prison.  Prior to the client's release, we develop a

         18  comprehensive service plan for the person to get

         19  treatment, and because almost all of our clients are

         20  homeless, these plans almost always involved placing

         21  the person on the day of release into transitional

         22  housing and treatment settings.  We see our clients

         23  a minimum of three times per week for the first

         24  month, as they need a lot of support to get linked

         25  to the services they need and to make a successful
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          2  transition from jail into community treatment. We

          3  escort clients to get PA, Medicaid and SSI benefits.

          4    Our consultant psychiatrist performs medication

          5  management and mental status examinations until the

          6  client gets Medicaid, which is 45 days after

          7  applications and can then be linked to a clinic or

          8  day treatment program.  Staff are available 7- days

          9  a week, 24- hours a day to provide crisis management

         10  service when clients experience difficulties.

         11                 Even more important, than just

         12  linking someone to treatment is the relationship

         13  that our staff member forms with the client.  All

         14  staff members are Masters level social service

         15  professionals skilled dinner therapeutic counseling,

         16  and their task in not just to link clients to

         17  treatment, but to also to provide counseling to the

         18  client and psycho education to family members and

         19  clients natural support systems.  The goal of the

         20  counseling is to help clients to examine the

         21  circumstances and choices that have led them to this

         22  point in their lives, to help them develop effective

         23  relationships with their service providers, to help

         24  the client imagine alternatives, and guide them

         25  toward achieving the goal they have chosen.
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          2  Essential to the Nathaniel Project is the program's

          3  treatment philosophy; staff member expect every

          4  client to succeed, and make a commitment to go to

          5  any lengths necessary to help each client succeed.

          6  The program has an 80 percent retention rate. This

          7  includes not giving up even if a client has failures

          8  in treatment, sometimes treatment failures happen

          9  because treatment settings are not the right match.

         10  We make alternative arrangements and give our

         11  clients the opportunity to find the services that

         12  meet their cultural, treatment and recovery needs.

         13                 MR. BERNIER:  Good afternoon, Council

         14  members.  The greatest challenge the Nathaniel

         15  Project faces is locating appropriate supervised

         16  housing service for our clients.  This has been

         17  difficult, both because of a general lack of beds

         18  and because our participants have to compete with

         19  more desirable clients.  We have managed to overcome

         20  this barrier and serve our clients by developing

         21  strong relationships with a few providers that have

         22  excellent transitional services.  These providers

         23  are willing to admit our clients unseen from Riker's

         24  Island to their services. They do so because they

         25  know the Nathaniel Project offers very intensive
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          2  services and that a skilled staff member is

          3  responsible for every client, and we promise the

          4  provider that if they stop working with the client,

          5  Nathaniel Project staff will find an alternate

          6  placement immediately.  The general lack of housing

          7  led CASES to work in collaboration with Pathways to

          8  Housing to apply for federal funding from the

          9  Department of Housing and Urban Development to

         10  create 20 supportive housing slots in scattered sit

         11  apartments.  Project Release was funded by HUD and

         12  20 Nathaniel Project clients have gained access to

         13  permanent housing.  Our second major resource

         14  expansion initiative was a successful application

         15  submitted to the New York State Housing Homeless

         16  Assistance Program to build a new 64- bed

         17  transitional living community residence, the Clayton

         18  Williams Residence, to serve homeless mentally ill

         19  offenders being released to the community from jail

         20  and prison.

         21                 MS. FLORES:  Good afternoon.  We want

         22  to say that our clients and their families are

         23  grateful to the City Council and we request your

         24  support to ensure that we can continue to serve the

         25  under- served.  The case of the first client
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          2  released to our program in January 2000 illustrates

          3  the need for good interventions beginning at the

          4  point of contact with the Police.  Our first client,

          5  a 35- year- old, African- American, schizophrenic

          6  man was in jail for violating his probation order.

          7  He had failed to report to his probation officer.

          8  His address at the time was the A- train. In 1998,

          9  the client was sentenced to five years probation for

         10  burglary of his mother's home.  He broke into his

         11  mother's home when she was away.  She returned to

         12  find him in a psychotic state and called the Police

         13  to get him to a hospital.  His mother told us that

         14  she told the Police her son was schizophrenic and

         15  begged them to take him to a hospital.  Instead, he

         16  was arrested and charged with burglary and put

         17  through the criminal justice system.  Today, he has

         18  completed our program and lives in supportive

         19  housing.  This client was not diverted at the point

         20  of arrest, but like hundreds of others who end up in

         21  jail, he was not.  He was one of the few lucky ones.

         22    Thousands of people with mental illness are

         23  charged with felony offenses each year; most will be

         24  sentenced to a state prison. Only a very few have

         25  access to alternative to incarceration programs.
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          2                 In conclusion, we would like to ask

          3  the Council not only to continue the funding for the

          4  Nathaniel Project, but also to explore other ways to

          5  improve New York City's system of alternatives to

          6  incarceration to give people with serious mental

          7  illness the chance to receive treatment and stay out

          8  of prison.  We need a variety of models, less

          9  intensive program for higher functioning people with

         10  serious mental illness, shorter- term program for

         11  people with less serious felony offenses, and

         12  voluntary services for people charged with

         13  misdemeanors.  CASES and New York's other ATI

         14  agencies look forward to working with the Council to

         15  serve this neglected population.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         17                 MR. LINN:  I'm not part of that

         18  group.  I'm Kenneth Linn, and I oversee EAC, the

         19  Education and Assistance Corporation New York City's

         20  TASC programs.  We're actually are the largest

         21  alternative to incarceration program for substance

         22  abusing offenders right now, and we have 4,000

         23  substance abusing offenders that are in drug

         24  treatment programs.  And those are people who have

         25  mostly have gone to state prison.  But we also work
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          2  with mentally ill offenders.

          3                 Currently, our caseload of mentally

          4  ill offenders are 600 people in treatment, that

          5  spans three counties.  The majority of them are from

          6  Brooklyn, and we work very closely with the DAs and

          7  the Courts in Brooklyn.

          8                 In doing this work, and we do it in

          9  the trenches day- in and day- out, it's wonderful

         10  that the City Council is getting involved and that

         11  this is a priority on your agenda.   Because the

         12  problems of working with the mentally ill has been a

         13  really lonely battle, and the people we deal with

         14  are the weakest and frailest among us, and the least

         15  able to care for themselves.  I mean these are

         16  people who cannot apply for their own medical

         17  benefits and Medicaid.  When they go down to the

         18  Medicaid Office, the first question, you know, where

         19  is your birth certificate and social security, beats

         20  them.  So I want to thank the Committee for raising

         21  the issue of Presumptive Medicaid, it would really

         22  go an enormously long way to helping us solve the

         23  problems.

         24                 We have done it anyway, and if you

         25  want to talk about how they get funded and what we
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          2  have done to try to create creative ways of getting

          3  people into treatment and services during that 45-

          4  day wait, we have really been able to do it, but

          5  with much effort.

          6                 What happens is the programs take a

          7  risk and they can back bill 90 days, and depending

          8  on what your success rate is with them, if you

          9  place, you know, 100 people in the program and 90

         10  succeed, then you're worth taking the risk on, so

         11  they will lose 10 percent, but they will get 90

         12  percent of that reimbursement.  And the question is

         13  building up, this good enough track record with the

         14  programs, so that they're willing to take your

         15  people and take that risk with us.

         16                 We help obviate the risk in a few

         17  different ways, one of which is, we pay the first

         18  months medication.  Zyprexa is $800 a month, and

         19  that is really the front, preeminent drug for

         20  schizophrenia at this time.  And sometimes we have

         21  to pay that for three months.  So that makes it more

         22  attractive for the programs to keep and maintain our

         23  people.  So that if the person leaves and they don't

         24  get the benefits turned on in 90 days, they don't

         25  have to absorb that expense.
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          2                 The other thing is there are several

          3  different types of programs.  The substance abusing

          4  programs are really in great shape when it comes to

          5  funding.  They're really not equipped to deal with

          6  the mentally ill.  But some have started to make in

          7  roads, and what we have done is, we have been

          8  supporting them with psychiatrists, psychologists,

          9  social workers to back up their services and trying

         10  to train their staffs.  They have an advantage

         11  because their funding comes through Congregate Care,

         12  which is City, welfare benefits.  And they get into

         13  it through one central stream in HRA, and you know,

         14  they have regularized that over the years, so the

         15  case, their application does not lost in the sauce.

         16  They bring all their clients to the 16th Street

         17  Office and that is where they get processed, and

         18  then they back bill.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  But that is not a

         20  way to resolve this problem.

         21                 MR. LINN:  No, no, no, it's not a way

         22  to resolve the problem.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Therefore, the

         24  way to resolve this problem is to approving Medicaid

         25   - -
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          2                 MR. LINN:  Absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: - -  before they

          4  come out.

          5                 MR. LINN:  Absolutely, Presumptive

          6  Medicaid would be a God send for all of us.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you.

          8  I just interrupted you because, although I

          9  understand that we may, that we find solutions when

         10  we don't have the real service that should be in

         11  place, that is not the way that we should leave, the

         12  is not the aspiration that we should have to serve

         13  the mentally ill.

         14                 MR. LINN:  That is why we were so

         15  thrilled to come here before this and have this

         16  issue brought to everybody's attention.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you.

         18                 MR. LINN:  If we could get

         19  Presumptive Medicaid, I mean that is a God send to

         20  us, that would open up a lot more doors. There are

         21  hospitals Upstate that provide MICA rehabs that have

         22  empty beds.  We cannot get our clients in, because

         23  they don't have Medicaid or Presumptive Medicaid.

         24                 Although, it is true that there is a

         25  ruling from the FEDS that came down from Donna
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          2  Shalala that going into Riker's doesn't mean you

          3  cannot apply for Medicaid.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  We have that

          5  recommendation.

          6                 MR. LINN:  Yes, the problem is we

          7  don't have it in enough numbers to make it

          8  significant.  Sometimes that happens, even while

          9  we're waiting for the Presumptive Medicaid

         10  legislation, if that could be increased, our lives

         11  would be a lot easier, and of course, our clients

         12  would get the benefits.

         13                 So I mean we're thrilled that this

         14  has been brought to public attention by the

         15  Committee.

         16                 There is a decent program that is

         17  starting, the Medicaid Grants Program has been

         18  helpful.  There are tremendous gaps in it, but it is

         19  an example of what would happen with Presumptive

         20  Medicaid.  Right now there is, and it's a well kept

         21  secret, you can get medication for clients coming

         22  out of Riker's Island, it's a one- page form, it's

         23  simple to fill out and they will give you the card

         24  in 20 minutes, and it will pay for medication up to

         25  three months.  It is not widely advertised, but it
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          2  is available, and it saved us enormous sums of

          3  money.  So I mean that is one process that is

          4  happening right now.

          5                 The other issue is that the real

          6  difficulty in this system is housing.  I mean we're

          7  struggling with Medicaid and that would be a

          8  blessing if we could get that Presumptive Medicaid.

          9  But the issue is that there are two separate

         10  systems, and our clients are 96 percent dually

         11  diagnosed.  So that is not the national average,

         12  which is 60 percent of our mentally ill population

         13  who use drugs, but our offenders from Riker's

         14  Island, our numbers seem to show that 96 percent use

         15  drugs.  Therefore, they fit in no system, the fit in

         16  neither the mental health system who loathes to take

         17  substance abusing offenders, and the substance

         18  abusing programs who loathes to take mentally ill

         19  offenders.  There is a sliver of MICA housing,

         20  probably 100 some odd beds in the entire City.  That

         21  has a bar built in called the New York/New York

         22  plan.  You have to be homeless.

         23                 Now Riker's Island that is an

         24  address, you don't qualify if you're in Riker's

         25  Island.  You could be in Riker's Island in a year,
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          2  if you had a house at one time, you're not homeless.

          3    If you had a house or an apartment that is gone,

          4  that you cannot go back to because you haven't been

          5  paying rent because you're in jail, you're not

          6  homeless.  If you have a case in Domestic Violence

          7  Court where your relative presses charges, and we

          8  get a lot of these, well you cannot go back to the

          9  house, they want you in treatment, but they don't

         10  want you in their house, you're still not homeless,

         11  even though there is an order from the court that

         12  you cannot go to those premises, you have a house,

         13  you're not homeless.

         14                 So even the beds that are available,

         15  MICA beds that are available, are so difficult to

         16  come by, they're such demand, and most of our

         17  clients are not eligible.  So I mean, we're really

         18  suffering with a number of issues.

         19                 I don't want to leave you with that

         20  nothing is happening, and you know, I told you that

         21  we get ways to around some of these issues.  The

         22  Brooklyn District Attorney has been wonderful.  I

         23  mean they have pioneered the work in working with

         24  mentally ill offenders and they have really taken

         25  charge, and they really control the gate of release.
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          2    So by their lead we have done amazing work in

          3  mentally ill diversions.

          4                 The Bronx District Attorney's Office

          5  in following that lead, maybe not trumpeting as

          6  loudly.  Because it is a risky issue for elected

          7  public District Attorney to start working with the

          8  population, when there is such bad publicity that

          9  comes down from the one in a thousand incidents, one

         10  out of 10,000 that hits the press, and we worry

         11  every day that, you know, that will be ours.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well then elected

         13  officials get elected to be leaders and to set

         14  policy that makes sense for the health and the well

         15  being of the City.  They should not be cowards when

         16  it comes down to deal with an issue that is serious

         17  and that have to be embraced, even if that cost them

         18  the position that they hold at the moment.

         19                 MR. LINN:  I agree.  And so the

         20  Brooklyn District Attorney has started with the

         21  population, and we have a number of people that are

         22  in treatment and mentally ill people who are in

         23  treatment instead of prison and jail, so is the

         24  Bronx District Attorney.  The numbers are not as

         25  great, but we probably have 150 seriously mentally
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          2  ill offenders coming out of the Bronx with the

          3  District Attorney's partnering with us, and we have

          4  placed them in treatment.

          5                 So the trend is developing, and now

          6  we need the resources, because we're desperate.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The last witness,

          9  please?

         10                 MR. GRESHAM:  Hi, I wanted to express

         11  my admiration for the people sitting on either side

         12  of me.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Can you pull the

         14  microphone toward you?

         15                 MR. GRESHAM:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Because it's not,

         17  I don't get you in the tape, and then I don't have

         18  the pleasure to hear you again, when I listen to

         19  that tape.  Okay, go ahead.

         20                 MR. GRESHAM:  Double pleasure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

         22                 MR. GRESHAM:  Thank you for inviting

         23  me.  I'm John Gresham from New York Lawyers for the

         24  Public Interest.  As you probably recall, we're one

         25  of the organizations working on the Brad H. Case,
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          2  Ray Brescia, who spoke earlier is another one of the

          3  attorneys on it, along with Debevoise and Plimpton.

          4  I was invited, and thank you for inviting me to

          5  comment on the resolution supporting the presumptive

          6  eligibility legislation.

          7                 This would be very helpful.  Even

          8  with a good jail discharge planning system that we

          9  don't have, it would be very helpful.  The reason

         10  for that is, that even a well running system is not

         11  going to succeed in getting Medicaid applications

         12  done and processed before people leave jails so that

         13  they have a Medicaid card in their hand.  The normal

         14  time for responding to a Medicaid applications is 45

         15  or 90 days depending on the basis for eligibility.

         16  And a lot of people are simply not in jail that

         17  long, even if they were promptly helped to apply,

         18  they would not have a decision.

         19                 Now New York City has the beginnings

         20  of a discharge planning program because of the Brad

         21  H. Case, and has some interesting policies on paper,

         22  but they don't work very well.  In theory, one of

         23  the early steps that is taken is to inquired from

         24  HRA whether a person is on Medicaid or has been.  If

         25  they're on Medicaid under this process they're
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          2  supposed to be kept on, not taken off.  If they have

          3  been in the last 12 months, they're supposed to be

          4  restored, reinstated without a new application.  And

          5  if neither of those is true, they're supposed to be

          6  assisted to apply prior to their release.  It looks

          7  great on paper, the problem is the numbers.

          8                 For reasons I cannot explain or

          9  justify, for an eight- month period from July last

         10  year to March of this year, the average number of

         11  people who run through that so- called Medicaid

         12  screening process was 262 a month.  Now during that

         13  time the City has had 51 discharge planners plus

         14  supervisors working on Riker's Island who do this

         15  and other discharge planning.  So that means on

         16  average each one of those discharge planners managed

         17  to pull off this process for 5.2 people per month.

         18  The number of people who were helped to actually

         19  apply anew for Medicaid, who weren't already on, we

         20  are told averaged about 51 per month during that

         21  period.  That is one new application per discharge

         22  planner per month.

         23                 You know about the Medication Grant

         24  Program, which is supposed to fill the gap between

         25  the time when someone leaves a hospital or a
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          2  correctional facility and their Medicaid application

          3  is acted upon, that is not filling the gap in New

          4  York, despite the fact that the City also has

          5  policies under which people are supposed to get

          6  that.

          7                 About March of 2001, the City

          8  estimated that 15,000 per year would be eligible for

          9  that program.  That is about, if you found them and

         10  had them apply, that would be 1,250 a month or so.

         11  The highest they have hit, so far that I know of,

         12  was in March of this year, which was 200.  So even a

         13  year into operating the program they're at one-

         14  sixth of what the number they estimate who are

         15  eligible.

         16                 Now there already is a presumptive

         17  eligibility program similar to the one that you're

         18  supporting for people who are in hospitals, regular

         19  hospitals, and who need Home Health Care to go home,

         20  and in order to get that, they need Medicaid.  And

         21  ultimately the rational is obvious, it would save

         22  money if people could get out of the hospital and

         23  get home.  So there is a presumptive eligibility

         24  system in place for them.

         25                 It doesn't work very well because the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            151

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  rate of reimbursement pending a full determination

          3  is only 65 percent of the normal rate of

          4  reimbursement.  But it has a five- day time limit,

          5  which I hope the State would apply, if we could get

          6  this provision passed.

          7                 If that were to occur, then that

          8  inmate prior to release could get a decision

          9  hopefully, within five days of an application being

         10  submitted.  That would result in a lot more people

         11  having Medicaid cards when they walk out of jail.

         12  Or if there is not an application before they leave,

         13  then they can a quick response after they leave.

         14                 Now for that to work well, HRA would

         15  have to implement well, and Riker's Island would

         16  have to do a good job, a big if, because people need

         17  medical documentation that they're mentally ill,

         18  seriously and persistently mentally ill in fact, and

         19  that they need continuing treatment.  That is one of

         20  the things required to get presumptive eligibility

         21  in place.  But if this were in place, it would be a

         22  useful addition to the policies that the City now

         23  has that we're trying to get it to actually,

         24  adequately follow.

         25                 The big problem in Albany that this
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          2  is perceived as a budget buster.  I think Dr.

          3  Landsberg mentioned that the Research Triangle in

          4  North Carolina is about to release data on the

          5  comparative cost of dealing with mentally ill people

          6  in behind bars, in correctional facilities or

          7  elsewhere.  And that happen, I didn't realize this

          8  from his testimony, but when I spoke to him after, I

          9  learned that that is New York City data, it's due

         10  out in about a month.  Maybe that will provide us

         11  some traction to get this thing to move.  It would

         12  be extremely helpful.

         13                 I applaud you for supporting it, and

         14  I thank you for inviting me.

         15                 MR. LINN:  Could I just say one quick

         16  word in conclusion?  We're part of the ATI Network,

         17  us, Nathaniel Project, CASES, and many other

         18  wonderful programs.  The Council put us all in the

         19  budget, but I understand that at the last moment

         20  that, you know, there are some tough budget

         21  decisions being made, and it is possible that all of

         22  us could lose our funding.  So I'm asking, I'm

         23  bringing it up now because the discussions are

         24  ongoing.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The information
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          2  that you, yes, Gale, I appreciate it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  You're still

          4  in the budget right now.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, it's not - -

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And we will

          7  do everything we can to keep you, it is already a

          8  commitment.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  That is not the

         10  case, let me explain to you, Gale Brewer and I, are

         11  bad people when it comes down to fight for things in

         12  that budget.  And she is the head of the Delegation

         13  of Manhattan and the Board negotiator for Manhattan

         14  in that Committee.  Then do you think that somebody

         15  is going to take our money away?  No, it's not going

         16  to happen.  Then so far, you're fine in there.  All

         17  right.

         18                 I want to ask a couple of questions

         19  to the Nathaniel Project.  The funding that you

         20  depend on is only and exclusively City funding that

         21  comes from the City Council, or it is funding that

         22  is combined?

         23                 MS. LOUISON:  Currently, our funding

         24  stream has been the majority from the City Council,

         25  the 300,000 per year.  And recently we got a DCPA
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          2  award, which is from the State level of 150,000.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Therefore, if

          4  your money disappeared from the City Council, you

          5  would not have no program?

          6                 MS. LOUISON:  Exactly.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  At this moment.

          8                 MS. LOUISON:  At this moment, right

          9  now.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And the dollars

         11  that you're receiving are exclusively a City Council

         12  initiative, or they are, they are only a City

         13  Council initiative.

         14                 MS. LOUISON:  Yes, yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Only?

         16                 MS. LOUISON:  Yes, that is my

         17  understanding, yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You don't receive

         19  no money from the Mental Health Department?

         20                 MS. LOUISON:  No, no, City Council.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  When do the State

         22  money come in for you?

         23                 MS. LOUISON:  July 1st.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And the amount of

         25  the dollars that comes from the State money is what?
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          2                 MS. LOUISON:  $150,000 per year.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, nothing

          4  else?

          5                 MS. LOUISON:  Nothing else currently.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, do you get

          7  any funding from private sources?

          8                 MS. LOUISON:  Most of all private

          9  foundations that I mentioned earlier are about to

         10  run out.  And we were fortunate when we started the

         11  program that the van Ameringen Foundation gave us

         12  $100,000, total of $300,000 over three years, yes,

         13  so that is about to run out.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then if you lose

         15  that money, what will be the impact on your program.

         16                 MS. LOUISON:  I think you said it

         17  before.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You will

         19  disappear?

         20                 MS. LOUISON:  Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, this

         22  information is very important, right now to me,

         23  because I have been fighting for an initiative in

         24  the budget that can be very useful and instrumental

         25  for your program.  Thank you.
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          2                 In regard of the clients that you

          3  see, how many of them come with Medicaid to you?

          4                 MS. LOUISON:  We have had, like we

          5  admitted 52 people to the program, and I was just

          6  checking with the staff, and only one person came

          7  with active Medicaid.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  One.

          9                 MS. LOUISON:  Right.  And we recently

         10  had an issue, we had a client who is going through

         11  the application to apply for Medicaid, and HRA has

         12  started this new system that he has to call in twice

         13  per month to confirm the status of his mental health

         14  condition.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You're kidding

         16  me?

         17                 MS. LOUISON:  No, this is part of a

         18  treatment plan that is initiated by HRA, is part of

         19  their system for proving someone's eligibility for

         20  Medicaid.  So the client was given a piece of paper

         21  and it has the dates marked out for the next three

         22  months from July, August and September, and he has

         23  to call in twice per month, and it says, this is

         24  your treatment plan, please call in, please give us

         25  the status of your mental condition, to confirm- -
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  The client has to

          3  call HRA to tell them what is the status of the

          4  mental condition?

          5                 MS. LOUISON:  Yes, right, to keep

          6  open his eligibility for Medicaid.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I know that you

          8  know that you are under oath, and you know that you

          9  cannot fool me here, right?

         10                 MS. LOUISON:  I can bring you copies

         11  of the paperwork, and I can exclude his name for his

         12  confidentiality.  But we have had to ensure,

         13  Anderson has had to ensure that he has informed

         14  everybody involved with the client, because it says,

         15  if you don't call in, this could effect your

         16  eligibility for benefits.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  When did you

         18  receive this directive.

         19                 MS. LOUISON:  I think it was like a

         20  week ago, yes, it was about 10 days ago, when the

         21  client went for one of the appointments that you

         22  need to go to, to get Medicaid and Public

         23  Assistance, he was given this document.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I need to see

         25  that document, if you please could give it to me, I
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          2  would appreciate this very much.

          3                 MS. LOUISON:  I will get it to you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  I

          5  thank all of you for coming to testify, you have

          6  been more than helpful.

          7                 Gale Brewer has questions for you.

          8  I'm sorry.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  That is okay.

         10    My question is this, the State, when the

         11  individuals are released from the State, there is a

         12  discharge plan much more regularly than from the

         13  City; is that correct?

         14                 MS. LOUISON:  That is my

         15  understanding, but people who are much more familiar

         16  with the system have complained that it's not 100

         17  percent perfect either.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  No,

         19  absolutely not.  But then the question is, I mean I

         20  do remember the Donna Shalala decision, I was

         21  working for the City government at the time, and how

         22  pleased we were.  And I was under the

         23  misunderstanding that it was continuing.

         24                 What do you think these 51 discharge

         25  planners do at Riker's?  They're all at Riker's, I
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          2  guess, I mean I don't know what I would do with 51

          3  people, I mean it's like, I would be so happy, what

          4  do 51 people do?

          5                 MS. DUBLIN:  Can I venture a

          6  speculation on what they do?  What happens is that

          7  there is not a very good system of communication

          8  among the systems in Riker's Island.  So therefore,

          9  what happens with the discharge planners, as I

         10  understand it, is when they're trying to get a

         11  psycho- social from one Mental Health Department,

         12  they cannot access the social workers.  When they're

         13  trying to get a psychiatric eval or a medical eval,

         14  or a PPD, anyone of these health systems does not

         15  cooperate to provide the paperwork necessary to

         16  proceed with some applications.  And I will say that

         17  in defense of the very many good discharge planners

         18  that I worked with, have met us in parking lots to

         19  give us medication grant cards that were not

         20  processed in a timely fashion.  Have met us on

         21  Sunday, or met us on a Saturday, and so that has

         22  happened. But it really seems to be a Riker's Island

         23  problem, and a problem of apathy, perhaps.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  But is there

         25  a systematic, I mean systematic, for instance, there
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          2  are many ATIs, I served on Andrew Glover's Youth

          3  Program, Board of Directors for 15 years, I was

          4  Veritases (phonetic) Board of Directors for 25

          5  years.  So I'm familiar with some of these programs.

          6    Is there any kind of an ongoing official

          7  discussion between the ATIs, for instance, and any

          8  other persons who are working on these issues with

          9  the discharge planners from Correction?

         10                 MR. LINN:  We have had quite a number

         11  of meetings with them through the year.  You know

         12  that the contract at Riker's Island was given to

         13  Prison Health Services.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I do.

         15                 MR. LINN:  It took them a long time

         16  to get their staff, especially the discharge plan up

         17  to speed.  And they made mistakes, but they were

         18  hardworking and we knew a lot of them, and they were

         19  trying very hard.

         20                 It seems now that the City has taken

         21  back the discharge planning contract.  So now there

         22  is going to be a whole new group.  So if they were

         23  training them, and now just fully trained and now

         24  another group is coming in and that is like the

         25  third set of discharge planners within a year and a
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          2  half.  It takes a long time to learn the job and the

          3  connections.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  It definitely

          5  does.

          6                 MR. LINN:  So that alone is an

          7  impediment to ever getting anywhere.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  To the Nathaniel

         10  people, do you think that the people in HRA know

         11  that mental illness is a chronic disease and there

         12  is no cure for it, yet?

         13                 MS. LOUISON:  Our experience is that

         14  our clients have to go to, I think you have to go to

         15  an average of about seven or eight appointments to

         16  get your Medicaid and Public Assistance, and these

         17  are different, like first you go to the case

         18  management office, and you go to the first office,

         19  then they send you to EVR, which is in Brooklyn to

         20  verify your documentation and that you're the person

         21  that you say you are.  Then you go to HH systems, if

         22  you're someone who is trying to get an exemption on

         23  the basis of your mental illness.  Then you go to

         24  the substance abuse people, who will screen you and

         25  say, well, although you may suffer from
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          2  schizophrenia but you also have a diagnosis of poly

          3  EE substance abuse, then we're going to arrange for

          4  you to go into residential drug treatment.

          5                 And you know, like we have to then

          6  fight with them on the phone and in person, because

          7  we have our clients at these interventions.  And

          8  then you go back to your case manager and to prove

          9  that you have been to the places that your supposed

         10  to prove and that you returned the paperwork.  And

         11  so if you were going to say that their system was

         12  coordinated and was respectful of the fact that

         13  people are mentally ill and don't need to go through

         14  that stress, and the fact that workers don't need to

         15  go through that stress, because even if you are in

         16  apparent good mental health, it is a very stressful

         17  experience anyway, then I don't think it is.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then I guess they

         19  don't know that it is a chronic disease, that we

         20  don't have a cure for it, yet, I guess they don't

         21  know.

         22                 Okay, thank you.  Thank you to all of

         23  you.

         24                 MR. GRESHAM:  May I add one thing?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.
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          2                 MR. GRESHAM:  Without going beyond

          3  what is public, as I understand it when the

          4  planning, the discharge planning program at Riker's

          5  was taken back by HHC, most of the workers are

          6  transferring over from PHS to HHC.

          7                 And as to what they were doing in the

          8  last year, and what the 51 people accomplished and

          9  didn't, I cannot answer that or justify it, but I

         10  can tell you that I have heard neither voicemail nor

         11  email.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right.

         13                 MR. GRESHAM:  So go figure.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So what

         15  you're saying, I think, Madam Chair, is that this

         16  group was contracted out and is now going to be an

         17  HHC employee?  I was a little confused about that.

         18  I would be curious about that.

         19                 MR. GRESHAM:  In the main, when new

         20  people were hired in April 2001, there were some

         21  existing staff that worked for HHC already, 39 new

         22  planners and some supervisors and some support staff

         23  were added in about April of 2001, they went to work

         24  for PHS. And I think I can say this without going

         25  beyond what is public, that function is being taken
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          2  back by HHC, though staff are going to be working

          3  for HHC.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Well that is

          5  good.  I must admit this is a kind of job, those of

          6  us who worked in the system for many, many years, as

          7  I have, know, and the Chairwoman knows that you have

          8  to, that there is no way to learn our City, if you

          9  don't do it for a very long time, there is just no

         10  way.  And if you keep going from contract to

         11  contract, it gets cut as a worker, there is now way

         12  you're going to provide an ongoing service that is

         13  of any benefit to anybody.  So this is the kind of

         14  position that, in my opinion, absolutely should be a

         15  very long- term contract or a City worker who

         16  develops an expertise over time that then can be

         17  shared and used effectively in the community.

         18                 So I hope we can look further at

         19  that.

         20                 MR. GRESHAM:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  We will, and I

         22  want to clarify one more time, Dr. Chu was invited

         23  to come here today to testify. For the benefit of

         24  all of us to learn which ways that we're handling

         25  the illness of people in the City, because after all
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          2  this is a health problem, not a criminal problem.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 ALL:  Thank you.

          5                 MS. BOLANOS:  Our next panel of

          6  witnesses are: Bob Corliss, Leah Gitter, and we have

          7  a large group here from Howie Harp Peer Specialist

          8  School, we would like to have one representative

          9  testify or two.  We have Andy Barfield, but we would

         10  like for you to stand up so we know who you are.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Wait, I'm not

         12  understanding this.  I would like to call the panel

         13  as the last one, and I would like to call all of

         14  them in at the same time.  Is that okay with you?

         15  Thank you.

         16                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay, all right, so

         17  this panel will be Bob Corliss, Leah Gitter, and

         18  Nahama Broner.  Ms. Broner is not here, oh, is she

         19  here?  Yes, thank you.

         20                 Please raise your right hand?  Do you

         21  each, independently, swear to tell the truth and to

         22  the best of your knowledge in the testimony that

         23  you're going to give before this Committee?

         24                 ALL:  Yes.

         25                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay.  Please state
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          2  your name and organization before you begin your

          3  testimony?  And we will start with Mr. Corliss, then

          4  Ms. Gitter and then Ms. Broner.  Thank you.

          5                 MR. CORLISS:  Is this on.

          6                 MS. BOLANOS:  Yes.

          7                 MR. CORLISS:  Okay.  My name is Bob

          8  Corliss.  I'm the Associate Director for Criminal

          9  Justice for the National Alliance to Mentally Ill of

         10  New York State, based in Albany, and I'm here today

         11  to present testimony on behalf of our President,

         12  Michael Silverberg, who is based in New York City,

         13  but who was unable to be here today.

         14                 First, NAMI- New York State would

         15  like to thank Councilwoman Margarita Lopez and

         16  members of the Committee for the opportunity to

         17  testify at this hearing today, and also to applaud

         18  the Chairperson and the Committee for holding this

         19  hearing. Because as I think you have heard from so

         20  many people so far, and I will not repeat it all,

         21  there is such a tremendous need out there that is so

         22  easy for most of us to overlook and most of the

         23  world never to see.  And it is an issue, there are

         24  any number of issues and topics here that have to be

         25  brought to the fore and have to be addressed, and I
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          2  will try to speak to those in part.

          3                 For those who do not know, NAMI is a

          4  grassroots, self- help and advocacy organization

          5  founded by family members dedicated to improving the

          6  lives of all persons affected by mental illness.

          7                 Since the beginning of 2000, NAMI-

          8  NYS, based in Albany, has been providing advocacy

          9  services to persons with mental illness and their

         10  families when such persons encounter the criminal

         11  justice system.  To date we have intervened on

         12  behalf of over 350 persons with a mental illness who

         13  are somehow caught up in the justice system.

         14                 By way of introduction, I think it is

         15  important to recognize certain facts, which shape

         16  the context in which the criminal justice system

         17  deals with persons with psychiatric disorders.

         18                 First, persons with mental Illness,

         19  all other factors being equal, experience a 64

         20  percent greater chance of being arrested.

         21                 Secondly, persons with a mental

         22  illness are twice as likely to be incarcerated.  And

         23  we know that about 11 percent of our jail and prison

         24  population in New York State are persons with a

         25  serious mental illness.  That represents over 10,000
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          2  persons with well over 2,000 of these persons

          3  located in New York City jails. We also know that

          4  between 30 and 50 percent of these persons are

          5  locked up, - -  I'm sorry - -  between 30 and 50

          6  percent of those persons locked up in punitive

          7  segregation, what is called disciplinary housing,

          8  sometimes known as "the box" or the "bing," as it is

          9  at Riker's Island, are persons with a serious mental

         10  illness.  This is a much more disproportionate

         11  number than is the larger number of people in our

         12  prison system.

         13                 It is no wonder that Fox Butterfield,

         14  writing in the New York Times in 1999, said that the

         15  last bastion of discrimination in this country is

         16  reserved for those persons with mental illness who

         17  must confrontation the criminal justice system.

         18                 However, what I want to speak a bit

         19  more today, in part, is the absolute dearth of

         20  treatment and services in the community for this

         21  population, and I think you're hearing that

         22  indirectly from some people, more directly from

         23  others.  But the dearth of treatment, whether we're

         24  talking case managers, psychiatric treatment slots,

         25  ACT programs, MICA treatment programs, residential
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          2  treatment slots, appropriate housing, the whole nine

          3  yards of what might constitute alternative to

          4  incarceration, and diversion programs, is obviously

          5  more the villain.  Where ATI program and Diversion

          6  program have become almost the norm among other

          7  first time offender groups or those charged with

          8  minor offenses, including persons with addiction

          9  problems, this is not nearly the case for persons

         10  who also present with a psychiatric disorder.

         11                 What I would like to do is to provide

         12  you with a sampling of some of the kinds of clients

         13  who come to our attention. I can assure you that in

         14  all these cases these are situations in which family

         15  members, friends or therapists sought valiantly to

         16  get anyone in either the mental health system or the

         17  criminal justice system to observe what they

         18  observed and to help move a person into treatment

         19  before something worst happened.  Unfortunately, in

         20  each case, a family member or a friend or a

         21  therapist was unable to do that.

         22                 The first person, I'm going to call

         23  Same, is 29 years- old, completed two years of

         24  college before he fell victim to the scourge of

         25  schizophrenia.  After being sentenced to State
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          2  prison, an unmedicated Same received two additional

          3  sentences for throwing urine and feces at Correction

          4  officers, and have spent nearly all of his sentence

          5  in punitive segregation, the proverbial "box."  As I

          6  said earlier at the beginning, people with mental

          7  illness do not handle the stressors of incarceration

          8  well. Recently, after receiving medication and

          9  psychiatric treatment at the Central New York

         10  Psychiatric facility, Sam is acting more like his

         11  old self, but soon will be returning to prison and

         12  the "box." So what happens next?

         13                 Mike is 24- years- old and was

         14  convicted of Attempted Criminal Sale of a Controlled

         15  Substance and received a two- to six year sentence,

         16  which grew to three and half years to nine, because

         17  of contraband possession in prison.  At the current

         18  rate, Mike will be in the box until he is released

         19  at the expiration of his sentence in 2005.  He

         20  suffers from a serious and persistent mental illness

         21  and his story goes back to junior high school, as

         22  well as his family's frustration in getting "the

         23  system" to help in a more enlightened fashion.

         24                 Trent is a 26- year- old male with a

         25  diagnosis of Bipolar Disorder II and a very
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          2  questionable robbery conviction. Trent will serve

          3  his maximum prison term because of his inability to

          4  adapt to prison, and be released next month.

          5  However, Trent is not returning to the Bronx as he

          6  will be transferred to a civil psychiatric hospital,

          7  where one can only hope that he will receive the

          8  kind of treatment that is not available in the

          9  prison system. Arguably, another waste of five years

         10  of someone's life, as well as a waste of criminal

         11  justice resources.

         12                 Finally, Stan is a 33- year- old male

         13  with a long history of serious mental illness and

         14  drug use who was convicted of drug charges and who

         15  sleeps his life away in a Clinton Prison jail cell.

         16  Stan does not engage in any misbehavior, but

         17  participates in no activities or programs, appearing

         18  to wait out his nine- year jail sentence which

         19  expires in 2004.  He refuses to take any mediation,

         20  refuses visits with his family, and relayed word to

         21  his visiting his mother  some months ago that maybe

         22  he would come down to see her next year when she

         23  visited again.  Actually, Stan was returned to

         24  Clinton because he jumped a turnstile two years ago,

         25  violated his parole and refused to go to a treatment
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          2  program at Riker's Island.

          3                 To be honest, this is just the tip of

          4  the iceberg of the cases which come to our

          5  attention.  And behind each person with a prison DIN

          6  number, identification number, it is almost always a

          7  story of what could have happened, what should have

          8  happened, and what would have happened, if there was

          9  appropriate intervention early on.

         10                 It is a tragedy to observe so many of

         11  our family members, friends, and clients treated as

         12  out and out criminals when we know that their

         13  behavior is very much the product of their brain

         14  disorder.  It is also a different form of tragedy to

         15  know that we spend vast sums of money to treat our

         16  clients as criminals and inmates, when, in fact, it

         17  would be far more economically prudent to

         18  decriminalize their behavior and to provide

         19  appropriate treatment and social services.

         20                 We, therefore, appealing to you to

         21  recognize the decency and fiscal responsibility call

         22  for not just the mechanisms to diverticulitis our

         23  clients, but also for enhanced community mental

         24  health programs that can accommodate so many person

         25  now treated as criminals.  Over the long haul, they
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          2  are not necessarily expensive or difficult to

          3  establish, but do require a recognition of all that

          4  is wrong with our current system.

          5                 We thank you for the opportunity to

          6  speak and we would be pleased to answer any

          7  questions.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Thank you

          9  very much. Maybe the speaker wants to go and then we

         10  will come back to questions.

         11                 MR. CORLISS:  That is fine.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  The

         13  Chairwoman will be right back.  Who would like to go

         14  next, go ahead.  Thank you.

         15                 MS. GITTER:  Okay, thank you for

         16  holding this hearing.  My name is Leah Gitter, and I

         17  am Co- facilitator of the NAMI Criminally Justice

         18  Support Group.  Our group of family members meet

         19  once and sometimes twice a month to share our

         20  stories of our loved ones who have become involved

         21  in the criminal justice system because of their

         22  mental illness.

         23                 The public continually hears horrible

         24  stories about the lack of treatment programs and

         25  psychiatric care that is available to people with

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            174

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  psychiatric disorders.  When a loved one is

          3  arrested, the nightmare increases and the

          4  frustrations for all involved become almost

          5  irresolvable.

          6                 The support group was formed by two

          7  family members because of the lack of education,

          8  information and resources for families on how to

          9  navigate the criminal justice system.  I have been

         10  totally submerged in this advocacy because I cannot

         11  be flippant when our loved ones are being treated

         12  like criminals.  I am also outraged by the injustice

         13  and cruelty that is inflicted on this disabled

         14  population.  Every problem this group has is

         15  exacerbated by incarceration.

         16                 My personal experience shows all the

         17  deficits of the ATI programs and how one person's

         18  life has been destroyed by inadequate treatment.  My

         19  story is only one example of how the lack of

         20  continuity of services and the absence of a safety

         21  net with risk management results in criminalization.

         22

         23                 My godson, Robert, is diagnosed with

         24  Axis I Bipolar condition.  Along the course of his

         25  illness, he became dually diagnosed.  He is
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          2  currently serving a two and half to 20- year

          3  sentence because of the lack of appropriate MICA

          4  programs.  Robert was placed in ATI with the Link

          5  Program.  He had three experiences with placement in

          6  programs by Link for the first incident he was

          7  involved in.  Not one of them included a MICA

          8  program, not one of them was client base treatment

          9  designed to serve the most difficult clients.

         10                 Now I can summarize the next part, if

         11  you want, about the program.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  That

         13  would be great, go ahead.

         14                 MS. GITTER:  In a short, would you

         15  like a shorter version of his history?

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  We would

         17  love it, we would love it, thank you.

         18                 MS. GITTER:  The first program was

         19  Project Return, which is a substance abuse program,

         20  and actually he was being successful there, and the

         21  doctor, Dr. Goldberger, thought he was so successful

         22  he stopped his medication, and Robert decompensated,

         23  was hospitalized and was never able to rebound from

         24  that decompensation, so he was thrown out of the

         25  program.  He went to the judge, the judge remanded
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          2  him to Riker's, and he spent four months in Riker's

          3  waiting for another placement, during that time he

          4  did not get medication steadily or treatment, and he

          5  was in a very violent environment.

          6                 He went to a second program, which

          7  was Washington Heights Mid- Hudson Supervised

          8  Residence.  Once again, it was just a residence all

          9  the services were outside of the program, and he

         10  broke a rule, I think he left the facility at the

         11  wrong time.  They had him arrested in the middle of

         12  the night and taken back to Riker's, and he waited

         13  another four months before he was placed in the

         14  Bizmar Community Residence, which is a residence,

         15  and the program that he was in there was with FEGS

         16  on the outside.  And he broke curfew one night and

         17  they threw him out and then he went back to Riker's.

         18                 So the system is set up to become a

         19  revolving door. Robert was in desperate need of a

         20  MICA program that was not resistant to helping

         21  clients.  Perhaps if one had been available to him,

         22  he would not have committed the two impulsive acts

         23  that he has been punished for so severely.

         24                 Judge McLaughlin, with the help of

         25  Hillel Bodek, a forensic social worker, who works
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          2  for the City and the prosecutor and uninterested

          3  private lawyer, Patrick Joyce, sealed his fate. He

          4  was sentence to one to seven for one act as a D

          5  crime, and one and a half to seven for another to be

          6  served consecutively.  The number 20 is the

          7  accumulation of the top numbers of his three cases.

          8  Even though it is a legal sentence, the top number

          9  seven is not the usual sentence for a low- level

         10  crime.  Judge McLauglin was not pleased with

         11  Robert's history with the programs.  Judge

         12  McLaughlin called him non- compliant.  And there is

         13  a pervasive attitude in the courts in the mental

         14  health system to blame the client when treatment

         15  fails.  Instead of services being there to help the

         16  client, the client is punished if he does not

         17  comply.

         18                 Programs should meet the needs of the

         19  client, instead of the client having to meet the

         20  needs of the program. Judge McLauglin never invested

         21  the adequacy of the programs or considered the

         22  adequacy of the treatment for the MICA problem

         23  Robert was having.  The judge said at the sentencing

         24  that he hoped that Robert would access the help he

         25  needed in prison.  I found this to be a chilling
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          2  statement.  It showed how little he understood about

          3  mental illness and how little information he had on

          4  the lack of appropriate MICA programs in the

          5  community.

          6                 Robert has now served over five years

          7  in the New York State prison system.  The release

          8  his lawyer promised him he would get at two and a

          9  half, if he took the plea, did not happen. It is

         10  possible that he will serve up to 14 years for his

         11  actions. A sentence that could have been avoided had

         12  he had the treatment that he needed.  This is a very

         13  sad situation, I tell you.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON BREWER:  Very sad.

         15                 DR. BRONER:  Thank you for inviting

         16  me here.  I'm Nahama Broner.  I work for Research

         17  Triangle Institute as a Senior Research Psychologist

         18  and an adjunct associate professor at New York

         19  University.  And if there is time, I will mention

         20  some stuff about the cost that came up earlier about

         21  the infamous ATI Report that everyone is waiting

         22  for.

         23                 I'm going to try, since it is very

         24  late in the day, to do just a little bit of numbers,

         25  because I know people are exhausted, and refer to a
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          2  couple of studies.  One of them was conducted in the

          3  Brooklyn Arraignment Court with a random sample of

          4  300 adults and general population, and 44

          5  emotionally disturbed persons coming in, again,

          6  randomly selected and then interviewed for their

          7  needs.

          8                 In terms of the general population,

          9  leaving out the EDPs, 18 percent by standardized

         10  testing came up with a serious current mental

         11  illness, and this again goes to some of the number

         12  that you talked about earlier.  Twenty- five percent

         13  had a history of serious mental illness.  Serious

         14  mental illness here being defined as a

         15  schizophrenia, a major depressive disorder, and a

         16  bipolar disorder, I'm going to use those terms

         17  conservatively today.

         18                 Within that as the context, over the

         19  last several years, as you well know, there are a

         20  number of post- booking diversion programs.  We have

         21  done some work on pre- booking, I'm going to confine

         22  my comments to post- booking diversion today.

         23                 We looked at a study of the New York

         24  City Link Diversion programs that we just completed

         25  over the last four years, and had a one- year
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          2  follow- up, 231 clients were looked at, over half

          3  male, the majority Black and Hispanic in their mid-

          4  thirties, the average age, 11 years of education, 19

          5  percent AIDS, over half with children under the age

          6  of 12, these are all, I could sort of keep going,

          7  these are common kinds of statistics.  I have it in

          8  your materials and I also have full reports that I

          9  can submit as well.

         10                 Three- quarters of these in the Link

         11  Diversion programs were,  - -  should I stop for a

         12  moment?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You said

         14  something, did you say that half of them were age

         15  12?

         16                 DR. BRONER:  No, half of them had

         17  children under 12.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Oh.

         19                 DR. BRONER:  Because one other thing

         20  that has not been discussed here today, among

         21  several other items, is that many of these clients

         22  have families, both men and women.  And many of

         23  these children are also then, now involved in the

         24  system, and in some very, you know, desperate

         25  conditions at the same time that their parents were
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          2  not also being treated.

          3                 About three- quarters are charged

          4  with felonies in this program, and I'm just going to

          5  quickly go through some main stuff.  But what we did

          6  not know, there were about two articles out on

          7  diversion, there has been no empirical evidence

          8  other than this. We were funded along with nine

          9  other sites by SAMHSA to be able to start to look at

         10  that, and New York City was one of the selected

         11  sites.

         12                 So what did we find?  Diversion in

         13  itself, we didn't find a lot.  We found that there

         14  was some, the trend towards less jail time spent,

         15  and that people used, community used emergency room

         16  services less, which is important from a cost

         17  perspective.  We also found that there is no

         18  increased risk for violence or for recidivism when

         19  they were compared to those not diverted.

         20                 Then we broke it down and looked at

         21  different types of diversion.  When we looked at

         22  mandated diversion, that is diversion like the TASC

         23  model or the Nathaniel model in which the court is

         24  involved, at that point there are a whole number of

         25  findings that we were able to sort of start to find.
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          2    Individuals were less likely to spend time in

          3  prison in relationship to the comparison subjects,

          4  as well as less likely to be in jail.  They received

          5  more services, even while they were in jail, let

          6  alone when they came out of jail, if they were in a

          7  mandated program.

          8                 Ninety- five percent of those in the

          9  mandated diversion programs received residential

         10  treatment or outpatient counseling over the course

         11  of the year, as opposed to sixty- seven percent, if

         12  they were non- mandated programs, and they had

         13  reduced drug and alcohol use of 12 months.

         14                 In terms of treatment, again, and

         15  often studies have not been clear on this, it turns

         16  out that residential outpatient or medication

         17  compliance significantly predicted, 50 percent of

         18  the explanation of why people would not recidivate,

         19  was due to their being in community treatment.  It

         20  was a powerful predictor of reduction in substance

         21  abuse, of reduction in misdemeanor re arrests, of

         22  reduction in felony re- arrests, of length of stay

         23  in jail, even on your current offense, let alone

         24  subsequent offenses.

         25                 In terms of cost, RTI is preparing

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            183

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  the report, I have seen the first draft, it should

          3  be out within about a week. We did some, and it is

          4  based on New York City data, as much as we could get

          5  in cooperation from the various City agencies, as

          6  well as cost that we collected from clients and

          7  family members.  But in general, the implications,

          8  when we started to look at the cost, was that if you

          9  just take the reduction in the emergency room costs,

         10  and you take the reduction in the recycling through,

         11  there were, indeed, potential cost savings.

         12                 Further, and this is important, as

         13  opposed to just cost shifting, it doesn't mean that

         14  jail services are not needed. Clearly, it is needed

         15  for diversion purposes, it's needed for entry

         16  purposes, it's needed for stabilization.  The cost

         17  savings is probably court costs on sort of the

         18  repeat.

         19                 The other reason that jail services

         20  are needed is that some clients, actually, decide

         21  not to take a different disposition; some charges

         22  are too violent; some people are not able to be

         23  diverted at that moment, but will need those

         24  services to be able to be engaged into discharge

         25  planning or what we call nationally re- entry.
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          2                 I'm not going to go into, but I have

          3  it if you need it, in the general sort of random

          4  sample of the arraignment population, Medicaid and

          5  other kinds of issues, just so you know in terms of

          6  their population description, very briefly,

          7  recommendations.

          8                 Clearly, I think diversion should be

          9  mandated.  It is in Connecticut, it is in a number

         10  of other places, there should be legislation.

         11                 There needs to be, I personally think

         12  it should happen very early in the system, at

         13  arraignment, but it needs to happen at a number of

         14  points in the continuum.  As much as I'm delighted

         15  to have been part of looking at all of these

         16  programs over the last five years, there are no

         17  formal pre- booking programs, as you're well aware

         18  of in New York City.  My colleagues, around the

         19  country, who we study these programs with, are doing

         20  very good work, have very good outcomes, and I'm

         21  hoping that you will be successful now in beginning

         22  to get a collaboration together for this research,

         23  and for real program in collaboration work.

         24                 There needs to be an identification

         25  system, which I have not heard people talk about.
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          2  This issue of screening and assessment, you know,

          3  people are sort of talking in big ways. Nobody knows

          4  how to figure out who needs services or who is

          5  coming into the system, let alone, how do you

          6  identify even on the street, we're even talking

          7  about EDPs in a clump, and indeed, there are really

          8  different population within that population.

          9                 They're already screening that is

         10  occurring right now, in the arraignment courts, but

         11  they don't add substance abuse and they don't ask

         12  mental health questions.  There may be ways to

         13  increase identification and linkage between the

         14  court systems and the jail systems so that people

         15  can get much quicker kinds of treatment, not wait

         16  for 104 days before they're even seen for diversion.

         17    And I think that can probably be done with very

         18  little expense.

         19                 Very quickly, other issues, which I

         20  will not, for time sake, go into, but I echo my

         21  colleagues here on MICA beds. Again, in terms of

         22  national studies and local studies, the outcomes are

         23  stunningly poor for the dually diagnosed population.

         24    This is a population in which every single thing

         25  you can imagine from no unemployment to HIV to
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          2  recidivism, family relationships, violence, not just

          3  childhood abuse in which the rates are extremely

          4  high, but becoming victims as adults, as well as

          5  perpetrators.  MICA beds are needed.  Treatment

          6  works, even mediocre treatment seems to help

          7  recidivism, which is the good news.  Now let's,

          8  hopefully, we can get treatment better, but

          9  treatment works and we need specialized MICA beds.

         10  We also need credentialing for staff.  There is no,

         11  there are minimum standards from OMH and OASIS that

         12  have just come out, but they're not mandatory.  And

         13  there is no credentialing program for dual diagnosis

         14  treatment providers, that is needed.              Memoranda

         15  of understandings, which occur on the State level,

         16  did not occur on the City level in terms of the

         17  mental health substance abuse probation corrections.

         18    And there is the need for task forces that really

         19  have some sort of legislative umbrella to them.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you to the

         22  three of you, I appreciate very much your testimony.

         23    And I hope that you know that we're going to

         24  follow- up on this whole issue and we're going to

         25  accomplish something in here.
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          2                 Gale, do you have any questions?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I was going

          4  to say it is very thorough, the hour is late, if it

          5  wasn't, I would ask questions but we will do so at

          6  another time.

          7                 MR. CORLISS:  If I could make just

          8  one more comment on the MICA program?  MICA, and I

          9  think that Dr. Broner is kind of implying it in

         10  part, everybody, I mean, people use that term in a

         11  very loose way.  Oftentimes when there are MICA

         12  programs is basically a drug treatment program, and

         13  they add a little bit of mental health on, really

         14  it's not a MICA program.  It's not what other people

         15  might refer to as an integrated treatment program

         16  where you really integrate the treatment that really

         17  applies for a person with a mental illness as well

         18  as a drug problem.

         19                 And oftentimes our population get

         20  pushed into these drug treatment programs that have

         21  maybe a little bit of mental health treatment, which

         22  is very poor.  And I think in Leah's situation that

         23  she described, that was the case a couple of times,

         24  that is a major problem.   I'm not sure that OMH and

         25  the State level is addressing.  They have a plan for
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          2  it, and I guess there are ideas, and there are talks

          3  of cross- training people, mental health people in

          4  drug abuse, and drug abuse in mental health.  But

          5  clearly when you look at the world for MICA

          6  treatment, really there is very, very little true

          7  MICA treatment programs, that is a release big

          8  problem.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I just want to

         10  give you a piece of information, I used to be a

         11  person who worked with the severe mentally ill who

         12  was homeless in Central Park.  And I did that work

         13  for 15 years of my life.  Then I'm very familiarized

         14  with the population and what works and doesn't work.

         15    I used to work in Project Reach Out, which is a

         16  place that gave me the opportunity to become more

         17  human, and I appreciate that.  Then, I understand

         18  what you're talking about.

         19                 MR. CORLISS:  Good, thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  Thank

         21  you very much to the three of you.

         22                 The last panel.

         23                 MS. BOLANOS:  The last panel are the

         24  representatives from Howie The Harp, Mr. Philip

         25  Kirschner, and Mr. Hyman Silverglad, and all of the
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          2  representatives, Mr. Andy Barfield, Mr. Raymond

          3  Ortiz, Mrs. Doris Shambley, she left, okay.  Mr.

          4  Jeffrey Trice, Mrs. Jeneen Brown, Mr. Samuel Joseph.

          5    Okay.  We will start with testimony from the

          6  representatives from Howard T. Harp, and then we

          7  will go to Mr. Philip Kirschner, and then Mr. Hyman

          8  Silverglad.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And before you

         10  proceed, I want to tell you that I have the benefit

         11  to be a friend of Howie.  We knew each other for

         12  many years, and we shared a lot of work during the

         13  time that we were in the trenches.  That is all.

         14                 MS. BOLANOS:  Please raise your right

         15  hand, all of you, I'm going to swear you in all at

         16  one time?  Do you each, independently, swear that

         17  the testimony you're about to provide before this

         18  Committee is the whole truth and to the best of the

         19  knowledge?

         20                 ALL: Yes.

         21                 MS. BOLANOS:  Okay, please state your

         22  name and organization before you begin your

         23  testimony, thank you.

         24                 MR. BARFIELD:  Hello, Council, my

         25  name is Andy Barfield, and I am the graduate of
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          2  Howard T. Harp Peer Advocacy Specialist Training

          3  School.  Like I said, my name is Andy Barfield, I'm

          4  a Forensic Mental Health consumer, who suffers from

          5  Bipolar Disorder.  I would like to share my

          6  testimony concerning services provided for the

          7  mentally ill while I was incarcerated, which is just

          8  recent as of April 2000.

          9                 I would like to back up a little bit.

         10    I was, I experienced diversion through Brooklyn

         11  Courts back in the year of August 1999.  I was

         12  referred to a MICA program for the first time in my

         13  life for treatment.  I remained in that program for

         14  two years, it was very successful.  I gained

         15  employment after the program and I worked

         16  successfully for a year, until I encountered some

         17  problems where I was wrongfully terminated from a

         18  job and experienced personal problems.  I started

         19  decompensating while I was in school.  During the

         20  period of the month of April, I started

         21  decompensating rapidly, just before my arrest.  I

         22  requested assistance from my doctor at Kings County

         23  Hospital, but because of overbooking, I wasn't going

         24  to be seen until two weeks after my request.

         25                 I couldn't be admitted to a hospital
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          2  unless I was a danger to myself or others, which

          3  wasn't my case.  My manic stage started escalating

          4  borderline psychosis.  Needless to say, I committed

          5  a crime.  Due to my impaired mental state, I was

          6  arrested for shop lifting.  I need to say, it was

          7  clear to the security guards and the arresting

          8  officer then my judgement was impaired, because I

          9  did not contrive to conceal the shop lifting.

         10                 And when I was confronted by the six

         11  officers, I had thought I had did nothing wrong.  I

         12  was told by the arresting officers, when I got to

         13  Central Booking, in order to see the judge much

         14  quicker that I was to say that I had no medical or

         15  mental problems.  I found out that that wasn't true.

         16    I was detained at the Brooklyn House of Detention,

         17  it was there that I had seen the medical staff.  It

         18  was then that I advised them of a medical and mental

         19  conditions.  The next day I was placed on

         20  medication, needless to say, I wasn't placed back on

         21  the medication, which my doctor outside gave me.

         22                 Four days later, I was transferred to

         23  C73 Riker's Island, where it took them three days to

         24  give me medication.  I requested to see a doctor to

         25  change my medication.  It took a week, and upon
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          2  seeing the doctor I was placed back on my original

          3  medication.  One week after the doctor decided to

          4  increase my medication, but when I went to get my

          5  medication the forms he did not have the order.  It

          6  took two more weeks for them to get my new

          7  prescription from the doctor.

          8                 I was told by the judge, because I

          9  had advised him that I wanted post- booking

         10  diversion, because I had worked with NAMI over the

         11  course of the three years, I have also worked with

         12  Pre- advocacy School, so I had some knowledge of

         13  regulations, because I was also working with Judge

         14  Dennis.  And when I asked for post- booking, my

         15  plea- bargain went from 30 days to a year.

         16                 In the midst of getting advocacy

         17  through Peer, through Howie the Harp School and my

         18  Legal Aide representative, and NAMI, and family

         19  members, they finally decided to arrange some post-

         20  booking diversion.  I put in a request to see the

         21  doctor as I returned back to Riker's Island so I

         22  could get the letter that the Judge requested for my

         23  treatment.  It took them two weeks to respond to my

         24  request, which prolonged the diversion process.

         25  Even with intervention from my lawyer, the process
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          2  of getting adequate service was to no avail.  It

          3  took the discharge planner three weeks after the

          4  following request to respond.  Things were even

          5  complicated even more, because my medical condition,

          6  which I suffer from diabetes.

          7                 Because of the lack of inadequate

          8  services and hindrance given by Correction officers,

          9  it left me feeling more depressed and hopeless and

         10  fearful that my initial, then initially upon my

         11  initial arrest, my initial incarceration.  By May

         12  23rd, I finally got all letters that was required by

         13  the Judge for my treatment that he wanted.  With the

         14  help of Tommy Harper and Howie T. Harp, Peer

         15  Specialist School, Vincent Romano, Nancy Kovavosky

         16  (phonetic), and of Legal Aide Society, and Mrs

         17  Vespry  (phonetic) of Project MICA program, family

         18  and NAMI, and various other friends, I finally got

         19  the proper treatment an alternative to

         20  incarceration.

         21                 I must say there is much to be

         22  desired when it comes to treating the mentally ill

         23  in Riker's Island.  No one should be incarcerated

         24  for being sick.  The population is growing every

         25  day, but the staff is shrinking.  I truly believe
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          2  today that I an ounce of prevention is far better

          3  than a pound of cure, and I say that because if I

          4  would have gotten treatment prior to the incident, I

          5  could have avoided the incarceration.

          6                 And I am now involved with TASC, I am

          7  under the supervision of TADD.  Kenneth Linn also

          8  advocated for me, because a week, I was released

          9  from the hospital May 23rd.  May 28th I was back in

         10  the hospital, once again, upon release.  I have very

         11  little knowledge of my mental disorder being it is

         12  just new to me.  At the end of the manic cycle, I

         13  was faced with a depressing cycle.  And I went back

         14  into the hospital with depression a week later,

         15  after being released from Riker's Island.

         16                 Things got complicated because I was

         17  assigned to TADD, and they had to be informed that I

         18  was in the hospital. Howie the Harp School advocated

         19  for me to let them know that I was in the hospital

         20  for things went well so I wasn't violated, once

         21  again, for TADD's requirements for the conditional

         22  release.

         23                 I'm successfully going to school at

         24  Howie the Harp Peer Specialist School.  I am making

         25  my appointments with TADD.  I am also going to my
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          2  doctors appointment, which is a problem, and I must

          3  say, the system works good in theory and on paper,

          4  but in actual practice it is not.  Because I was

          5  seeing a doctor on the 24th when I got out, which

          6  was scheduled by the courts.  I was supposed to see

          7  the doctor again, a week later, last Friday.  Upon

          8  going to see the doctor, they had scheduled five

          9  other people in my time slot, so I did not even see

         10  the doctor, I was rescheduled to see the doctor

         11  again this week, which is a month later after my

         12  incarceration, I still haven't seen a doctor.

         13                 The system, you know, is failing the

         14  mental health consumer.  I must say, you know, in my

         15  case, you know, even though I have a lot of

         16  advocacy, you know, and a lot of people there are

         17  supporting me, and a lot of support groups, you

         18  know, that are assisting me.   A lot of my peers do

         19  not have the support that I have and they're falling

         20  through the cracks.  You know, even with the support

         21  that I have, it is very hard to get the assistance

         22  that I need from the system as it exists right now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.  The

         24  next person.

         25                 MR. TRICE:  Hello, my name is Jeffrey
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          2  Trice.  I'm from Howie the Harp.  I was arrested

          3  over 15 years ago for something I have no idea what

          4  it was for, and I can't say if they kept me in jail

          5  for one day or one week.

          6                 When I went before the judge, I also

          7  did not know I had a lawyer.  I didn't remember

          8  talking to him before the hearing, actually, I

          9  didn't remember much of anything.  Years later when

         10  I wound up in the psychiatric hospital, I began to

         11  notice more and more people being admitted as

         12  forensic patients with psychiatric problems.

         13                 There are a number of issues

         14  concerning the community that needs to be addressed.

         15    The treatment of the incarcerated mentally ill

         16  must be improved.  These people are still human,

         17  suffering with mental illness is not a state that a

         18  person wants to be in.  It is, in fact, an illness.

         19  These people are human, most of these people are

         20  capable of working and becoming a vital part of the

         21  community with advancement in medication and

         22  treatment a quality of life is looking forward to.

         23  Resource must be made available to us, with

         24  education and training, we will continue to advance

         25  and capture that so- called good life.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          3                 MS. BROWN:  Good afternoon, my name

          4  is Jeneen Brown. I'm a Service Coordinator at Howie

          5  The Harp.  I came to the program myself, I have been

          6  incarcerated, I have been in a program, and I was

          7  all cool, calm and collected yesterday when I knew I

          8  was going to testify, and then I went home and I

          9  read my incarceration diary, and it made me very

         10  angry.  So then I had to go back and rewrite what I

         11  wrote.

         12                 But I want to thank you for this

         13  opportunity to be heard.  A lot of the things that I

         14  have heard here today, as well as the attitude of

         15  the Council have made me feel very hopeful, and my

         16  anger has dissipated.  Thank you very much.

         17                 Now, although I was incarcerated, I

         18  didn't belong in jail.  After a long run of

         19  substance abuse, highs and lows of being Bipolar, as

         20  well as being HIV positive, I had started to

         21  stabilize on the outside, I had sought a program.

         22  All of which was disrupted by an undeserved sentence

         23  for repeat visits in the system for loitering,

         24  trespassing in my own building and surrounding

         25  areas. I was lucky I had worked with many
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          2  underprivileged population, and I kind of knew of a

          3  lot of resources.  But once behind bars, I could no

          4  longer help myself and there was no one regulated to

          5  help people, like me, with mental illness, as well

          6  as substance abuse issues, no way for you to

          7  communicate with anyone, you just steeped in your

          8  own terror with no outside support.  It's a

          9  warehouse for madness and inhumanity.

         10                 I was still well enough to manipulate

         11  my way out into an ATI program, only because I hid

         12  my mental illness.  And I got treatment and I

         13  recovered.  This is possible for so very many, but

         14  is real for so very few.  Unfamiliarity of mental

         15  illness on the part of the Police, the Courts, the

         16  Correction system, can lead to inadequate and

         17  inappropriate care within our justice system.  I

         18  think we can do much better than that.  I think the

         19  ASPCA works just a little bit better than that.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You better

         22  believe it.

         23                 MR. JOSEPH:  Good afternoon, Council.

         24    My name is Samuel Joseph - -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Samuel, - -
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          2                 MR. JOSEPH:  Excuse me?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do you remember

          4  me?  We met.

          5                 MR. JOSEPH:  Oh, really.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Many years ago,

          7  you an I, in Central Park.

          8                 MR. JOSEPH:  Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Many years ago.

         10                 MR. JOSEPH:  All right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I was wondering

         12  if you remember me?

         13                 MR. JOSEPH:  No, I'm sorry, I don't,

         14  Madam.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  It's okay.

         16                 MR. JOSEPH:  Right.  I spent

         17  approximately 25 years involved in the criminal

         18  justice system, a persistent offender with the

         19  history of psychiatric treatment is mandated by the

         20  courts. Due to the fact that after many years I was

         21  in denial and refused to acknowledge the need for

         22  treatment, the symptoms of my diagnosis were

         23  exacerbated.  I was leading a life plagued with

         24  disorganization, endless incidents of physical

         25  abuse, failures, disappointment and a loss.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            200

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  Subsequent to my last day in the MOU Unit on Riker's

          3  Island, I ended up at Manhattan Psychiatric Center.

          4  There I remained for 19 months.

          5                 To this day, I'm still left with the

          6  painful memories of a time in life when I did not

          7  know what I wanted from life.  I have tried to

          8  accelerate the recovery process by assuming

          9  effective posture of honesty and diligence in

         10  regards to my self image, psychiatric diagnosis, and

         11  maximizing recovery through empowerment.

         12                 I appreciate the efforts of the

         13  clinicians, social workers and Correction officers

         14  who with their dedication and no nonsense approach,

         15  allowed me to see that not only was devastation and

         16  setbacks I suffered a direct result of my own errors

         17  in judgement and lack of responsibility.  But the

         18  prosperity and quality of life I so desperately

         19  wanted was attainable with the right investments.

         20                 After being discharged from

         21  Manhattan's Psychiatric Center, I was accepted into

         22  a MICA residential treatment program. This was a

         23  beginning of a dramatic change in my life.  The

         24  programs, professionalism, and tools were there

         25  necessary for my rehabilitation and recovery, and
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          2  showing positive results.  I also believe that it

          3  wasn't until I could make a commitment to a higher

          4  standard of living, and implement that commitment to

          5  fortify my role that I could move in a positive and

          6  constructive direction.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Thank you.

          9                 MR. ORTIZ:  Hi, my name is Raymond

         10  Ortiz.  I'm the Senior Service Coordinator for Howie

         11  T. Harp.  One of the things, there was a lot of

         12  things that was in my mind where I was hearing

         13  everyone and hearing your responses as well, it is

         14  very comforting to hear that unity is starting to

         15  begin.  And I think it is very important that you

         16  understand that the input of the consumer is in

         17  utmost importance.  Because we understand things

         18  because we lived it, you know.

         19                 Howie the Harp has developed separate

         20  programs that has been able to work with consumers.

         21  And what I mean by that is just basically that.  You

         22  know, we train consumers that have lived that life,

         23  that experience that life, to work in the human

         24  services field.  So they're able to work with other

         25  people and help them, because the message always
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          2  should be hope, and a promise is freedom with that

          3  hope.  That any person, any person whether a

          4  consumer or any addict, whatever be the case, can

          5  live a prosperous life, you know.  And that message

          6  should always be clear, you know, and the best way

          7  of clearing that message is by showing it by

          8  example, we need to look at more examples here.

          9                 You know one of the things that I

         10  found myself doing in the Howie the Harp is getting

         11  involved in many of the different, such as TASC, we

         12  meet with them.  We become an advisory position with

         13  them.  I would gladly volunteer for your advisory

         14  thing, I think you need that as well, and I would

         15  gladly, you know.  The point, what I'm getting at is

         16  that, you know, I have heard things in Riker's

         17  discharge, we could put a Peer Specialist in there.

         18  You need people like that because you need people to

         19  be reminded that you know what there is a soul

         20  waiting for you to get that decision. And if you

         21  take five more minutes out of your time, we could

         22  probably help another human being, you know.

         23                 We need people with implementation of

         24  programs.  You know there should be consumers there,

         25  because we know what it is to be in the other side
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          2  of the foot.  We are the bridge that you need to be

          3  able to connect.  If there is no other therapeutic

          4  value better than one consumer helping another, it

          5  is a fact, you know.

          6                 Also, we also need to look at the

          7  fact that when we talk about discharge, what are we

          8  actually talking about?  Are we talking about a two-

          9  year plan, are we talking about a two- month plan,

         10  are we talking about a three- month plan, what are

         11  we actually talking about?  Are we including this

         12  person in this plan, or are we just telling him,

         13  here, here is a list of things that you're going to

         14  do, go ahead and do it?  Because these are failures,

         15  we need to be able to include the consumer inside

         16  their own plan. Because they're the ones that have

         17  to do the foot work, they're the ones that have to

         18  be involved.

         19                 When a person faces a court and has a

         20  misdemeanor, he is put in general population.  And

         21  what happens is at four o'clock in the morning he is

         22  taken in from his bed and put into a little cage.

         23  And then he waits for that cage to fill up with

         24  sixty to eighty people.  Now here goes a paranoid

         25  person sitting in a cage with sixty to eighty people
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          2  at 4:30 in the morning, up to about eight o'clock in

          3  the morning, until he is shift over to the court

          4  that he has to go to.  Then he is put into another

          5  cage with another sixty people, waiting to see a

          6  judge for 30 seconds.  Yet, this person has

          7  paranoia, everything else.  And then he has a lawyer

          8  that is so afflicted is anxiously telling him take

          9  this plea so you can go home, take this plea, take

         10  this plea so you can go home, because you see I have

         11  200 cases to do today and I got no time to explain

         12  this to you.  And that is the reality.  That is the

         13  reality that people need to understand.

         14                 And you know I could sit here and

         15  talk for hours about that reality.  But the point,

         16  what I'm getting at is that there are consumers out

         17  here with skills, with skills that can be able to be

         18  part of anything that you implement, all right.

         19                 Last, but not least, I want to share

         20  this story about a man that I know, and you talked

         21  about a lot of men you knew, people you knew.  But

         22  there was a man that at the age of 19 years- old, he

         23  developed a football league in the South Bronx.  And

         24  he wrote a proposal to the old YSA (sic) and all

         25  that stuff, at the age of 19.
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          2                 At the age of 21, he was selected as

          3  Chairman of Planning Board #1 in the Bronx.  At the

          4  age of 23, he decided to get married, and like, you

          5  know, he never knew that he had a mental illness,

          6  because you know why?  As a culture of Hispanic, who

          7  looked at mental illness like either you're crazy or

          8  you're not. There was no such thing as mental

          9  illness.  So the ignorance back then is always

         10  there, it has always been going on.

         11                 So this person now that started his

         12  life on a positive road has now turned to self

         13  medication.  So he becomes self medicated and other

         14  things he took, whatever.  At the age of 31 he no

         15  longer has any support.  So now this person is now

         16  in the street.  This person slept in, under the

         17  Grand Central Station in a sleeping bag, used to get

         18  burnt in those sleeping bags, used to get beat up,

         19  go in and out of prisons, working a way out.

         20                 This person went to churches was

         21  escorted from the churches because he smelt like a

         22  moose, you know, he had a bad odor or bad stench,

         23  and you know what, the churches told him he had to

         24  leave too.

         25                 So the bottom line is that this
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          2  person had to go, until one day he was able to give

          3  up and really beg for treatment, beg for treatment.

          4  And he had to go through that, he had the drop in

          5  centers and be able, and didn't even realize how old

          6  he was.

          7                 And in closing, this person was able

          8  to change their life.  This person has their family

          9  back in their life, this person is now working with

         10  other consumers.  This person is a graduate of Howie

         11  T. Harp, and he is now the Senior Service

         12  Coordinator there.

         13                 That person I described was me.  And

         14  so what I'm basically trying to get at with you is

         15  that I pray that one day one of the hearings start

         16  listening to consumers first, okay, as opposed to

         17  the people who work in the field.  Because this is

         18  the needed stuff, and I'm not offended by being

         19  last.  You know why? Because my idea is getting the

         20  message in, I know I got this message in.  And I

         21  also know that we're all in this room as advocates

         22  for the same cause.

         23                 But I can say this that Howard The

         24  Harp is developing consumers to be able the make

         25  life better for other consumers.  And we wish and we
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          2  pray that you start implementing us in your plans,

          3  so that we can help you out, so that we can all

          4  grow, because we're all trying to reach the same

          5  goal.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MS. BOLANOS:  I owe you an apology.

          8  Actually, I didn't realize that you were consumers,

          9  and now when we were getting to our list, I gave the

         10  Councilwoman your appearance cards, and she said,

         11  oh, these are consumers and I wanted them to go

         12  first.  And my fault, I didn't realize, and I

         13  apologize and certainly will not happen again.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I told you one

         15  more thing, next time I want to review the papers

         16  because I want to know if there is consumers in

         17  there, they're going to speak first.

         18                 MS. BOLANOS:  Right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Just for you to

         20  know.

         21                 MR. ORTIZ:  Just for the record, I

         22  want to say, when you see Howie T. Harp, 95 percent

         23  of the people working Howie T. Harp are consumers

         24  from the Director on down.

         25                 MS. BOLANOS: Thank you so much for
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          2  informing me, thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I just want to

          4  make a clarification.  I apologize to you for not

          5  reviewing the papers myself, that was my mistake not

          6  to do that.  But you cannot leave lady, you have to

          7  stay, we are not finished.  Yes.

          8                 MR. KIRSCHNER:  My name is Philip

          9  Kirschner.  I'm a NAMI member and consumer of NAMI

         10  New York State.  I would first like to take the time

         11  to thank the Council Members, Margarita Lopez, for

         12  the opportunity to testify before this Committee on

         13  this important topic.

         14                 You see for many years my mental

         15  illness had six or seven different diagnoses before

         16  we found the right one.  And as a result, I have

         17  tried over 33 different kinds of medication over the

         18  past 20 years or so before the proper diagnosis was

         19  made, thus allowing me to be restored to a state of

         20  mental wellness.

         21                 For many years on a day- to- day

         22  basis, sometimes daily, I would go through rapid

         23  cycling in a state from severe and elated mania to

         24  states of depression.  As a result of these states I

         25  had managed to get myself arrested five times over
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          2  the past 20 years.  Two of these incidents made me

          3  realize the need for voluntary hospitalizations, as

          4  I obviously was not in full control of my faculties.

          5                 At the age of 19, I was kicked out of

          6  the Auxiliary Police Department as an Auxiliary

          7  Police Officer due to my illness, but refused to let

          8  my brain catch up to this fact, and a year later I

          9  acted out by falsely accusing someone of committing

         10  a crime that they did not commit, and I illegally

         11  arrested them.  In the process I was caught and

         12  charged with criminal impersonation of a public

         13  servant and false arrest and subsequently arrested

         14  and was given a desk appearance ticket.

         15                 The case was plea bargained, no jail

         16  time was given, no hospital and no psychiatric

         17  intervention, despite the fact my past treatment, I

         18  was in a Juvenile Residential Treatment Center for

         19  Emotionally Disturbed Youth.  The Legal Aide

         20  Attorney in the case in 1984 refused to arrange a

         21  psychiatric defense because I could spend

         22  considerable time in a hospital or a jail.

         23                 And then a few years later, I

         24  received a substantial sum of money from Social

         25  Security Disability and moved in with a girl and had
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          2  an abusive relationship with her, and was the

          3  subject of emotional abuse, which caused me to act

          4  out.  This time I swallowed pins and claimed they

          5  were in a Pepsi bottle.  I laughed myself all the

          6  way to the medical hospital.  After I made the news,

          7  I was arrested and paraded before the cameras, and

          8  taken home by Police Detectives, after receiving a

          9  desk appearance ticket, followed by a confession,

         10  knowing full well what I did was wrong, but still I

         11  felt no shame.  I felt elated at the fact that I was

         12  paraded before the media.  However, something inside

         13  me said something was very, very wrong.  Again, the

         14  lawyer that was appointed to the case by the court

         15  refused to bring up any psychiatric issues before

         16  the court and plea bargained the case down to

         17  community service.  Afterward, I wound up in a

         18  private psychiatric center on the West Coast, after

         19  leaving this abusive woman and had several repeated

         20  hospitalizations to avoid coming back to this woman,

         21  but more importantly, to have myself treated.

         22                 Upon my return, my insurance ran out

         23  and managed to get myself into a clinical study for

         24  the wrong diagnosis, because I said to myself that I

         25  needed a private doctor.  And I wound up on an
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          2  experimental research medication for Attention

          3  Deficit Disorder rather than my actual, and this was

          4  later found out to be Bipolar Disorder Type I.

          5  Afterward I was manic for several weeks and received

          6  a phone call from my ex- girlfriend that was ex

          7  girlfriend's brother was beaten by a friend who

          8  killed the dog. Being manic, I freaked out and drove

          9  like a lunatic and wound up arrested on felony

         10  charges.  After which my family got a private lawyer

         11  due to the extent and seriousness of the charges,

         12  and I had to post bail, and got me out of the

         13  Brooklyn Men's House of Detention.  Again, no mental

         14  illness information was exchanged, the lawyer only

         15  thought to minimize my exposure to the criminal

         16  justice system.  However, this private lawyer did

         17  get the case pulled out of the Grand Jury in

         18  Brooklyn and kept it in criminal court as a

         19  misdemeanor, and subsequently, received a sentence

         20  of community service.

         21                 At that point, I went into the Payne

         22  Whitney Clinic Hospital for a 30- day stay.  After

         23  that I left school and obtained employment and hung

         24  on for as long as I could.  After which I had to

         25  leave the job because I was very suicidal.  I went
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          2  into the Payne Whitney Hospital again, for another

          3  30- day hospital stay, and since then remained

          4  stable since 1999.

          5                 After the real diagnosis of Bipolar

          6  Disorder with rapid cycling features was made I was

          7  placed on Geodon, which was the actual brand new

          8  medication and it worked.  If it were not for my

          9  family and their money, chances are I would have

         10  wound and been another mentally ill person

         11  incarcerated in New York State prison and penal

         12  system, and that would have been a total tragedy.

         13                 Since then I have managed to return

         14  to school and dealt successfully with my mental

         15  illness and added learning disabilities by

         16  maintaining a 2.5 grade point average at the City

         17  University of New York at Queens College.  And I

         18  have been an active member on the campus community.

         19  I sit on the Board of Directors of the 504

         20  Democratic Club, the Queens College Committee of the

         21  Disabled Students as Treasurer, and I'm currently

         22  President of the Queens College Adult Collegiate

         23  Student Association, and just recently became an

         24  active member of my local NAMI affiliate.

         25                 In retrospect, being white and middle
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          2  class somehow managed to keep me out of this court

          3  system, which ultimately kept me out of the State

          4  prison system.  With the help of a strong mother

          5  with some access to some resources, we managed to

          6  get into the treatment system.  Behavior that is

          7  obviously psychotic and delusional often goes

          8  unrecognized in police and the courts.  And as a

          9  result many people wind up with criminal records.

         10                 This is unacceptable to the

         11  individual suffering with mental illness, to their

         12  families, and is an undue burden on society.  This

         13  Council and this City must do something to change

         14  that.  And I hope that the Council and the Mayor can

         15  show the political courage to attack this issue.

         16                 I thank you for hearing my testimony,

         17  it is only a small part of my life, long struggle

         18  with mental illness.  We know that mental illnesses

         19  are biological in nature and are diseases of the

         20  brain.  We know that medications can mitigate many

         21  of the symptoms that these diseases cause.  We also

         22  that many people can be restored to reasonably

         23  normal lives if proper interventions are used, using

         24  best medical practices, using atypical antipsychotic

         25  drugs, which are the frontline medicines in today's
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          2  medical practices, which are not cheap.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I thank you.  I

          5  hoped that I fulfill the promise that I made to you.

          6                 MR. KIRSCHNER:  Yes, you did.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, then, but

          8  the promise is not going to stay here, we are going

          9  to keep moving this promise forward.

         10                 I just have a couple of questions for

         11  each and everyone of you, or anyone of you who want

         12  to jump and answer.  I would like to invite you to

         13  be part of the Task Force, if you grant me the

         14  request and I would really, really appreciate it.

         15                 MR. KIRSCHNER:  I would very much

         16  like to be part of a Task Force.

         17                 MR. ORTIZ:  I would like to, also.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I would really

         19  appreciate it if you would agree to be part of it.

         20                 MR. ORTIZ:  I would.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  My intention with

         22  what I'm trying to do with that is that at the end

         23  of the process I want to produce a report and give

         24  this report to the Commissioners in charge of this

         25  issue.  Give them a certain amount of time to look
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          2  into it and come with policy, and if policy does not

          3  arrive, then I'm fully prepared to legislate on this

          4  issue, at this point.  And I'm going to proceed with

          5  it, and you know, so be it.  If we have to have a

          6  good fight on this, we will have it.  I don't think

          7  we that we need to get there, I think that we can

          8  create policy that makes sense in the City, and we

          9  will try.  But if Commissioners are not willing to

         10  create policy, we will legislate and I make a

         11  promise to you right here, right now about that.

         12                 MR. ORITZ:  Well as far as Howie T.

         13  Harp, we will be glad to get involved in any Task

         14  Force you ask.  I could be free to speak on that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         16                 MR. ORTIZ:  I will probably ask for a

         17  letter from your office to invite us to any meeting,

         18  what it is.  And I personally, most likely will be

         19  going.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, that is

         21  granted.

         22                 MR. ORTIZ:  Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then I just want

         24  to know a couple of things that are perhaps

         25  personal, if you think that I'm infringing in your
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          2  private life, just tell me shut up and I go my way,

          3  forgive me if I am being disrespectful by asking the

          4  questions, but it is not intended.

          5                 Did any of you know at the time that

          6  you were in a situation that was not of the best

          7  that you needed Medicaid for access services, like

          8  medications, psychiatric care and to go to the

          9  hospital?

         10                 MR. KIRSCHNER:  I felt I needed

         11  something, I didn't know what the hell I needed at

         12  the time, I wasn't sure what I needed.  I knew

         13  something was wrong with me, I didn't know what it

         14  was at the time.  I mean, basically, during my

         15  states of mania I felt good, I think I felt too

         16  good.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No, but that is

         18  not my question. Let me clarify what it is I'm

         19  asking.  When you got arrested, for example, in the

         20  case of getting arrested, once you get arrested, did

         21  you understand that you needed any medical coverage

         22  during that period of time in order to access

         23  medical care?

         24                 MR. ORTIZ:  Yes, I did.

         25                 MR. KIRSCHNER:  I did, I knew.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You did know?

          3                 MR. BARFIELD:  Yes, and I had medical

          4  coverage. Upon, one of the things that was with a

          5  discharge planner at Riker's Island, well I'm going

          6  speak for Brooklyn House.  Brooklyn House worked

          7  much better than Riker's Island.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

          9                 MR. BARFIELD:  They were very

         10  effective with my psycho- social, they got my

         11  medication everything worked fine.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Why do you think

         13  is that, why do you think that Brooklyn worked

         14  better than Riker's Island?

         15                 MR. BARFIELD:  One the communication

         16  between one organization and the next organization

         17  agencies in Riker's Island is nonexistent.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  It doesn't exist.

         19                 MR. BARFIELD:  It does not exist.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Why is that, is

         21  it too big of a system?

         22                 MR. BARFIELD:  Yes.  When I got my

         23  medical records transferred to Brooklyn to Riker's

         24  Island, there was a problem.  I had to do my psycho-

         25  social all over again, I had to see another doctor
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          2  to get medication placed all over again.  You know

          3  the whole system was screwed up.

          4                 Even with discharge, even though I

          5  had Medicaid already in place, they gave me a

          6  temporary card to get my medication.  It had to be

          7  court ordered by a judge for me to get my

          8  prescription because I was leaving from court that

          9  day, and it took them three weeks even with a court

         10  order to get my prescriptions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then you knew

         12  that.  How about the other people?  Put one of the

         13  microphones on this side and the other one on that

         14  side.

         15                 MS. BROWN:  Could you ask that

         16  question again?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes, sure.  I

         18  want to know if anyone of you were familiarize, you

         19  know, at the time that you were detained, processed,

         20  incarcerated, it doesn't matter, when you were

         21  intervened by the system, did you know that if you

         22  wanted to access medical care for yourself,

         23  psychiatric care or physical care, it doesn't matter

         24  to me, either way, did you know that you needed

         25  medical coverage, were you aware of that?
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          2                 MS. BROWN:  Oh, when you left the

          3  facility that you had to have Medicaid in order to

          4  get services?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

          6                 MS. BROWN: Oh, yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You knew.

          8                 MS. BROWN:  Oh, yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Did you know you

         10  didn't have it?

         11                 MS. BROWN:  No, I made it my business

         12  to get it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You made it your

         14  business to get it.

         15                 MS. BROWN:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And when you came

         17  out, at the time that you came out, you were totally

         18  stable?

         19                 MS. BROWN:  No.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No.

         21                 MR. ORTIZ:  You see one of the things

         22  that is not said here, it has to be clear, is the

         23  incentive of when you're inside prison, what is the

         24  incentive to ask for treatment?  The bottom line is

         25  that because, you heard it, there is no beds.  The
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          2  Department of Mental Health has a totally different

          3  array because they cannot supervise the way the

          4  Department, in other words, the person has been

          5  arrested, they cannot be hanging out in the streets

          6  six, seven o'clock.  The Department of Mental Health

          7  says this is not the way we function, we function

          8  differently.  So therefore they have to go into TCs

          9  that do not, are not skilled to work with mental

         10  illness, they're skilled to work with substance

         11  abuse, but they're not skilled to work with mental

         12  illness.  And then those people who just have mental

         13  illness issues even suffer more.

         14                 So therefore in prison, let's say you

         15  get one year, let's say you get one year.  You serve

         16  eight months, and the four months is called good

         17  time.  But if you go in and become a 730, which

         18  means you have a mental illness, you cannot leave

         19  that prison until they find the proper care.

         20  Institutions are afraid to deal with people coming

         21  out of prisons, yet, they will pick up the guy who

         22  got dropped off at 125th Street.

         23                 You see, the bottom line is the

         24  incentive of not doing so.  In other words, I'm not

         25  losing, you see, if I turn around and say, I have a
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          2  mental illness, you're going to penalized me,

          3  because you're going to keep me in prison.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I see. In other

          5  words, it pays to hide the information that you're

          6  mentally ill, because if not you're going to be

          7  retained for a longer time.

          8                 MR. ORTIZ: Yes.  Society looks at

          9  stigma --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay.

         11                 MR. ORTIZ: - -  from the outside,

         12  it's totally different from the inside.  When you

         13  have a mental illness inside of a prison, you're

         14  stigmatized by your prison, by the guards, you're

         15  put in lines in front of everybody to get your

         16  medication, you're separated from the rest of the

         17  population, you're partially separated.  So

         18  therefore you have to be careful, you cannot get

         19  involved in altercations, because if you're involved

         20  in altercations it is your fault, you're the

         21  psychotic one, not the other guys fault.  So

         22  therefore you have to be worried about your face

         23  getting cut or anything else.  And the culture

         24  inside is way different.  That is not being

         25  explained here.
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          2                 You see the motivation for somebody,

          3  anybody who turns himself in inside of a prison and

          4  says I have a mental illness, it is the most highly

          5  motivated person for treatment.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  In a way it has

          7  to be somebody that somewhere, somehow had got the

          8  understanding that they need to treat the illness.

          9                 MR. ORTIZ:  Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And that they

         11  recognize that they have an illness, right?

         12                 MR. ORTIZ:  Yes, but you find that

         13  most of us do, the only thing is it becomes a fear

         14  factor.  For instance, a guy like my size, I could

         15  probably handle myself.  But a smaller person with

         16  more difficult schizophrenia is going to be paranoid

         17  to the boots.   And you know what, they're going to

         18  be afraid to trust anybody.

         19                 You ask a person with no medication

         20  that is paranoid to the boots, you're asking him to

         21  make major decisions.  It's unfair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Are you aware,

         23  anyone of you, that inside are people who try to

         24  hide their illness and are successful in doing it?

         25                 MS. BROWN:  And one of them is me.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

          3                 MR. BARFIELD:  I was in the general

          4  population, I did not go the MO House, I did it for

          5  other reasons because I knew how I was going to be

          6  treated, if I did.  I requested a cell so that I

          7  could be by myself not in a dormitory situation.  I

          8  choose to advocate for myself because I was saying

          9  to myself, I had military training.  I had been in

         10  the military for eight years.  So I was able to

         11  handle a hostile environment much better than most

         12  people that are mental health consumers.  I have

         13  some advantages over other people to some degree.

         14  But in their, like the original when I first went

         15  in, that was during a state of psychosis.  And when

         16  I was told not to mention my medical problem, not to

         17  mention my mental illness, that I would be released

         18  because I just had petty larceny, it was just $100

         19  value for petty larceny, you will be released.  So I

         20  did not tell.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Did you obey that

         22  recommendation?

         23                 MR. BARFIELD:  Yes, I did.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Because you

         25  understood that that was a better way to go.
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          2                 MR. BARFIELD:  That is right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Did anyone of the

          4  other two of you encounter this situation in which,

          5  did you hide your illness inside when you were

          6  detained?

          7                 MR. BARFIELD:  And they also told me,

          8  like when I was going to, like when I finally did

          9  tell them about it, and I was still in general

         10  population, whenever they announced me to the mental

         11  health clinic, they would announce over the speaker,

         12  oh, you're going to see the Wizard of Oz.  So the

         13  whole population that was there knew where I was

         14  going.  You know then they began to tease you, and

         15  then some even began to ask me for my medications. I

         16  mean, things like that happen, you know so you

         17  suffer to that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, I want to

         19  hear the others.

         20                 MR. JOSEPH:  Well Madam Chairperson,

         21    - -

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  You can call me

         23  Margarita, Samuel.

         24                 MR. JOSEPH:  Margarita.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I know that you
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          2  don't remember me at all, but that is okay.

          3                 MR. JOSEPH:  I'm so sorry.  During

          4  the first - -

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  We are old

          6  friends, believe it or not.

          7                 MR. JOSEPH:  I'm sure you were

          8  probably very kind to me.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I was.

         10                 MR. JOSEPH:  During the course of my

         11  incarceration I, you know, was probably very acutely

         12  ill.  And you know as far back as I can remember I

         13  have always been fairly not compliment with the use

         14  of psychotropic medications.  You know, it was

         15  probably my own suspicion or skepticism that these

         16  medications were going to serve any progressive,

         17  beneficial results.  And, you know, there were a

         18  number of times where I had the incentive to

         19  reinforce what positive behaviors I had learned

         20  through treatment by taking medications.  There was

         21  this state of recidivism, which you speak about,

         22  where, you know, you begin to feel good about

         23  yourself and get into a situation where you may feel

         24  that the medication is no longer necessary.  And one

         25  thing can escalate into another and you find
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          2  yourself back at square one.

          3                 This has been the first time in, I

          4  can say about in 10 years, that I have been on

          5  medications steadily and a daily regimen, and I felt

          6  that I have achieved some degree of beneficial

          7  results.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  When you weren't

          9  in detention, did you manage to fool them, or they

         10  knew?

         11                 MR. JOSEPH:  I don't think there was

         12  any fooling going on.  I think I was in, you know, a

         13  situation where the guards knew that they were

         14  dealing with people with psychiatric diagnosis.

         15                 MR. ORTIZ:  There are ways of fooling

         16  people.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Oh, I see.  But a

         18  professional in this field would know that that

         19  baloney, because I knew all the time that I was

         20  dealing with people with severe mental illness when

         21  both things happen or when there was only one.

         22                 MR. ORTIZ:  But you know, you're

         23  talking about a person who is trained in Human

         24  Services Field.  You're not talking about the course

         25  that is in front of you.  You rarely see a person, I

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            227

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  never saw a person trained in mental illnesses

          3  inside a prison. It's not there, you have to ask for

          4  it and then you have to, it's like seeing a

          5  President.  In fact, it is easier for me to see you,

          6  in your office, then it is for an inmate to see a

          7  social service inside a prison.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Why?

          9                 MR. ORTIZ:  Well because of the fact

         10  that you're dealing with a lot of people, number

         11  one.  Number two is that you're dealing with meeting

         12  each of the COs, you don't have a direct follow line

         13  to anybody.  See that is the reality.  And that is

         14  why it is very important, you see, what we're doing

         15  at Howie the Harp, we have a transition program

         16  where we take one provider and one consumer and

         17  become co- trainers and go throughout the State to

         18  train other providers, as well as parole officers as

         19  well, because, in fact, a lot of people do not have

         20  that information.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I see.  It has

         22  struck me that the group of people who are sitting

         23  here are necessarily the representation of the

         24  majority of the population, because you guys look to

         25  me, I may be mistaken, but it look to me that you
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          2  know more than the majority of the population knew,

          3  even before you got into the program that you got;

          4  correct?

          5                 MR. BARFIELD:  Not correct.

          6                 MR. ORTIZ:  Well you know --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I mean, because

          8  how, for example, how did you know that you needed

          9  Medicaid and you didn't have it and you advocated

         10  for it?

         11                 MS. BROWN:  Because for the 30 some

         12  odd years that I have been a substance abuser, I

         13  have also been a system user.  I know what the

         14  system had to offer and I knew what I needed, and I

         15  knew how to get what I needed.  But once in jail, it

         16  became a whole different ball game and I was out of

         17  my league, and my mental illness did not help me.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, I got it.

         19  I'm not going to ask no more intrusive questions

         20  here.

         21                 MS. BROWN:  That is not a problem.

         22                 MR. BARFIELD:  It's okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I appreciate that

         24  you are so willing to talk to me.  I would like to

         25  talk to you further, I would like to have a meeting
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          2  with you, in order to be more educated about your

          3  experiences, privately, separate and apart.  If you

          4  allow me to have that, I would appreciate.

          5                 MR. ORTIZ:  Yes.

          6                 MS. BROWN:  Any time.

          7                 MR. ORTIZ:  I will, in fact, we

          8  cordially invite you to come to Howie the Harp and

          9  speak to a bunch of the peers.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  No problem, I

         11  would be more than glad to come with one condition.

         12                 MR. ORTIZ:  In fact, I would like

         13  that the first day of the Forensic Aides Program,

         14  that you attend to this as part of our guest sort of

         15  launching things off.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, only one

         17  condition, I need to be invited with the colleagues

         18  of my Committee.

         19                 MR. ORTIZ:  Of course, I will send

         20  everyone, we will send the whole Committee.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  We are like six.

         22                 MR. ORTIZ:  No, it's okay, we have a

         23  very big floor now.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  All right, good

         25  enough.  I really, deeply want to thank you for
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          2  being here today.  Don't think by any chance that

          3  because you were the last panel that, to me, that is

          4  not important.  And as you see, I'm asking you

          5  questions that are critical for me to understand.

          6                 We are going to see each other very

          7  much.  This is a beginning of a wonderful

          8  relationship.

          9                 MR. KIRSCHNER:  Now I have a

         10  question, what are the chances of getting the

         11  Bloomberg Administration into some type of program

         12  of crisis intervention, training for the New York

         13  City Police Department, what are the chances?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Well let me put

         15  it to you this way, at this point, I have a meeting

         16  with Commissioner Kelly, I cannot disclose to you

         17  our conversation because it is inappropriate for me

         18  to do so.  It was a private meeting between him and

         19  I, and Anne was there.  But I can tell you that his

         20  response was very, very encouraging to me about what

         21  I proposed to him.  And the things that I proposed

         22  to him, I can guarantee to you that all of you will

         23  appreciate and embrace.  And he was willing to sit

         24  with me, I suggested to create an advisory committee

         25  type to meet, and he was very amicable to that.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            231

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 MR. KIRSCHNER:  Consumers be included

          3  on it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Who?

          5                 MR. ORTIZ:  Consumers.

          6                 MR. KIRSCHNER:  Consumers.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Do you think that

          8  my proposal was absent of that?

          9                 MR. KIRSCHNER:  Not sure, I would

         10  hope so.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  For God's sake,

         12  you know, you are smarter than that.

         13                 MR. KIRSCHNER:  All right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  In all honesty

         15  the group of people that I was thinking to put

         16  together was basically consumers, myself and him, to

         17  tell you the truth.   Then the conversation was very

         18  promising and I was very happy about that.

         19                 Today I have been upset here for

         20  other reasons, and I had to do that, you have to

         21  give me respect.  I respect you, you have to respect

         22  me, and I feel at this point that I am not being

         23  respected.  Then for that reason I said that I am

         24  going to institute a subpoena and I will.

         25                 Now that is something that is very
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          2  serious, it's not something you do because you feel

          3  like it.  And I feel that the Bloomberg

          4  Administration perhaps was a little bit confused

          5  about what we were going to do today.  They thought

          6  I was going to be dealing with the Brad H. V.

          7  Giuliani when that is not my intention was purely

          8  about Medicaid Presumption and about how we can

          9  improve the system when somebody get detained and

         10  get medical care immediately upon release.

         11                 MR. ORTIZ:  You know I would like to

         12  say, you know, I believe in some things, and I take

         13  this little quotation and change it around from

         14  Robert Kennedy, the society as a whole sees

         15  consumers and really ask the question the of why,

         16  and you heard a lot of this why.  And yet, Howie the

         17  Harp, and me, particularly, I see us as we never was

         18  and say, why not.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Yes.

         20                 MR. ORTIZ:  You know, and I think

         21  that is important too.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  I also wanted to

         23  ask a last question, I just remembered.  Did any of

         24  you meet discharge planners when you at Riker's?  To

         25  the mic, to the mic.
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          2                 MS. BROWN:  The problem with the

          3  discharge planning was they had a program inside

          4  Riker's Island, or the ladies' part of Riker's

          5  Island, it was called Link, it was a lottery that

          6  you didn't even really have a choice in the matter.

          7  And they were supposed to help you get out of

          8  Riker's Island, which they did not do.  They had the

          9  other side of the lottery, which was going to help

         10  you after you got out, and no one ever heard anymore

         11  about that program.  They never did anything while

         12  they were in there, and I still wonder why they gave

         13  me that big T- shirt.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Then it was a

         15  program that introduced to you, was told to you that

         16  this program exist, but you never received no

         17  services from it.

         18                 MS. BROWN:  Right.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  And you knew that

         20  some people who were in there who have this job are

         21  supposed to do this, but they never did it.

         22                 MS. BROWN:  Exactly.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Did you ask to go

         24  to them?

         25                 MS. BROWN:  On numerous occasions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  What happened

          3  when you asked?

          4                 MS. BROWN:  Well the COs are, they

          5  don't really let you go places, you know, somebody

          6  has to call for you.  And because nobody ever worked

          7  for that program, no one ever called for me.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  All right.

          9                 MR. ORTIZ:  The COs excuses are that

         10  somebody has to call for you.  But if nobody knows

         11  that you're looking for them, no one is going to

         12  call for you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Therefore, nobody

         14  calls.

         15                 MS. BROWN:  And if the program is not

         16  actually up and running, it is just there by name,

         17  nobody is ever going to call for you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Did that happen

         19  to you too?

         20                 MR. BARFIELD:  Well with my

         21  situation, being that my lawyers, NAMI, and everyone

         22  else was involved and the judge was involved

         23  actually, I still got handed some resistance with

         24  the CO, because when I requested to go to the

         25  discharge planner, he, being that the population
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          2  that upset him, he said, I'm not making no calls

          3  nowhere.  So a couple of days he come in, and then I

          4  have got to wait for him to calm down, he calls, and

          5  he says, well no one is there.  And so the next day

          6  he calls, no one is there.  So I was at their mercy.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  So then the only

          8  gracing situation for any one of you is if you have

          9  a family member outside or a friend - -

         10                 MR. ORTIZ:  That is advocating for

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Advocates for

         13  you.  Yes, Samuel.

         14                 MR. JOSEPH:  Well I was totally

         15  disinterested in utilizing the system to my

         16  advantage when I was on Riker's Island, and I think

         17  that is unfortunate.  I was probably somewhat

         18  delusional, because I was looking for something

         19  elaborate, something quick and easy, and would not

         20  require a commitment on my part.  For the most part,

         21  I don't think that there was, you know, any

         22  significant number of persons, professionals

         23  interested in getting me the services I needed.

         24  They were, you know diligent as far as, you know,

         25  monitoring my behavior while I was incarcerated.
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          2  But since my release date came up, I collected my

          3  $1.75, my tokens, and you know, I proceeded to

          4  Queens Plaza.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ:  Okay, thank you

          6  very much.  I want to thank Council Member Gale

          7  Brewer to be the sole soul keeping here with me the

          8  fort, and keep working in there, that is number one.

          9                 Number two, I want to make very

         10  clear, I think that this hearing has been a very

         11  successful hearing, and the only reason is Maritza

         12  Bolanos, Anne Emerman, who put this hearing

         13  together.  They deserve the credit, no question, and

         14  I'm not doing this to keep them happy with me.  It

         15  is the absolute, honest truth.

         16                 Thank you very much, and I will see

         17  in the next one. This hearing is closed.

         18                 (Hearing adjourned at 6:00 p.m.)

         19                 (The following testimony was read

         20  into the record.)

         21

         22  Testimony of:

         23  Ron Friedman

         24  Chair Emeritus

         25  Queens Mental Health Council Client Committee
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          2

          3                 Dear Ms. Lopez,

          4                 For the past few years I have

          5  represented the unserved, under- served, and poorly

          6  served, as well as all those who get mental health

          7  services in Queens as Chair of the Queens Mental

          8  Health Council Client Committee.  Ignorance, ill

          9  will, and stigma have been my greatest enemies.

         10  People who mean well, but don't bother to find the

         11  time to research, listen carefully, or who think

         12  they know what is best for another never having

         13  suffered in the same way can be just as dangerous.

         14  To think that drug treatment with all of its

         15  problems is the answer, and not just one of the

         16  tools toward reaching mental health is misguided.

         17                 Education, establishing trust,

         18  showing respect, and funding vital community

         19  programs and services are important ways to keep

         20  people out of the hospital.  A safety net must

         21  include cushioning for those falling, not just for

         22  those who have reached the bottom.

         23                 The way the New York City Police

         24  treat sick people can exacerbate their situation and

         25  unknowingly create a harder road back to health.  I
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          2  recently had the unfortunate opportunity of

          3  experiencing our criminal justice system and while

          4  it set me back, maybe, there is something of value

          5  that can be learned by the telling.

          6                 On the 63rd day of a Celexa trail I

          7  had a drug interaction that left me disoriented.

          8  When the police found me I was parked, asleep on the

          9  side of the road, and mistaken for alcohol

         10  intoxication.  I was arrested and left handcuffed

         11  for seven hours.  They only took the cuffs off

         12  briefly for the Breathalyzer test after two hours

         13  and forty minutes.  Locked in a cell by myself for

         14  all those hours without benefit of my personal

         15  mobility reminded me of the helplessness I felt

         16  years earlier when I was victim of a violent

         17  stabbing.  The consequences are not always

         18  immediately apparent and the way I was treated had a

         19  much more devastating result than was probably

         20  intended.  Months later my wrist still hurts.  The

         21  sad part is, if I had been suffering from alcohol

         22  poisoning, I could have died before they

         23  administered the test.

         24                 Disclosing my disability complicated

         25  matters and had a chilling effect.  The police
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          2  officer had no idea of symptoms or drug interactions

          3  and just kept his distance.  Seven hours later the

          4  EMT person was more interested in attributing my

          5  symptoms to her knowledge than to find out what was

          6  wrong.  Rather than processing me in a timely manner

          7  that would have allowed me to maintain my treatment

          8  regimen, at Bronx Central Booking I was informed

          9  that if I wanted to get my medicine that they would

         10  send me to the hospital, but, I wouldn't be

         11  processed until I came back, keeping me in jail many

         12  hours longer.  I refused.  The police treated me and

         13  everyone else like criminals.  The cells were so

         14  crowded we weren't allowed to lie down.  Some cells

         15  had 17 to 23 people in them.  The cells with toilets

         16  were much more crowded. Some of the toilets were

         17  stopped up, unusable and reeked.

         18                 Arrested at 5:55 a.m., I wasn't

         19  brought to central booking until 1:00 p.m. And

         20  though I was scheduled to be arraigned that night,

         21  because someone on another floor had smuggled a

         22  scissor into the cell, more than fifty of us had to

         23  wait until 11:30 a.m. The next day to be arraigned.

         24  I was given nothing that explained the process or my

         25  rights and obligations.  I felt victimized and
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          2  misunderstood, treated like a criminally even though

          3  at the first sign of concern I did the responsible

          4  thing ad took myself out of harms way.  Though I was

          5  initially gladly to see the police, the way I was

          6  treated soured me on reaching out for help even if I

          7  need it in the future.

          8                 Sincerely,

          9                 Ron Friedman- Chair Emeritus

         10                 Queens Mental Health Council Client

         11  Committee

         12                 P.S.  If I can help further please

         13  call me at the Queens Independent Living Center

         14  (719) 658- 2526

         15

         16  Testimony of:

         17  Doris Busch Boskey

         18

         19

         20

         21                 I am sorry I cannot be here today. I

         22  testified before the City Council on December 14,

         23  1999, shortly after my son Gary Busch, also known by

         24  his Hebrew name Gidone, was shot and killed by

         25  police in Boro Park on August 3Oth.  He was 31 years
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          2  old, and had moved there only 8 months earlier,

          3  after completing computer courses with a 3.9 average

          4  at Briarcliff College in December of 1998.  He

          5  started to do web designs as well as scripting and

          6  programming and had met someone he wanted to marry.

          7  He finished a book of poetry about 5 weeks before he

          8  was killed, and was looking for a job.  He was warm,

          9  intelligent, creative, and very religious and was

         10  loved by many people, who are as

         11  devastated as we are by his loss.  He was always

         12  there to help others, even to share his food with

         13  the homeless.  On that day August 30th, 1999,

         14  someone he had met and fed once the week before came

         15  back to visit.

         16                 One hour before the shooting, police

         17  were called to his apartment because of a

         18  disturbance.  He tried to shake their hands in

         19  peace, but they refused and used obscene language.

         20  The volunteer patrol or Shronrim had called an

         21  ambulance thinking he needed help. Police canceled

         22  it, six officers, including two Sergeants were

         23  there. The officers were annoyed and angry when they

         24  left.

         25                 Within an hour, more then six
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          2  officers returned in response to another call.  At

          3  least of these officers, one a Sergeant, had been

          4  there on the earlier call.  At this time Gary was

          5  inside his one- room basement apartment praying as

          6  usual at that hour, wearing tefilin worn for prayer,

          7  and holding a small religiously inscribed hammer.

          8  He had been seen praying and meditating with it

          9  before.  He had plans to attend a wedding later with

         10  his girlfriend.  Having been there before, the

         11  officers knew he was not a threat.  However, if they

         12  thought there was a problem, they should have left

         13  him in his apartment and waited for the Emergency

         14  Services Unit, which they claim they called, who are

         15  better qualified to assess and handle people in a

         16  crisis or in these unusual situations.

         17                 Instead of waiting, the Sergeant who

         18  was there before, and other officers, dragged Gary's

         19  visitor up the steps by force and handcuffed him,

         20  for no reason.  He had explained that the small

         21  hammer Gary was holding was a religious object.

         22  Gary was called out of his apartment, and as he

         23  stood at the bottom of the stairwell in front of his

         24  doorway, an officer leaned over the railing and

         25  sprayed him directly in the eyes and face with
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          2  pepper spray.  He screamed out in pain and anguish,

          3  unable to see or breathe.  The officers, including

          4  the Sergeant, were on the steps and above him.

          5  Still holding the small hammer, Gary tried to get

          6  away from his attackers and found his way up the

          7  steps getting well past them.  If there was any

          8  contact with that Sergeant on those steps it was

          9  inadvertent.  This Sergeant had a slight abrasion on

         10  one arm, which could have come from the brick walls

         11  on the either side of the narrow stairs as he

         12  dragged up the visitor.  Gary's body had multiple

         13  bruises.  This Sergeant, who was there shortly

         14  before, had 12 Civilian Board complaints against

         15  him, two substantiated for excessive force among

         16  other things.  He was also one of two Sergeants

         17  there in control of arms, and he fired 50 percent of

         18  the bullets. Another officer who fired had even more

         19  complaints against him.

         20                 As Gary stood screaming in pain

         21  across the driveway close to a low wall of the

         22  adjacent building, a rail thin 6'3" weighing only

         23  159 pounds, the officers including the Sergeants

         24  followed with guns drawn and formed an arc around

         25  him. Crouched down in firing position and without
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          2  justification there was a shot followed by a

          3  fusillade of bullets, hitting him 12 times.  More

          4  than six officers with guns drawn had to be more of

          5  a threat to my son than one thin man holding only a

          6  small hammer could have been to them. He didn't have

          7  a chance.  He was not a criminal.  He was not a

          8  killer. He had no gun, no knife, and no hostages.

          9  Witnesses said he posed no threat either before or

         10  when they shot him.

         11                 Within minutes the cover- up began.

         12  In order to justify the shooting, police and city

         13  officials released the false story that he was shot

         14  while attacking a Sergeant, in spite of numerous

         15  outraged eyewitness accounts to the contrary.  They

         16  tried to portray him as violent and deranged

         17  equating emotional problems with violence in order

         18  to influence public opinion.  This is an unfortunate

         19  misconception, and creates a stigma especially for

         20  the victims of these abuses.  There was almost no

         21  mention of the officers involved, their

         22  backgrounds, or their psychological profiles.

         23                 Had the officers followed their own

         24  procedures, backed off and waited for ESU to arrive

         25  and assess the situation before taking overt action,
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          2  Gary would have been alive and well today.  There

          3  was no reason to drag his visitor up by force who

          4  was trying to go back      inside, or to use pepper

          5  spray on Gary forcing him to leave his apartment

          6  where he would have been safe. This was not the way

          7  to de- escalate the situation, but only exacerbated

          8  it.  These officers have never been exposed to

          9  pepper spray in their eyes.  Without the experience

         10  of the severe burning pain, temporary blindness,

         11  difficulty breathing and disorientation it causes,

         12  they don't know what it feels like.  It should never

         13  be used in these situations, especially on someone

         14  in an emotional crisis.

         15                 We need better screening and training

         16  of all patrol officers no matter what their rank, so

         17  they can handle a situation involving those who may

         18  be in an emotional crisis.  They must constantly

         19  review and follow all the guidelines especially

         20  since the number of              calls for people in

         21  crisis is steadily increasing.  The amount of

         22  training must be increased.

         23                 We need more available and faster

         24  responding ESU units.  When a call concerning

         25  someone labeled as a possible emotionally disturbed
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          2  person comes in, ESU should be there, which does not

          3  usually happen.  In my son's case, they never showed

          4  up.

          5                 We need to implement a crisis

          6  intervention system in our city that can help in

          7  these situations such as those that exist in other

          8  states, where the psychiatric community has trained

          9  civilians to accompany their better trained

         10  officers.  Lives can be saved.

         11                 Deadly physical force should never be

         12  used in a situation like this.  Officers should

         13  exercise gun control in order to preserve human

         14  lives, and learn to use the non- lethal equipment if

         15  necessary, that they are supposed to carry and be

         16  trained to use.

         17                 Other officers have handled people

         18  holding hostages at gunpoint by negotiating, backing

         19  off and speaking calmly.  Gary had no hostages, and

         20  they had room to back off.

         21                 Emotional illness is very common in

         22  our society, and even more so now with the  constant

         23  threats after 9/1l.  Many of our most successful

         24  people both in the past and in the present have

         25  suffered from emotional illness at various times and
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          2  lead productive lives.  Everyone is entitled to

          3  life, liberty and the pursuit of happiness.  We are

          4  all equal.

          5                 I am pleading with you again in my

          6  son Gary's name, and all the others who have been

          7  abused or killed.  It is time for these abuses to

          8  stop and for systemic changes to start.  If it could

          9  happen to my son it could happen to yours, it could

         10  happen to any one of us      unless we are ready to

         11  tackle this problem now. The time has come for our

         12  police to be better prepared to handle all people

         13  including those who have emotional problems with

         14  sensitivity, dignity and care, for the preservation

         15  of human lives is of paramount importance.  It is

         16  also time for the NYPD to replace the term EDP with

         17  a less stigmatizing term indicative of a person who

         18  may be in crisis.

         19                 I am attaching one of Gary's poems

         20  from 1999, along with a letter written by his

         21  professor at Briarcliff.  The poem is significant.

         22  If time allows, perhaps it can be read.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 Doris Busch Boskey

         25                 Mother of Gary (Gidone) Busch
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          2

          3  Testimony of:

          4  Amanda Masters

          5  Staff Attorney

          6  New York Lawyers for the Public Interest, Inc.

          7

          8                 My name is Amanda Masters, and I am a

          9  staff attorney at NYLPI.  NYLPI is a non- profit

         10  organization formed in 1976, by the City Bar.  NYLPI

         11  advocates to protect and promote the civil rights of

         12  people with disabilities.  The Disability Law Center

         13  at NYLPI advocates on behalf of people with mental

         14  illness in many contexts, including on behalf of

         15  people who have encounters with the New York City

         16  Police Department.  We also work in coalition with

         17  many other groups around this issue.

         18                 I will first describe to you some

         19  examples of people with mental illness who have been

         20  mistreated by the NYPD.  These examples will show

         21  the deficiencies in current NYPD policies.  Then I

         22  will briefly outline what the current NYPD policies

         23  are, and why they

         24  must be changed.

         25                 In the interest of time, I will
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          2  summarize my testimony.  I respectfully direct your

          3  attention to the written testimony where each issue

          4  is explored in fuller detail.  (Though I

          5  may not get to every detail orally, the NYPD will

          6  receive the full testimony and of course have access

          7  to the transcripts.)

          8                 We are asking for changes in police

          9  policy and increased police accountability.  NYPD

         10  tacit and explicit policies for interacting with

         11  people with mental illness result in needless

         12  injuries to civilians and to police officers.

         13                 The policies should change.  And the

         14  NYPD should train officers to follow the better

         15  policies, and hold officers accountable for

         16  following new policies and better protecting civil

         17  rights.

         18                 Story of Yancy Romero:

         19                 Yancy Romero is a young man with

         20  schizophrenia. On November 4, 1999, a member of his

         21  family called 911 for assistance regarding Yancy.

         22  The police arrived at the apartment and quickly

         23  resorted to use of force.

         24                 An officer shot him in the face with

         25  a taser gun, which consists of two darts that enter
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          2  the body and send a charge through the body.  The

          3  taser report indicates that two shots were fired,

          4  with the apparent excuse that Yancy continued to

          5  struggle after being shot in the face.  One of the

          6  shots lodged in Yancy's left eye, permanently

          7  harming him.

          8                 A good outcome could have resulted

          9  that day if the officers had simply talked to the

         10  family first and learned that Yancy could have been

         11  talked to rather than tackled.  Yancy was at home

         12  with family and wearing just light bedclothing.  The

         13  taser gun should never have been used this way, but

         14  force was not even necessary here.

         15                 Story of John Doe #1:

         16                 John Doe #1 is a young man with

         17  schizophrenia who is not able to hear and not able

         18  to sign in American Sign Language. On June 23, 2001,

         19  shortly after his release from a hospital and return

         20  to his mother's house, his family called the police

         21  for assistance concerning John.

         22                 The ESU unit responded to his home,

         23  and did not consult with family or neighbors about

         24  John, regarding how to communicate with John.  John

         25  went into his bedroom, and the ESU officers treated
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          2  him like a "barricaded perp".  They destroyed the

          3  bedroom door, apparently with a battering ram or

          4  other device, and encountered a terrified John in

          5  his room.  John apparently waved his arms, and in

          6  response, the officer shot him with rubber bullets,

          7  knocking him to the ground and subduing him.  He

          8  arrived at the hospital with rubber bullet bruising

          9  on his back and the back of his arm, indicating

         10  being shot from behind.

         11                 A good outcome could have resulted

         12  that day if the officers had talked to the family

         13  and neighbors that day.  They would have learned

         14  that John likes police officers and it would have

         15  been feasible to communicate with them.  When I

         16  visited their apartment after the attack, his family

         17  showed me a pin that a police officer from the local

         18  precinct had given him while communicating to John

         19  that he was a "friend" and it was "safe" to go to

         20  the hospital with him. (John's story also highlights

         21  the lack of uniformity in a system where families

         22  have to depend on the random kindness of an officer

         23  who may have the intuitive sense or personal

         24  experience that enables them to deal effectively

         25  with a person like John.)
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          2                 Story of John Doe #2

          3                 John Doe #2 is a man with mental

          4  illness who was staying at the Ft. Washington intake

          5  shelter.  A call was placed to 911 for assistance

          6  concerning John.  Immediately upon arrival at the

          7  shelter, John was knocked to the ground by the

          8  officers. John's tooth was cracked in the fall, and

          9  the officer was also injured.

         10                 The shelter staff would have told the

         11  officers that John didn't require that sort of

         12  treatment, that John could be talked to.  But the

         13  police did not consult with people who knew John.

         14  Indeed, the officers at the scene charged John with

         15  unlawfully imprisoning the shelter worker.  The

         16  shelter worker denied being imprisoned, and

         17  explained that she removed herself from the scene

         18  because that was the proper procedure.

         19                 Nonetheless, John was ultimately

         20  charged with assault on the police officer and

         21  resisting arrest.  The District Attorney prosecuted

         22  the attempted assault charge.  The shelter worker

         23  testified that the police officer assaulted John, in

         24  that they knocked him to the ground, and that John

         25  didn't try to injure anyone.
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          2                 John was acquitted at trial.

          3                 In the meantime, John spent 5 months

          4  in detention at Riker's, and another 7 months

          5  waiting for his trial.  This was a ridiculous waste

          6  of taxpayer money.  And a good outcome could have

          7  been had that day, if the police had not resorted to

          8  force before trying to communicate with the "EDP."

          9                 We should expect the NYPD to do

         10  better:

         11                 The officers of the NYPD are

         12  professionals.  NYPD officers can be expected to

         13  react to extraordinary events in a more professional

         14  manner than you or I may react as laypeople.  They

         15  should react to people with mental illness in a

         16  professional and well- trained manner.

         17                 NYPD officers deal with people with

         18  mental illness and people exhibiting irrational

         19  behavior every day on the job.

         20                 At the 1999 City Council hearing, the

         21  NYPD reported that in 1998 they had 64,000 radio

         22  calls concerning EDPs, 25,000 of those calls were

         23   "custody" cases, and the ESU was involved with

         24  1,900 of those cases.  That breaks down to

         25  approximately 175 calls per day.
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          2                 In 1994, NYPD training materials used

          3  in the Social Science Department of the Police

          4  Academy stated that "In July of 1986, there were

          5  2,142 EDP runs in New York City... Basically, what

          6  the above says is that there are 70 EDP calls per

          7  day.  Therefore, an officer can easily see the need

          8  to enhance his/her knowledge and ability in handling

          9           this population."  Police Student's Guide,

         10  Social Science, page 26, document revised 01/90.

         11  (Police Student Guide training materials attached

         12  hereto as Exhibit 1.)

         13                 If those figures are accurate, the

         14  frequency of EDP calls more than doubled between

         15  1986 and 1998.

         16                 Given these large numbers, we can

         17  fairly expect NYPD officers to be able to respond to

         18  people with mental illness without resorting to use

         19  of force that can lead to physical injury and death.

         20                 We can fairly expect the NYPD to have

         21  policies in place that protect the civil rights of

         22  people with mental illness, and we can fairly expect

         23  the NYPD to be accountable in following those

         24  policies.

         25                 To date, the NYPD has failed to put
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          2  in place policies that protect the civil rights of

          3  people with mental illness, and the tacit and

          4  explicit policies in place today lead to injury and

          5  death among civilians and officers alike.

          6                 Policies must change.

          7                 City Council Oversight:

          8                 The City Council should conduct

          9  oversight toward that end by demanding that the

         10  Police Department release data and documents

         11  concerning police treatment of EDPs.

         12                 We suggest that a review of the

         13  following documents in recent years would be

         14  illuminating to the City Council:

         15                 Aided Report Worksheets PD304- 152b

         16                 Taser/Stun Device Reports PD304- 150

         17                 Non- Lethal Restraining Device!

         18  Rescue Equipment Report PD320- 150

         19                 Unusual Occurrence Reports PD370- 152

         20  (limited to EDP calls)

         21                 Police Office Line- of- Duty injury

         22  records

         23                 The City Council should also conduct

         24  oversight toward that end by demanding that the

         25  Civilian Complaint Review Board (CCRB) release data
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          2  and documents concerning police treatment of EDPs

          3  and the way the CCRB conducts investigations on

          4  behalf of people with disabilities.

          5                 The CCRB does not ask about

          6  disability during the intake process.  The CCRB does

          7  however, track race and gender of complainants, and

          8  could easily modify systems to become more

          9  responsive to this community.

         10                 Patrol Guide Policy:

         11                 The portion of the Patrol Guide

         12  entitled "Mentally Ill or Emotionally Disturbed

         13  Persons" is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.

         14                  "Zone of Safety" Policy must be

         15  changed:

         16                 The "Zone of Safety" is described in

         17  the Patrol Guide as a minimum distance of 20 feet,

         18  that will vary depending on the EDP's weapon's

         19  reach, and should be maintained if the EDP does not

         20  remain stationary.

         21                 In practice, we hear that the EDP's

         22  failure to remain stationary does not lead to the

         23  police changing their position, but leads to use of

         24  force, even deadly force if the EDP is perceived to

         25  be gesturing with the object he or she holds. Tacit

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            257

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  NYPD policy allows police officers to resort to

          3  force in these situations.

          4                 This tacit policy was expressed by

          5  the NYPD in 1999. At the 1999 City Council hearing

          6  Sheldon Leffler posed a hypothetical situation to

          7  Captain DeFillipo, in which a man holding a stick

          8  with a piece of metal on it took steps into the zone

          9  of safety.  Captain DeFillipo testified, "I would

         10  not have any problem using deadly physical force in

         11  that instance."  Testimony at page 32.

         12                 The patrol guide also distinguishes

         13  what officers are to do with an EDP who poses an

         14  immediate threat of serious physical harm to himself

         15  or others, as opposed to an EDP who does not

         16  constitute an immediate threat of serious physical

         17  harm to himself or others.

         18                 Deadly Force Policy must be changed:

         19                 For the EDP who poses immediate

         20  serious harm, officers are directed to take

         21  reasonable measures' to terminate the behavior,

         22  resorting to deadly force only as a "last resort."

         23  Poor training on other options, and lack of non-

         24  lethal weaponry lead too often to excessive use of

         25  force and death.
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          2                 The "Isolate and Contain" Policy must

          3  be changed:

          4                 If the EDP does not pose immediate

          5  serious harm, officers are directed to "isolate and

          6  contain" and maintain the "zone of safety" while

          7  waiting for a patrol supervisor and the ESU unit.

          8                 In other words, according to Patrol

          9  Guide policy, if the officers believe an EDP is on

         10  the verge of harming someone seriously, they may

         11  resort to deadly force.  It is the situations where

         12  the imminence of danger is less clear that the

         13  officer is directed to freeze the scene and wait.

         14  This is not effective because the "isolate and

         15  contain" policy leads to  escalation of tensions and

         16  frustration when the EDP does not respond rationally

         17  to orders to "drop it" and to maintain his position.

         18                 Clearly, the policy of"isolate and

         19  contain" is doomed to fail.  Common sense tells us

         20  that surrounding someone in a psychotic state and

         21  demanding that they drop the knife, stick, or

         22  whatever they may hold in their hand is not likely

         23  to come to a good end.  It is not rational for us to

         24  expect a person suffering paranoid delusions to

         25  react rationally to being surrounded by armed police
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          2  officers who are shouting directions.

          3                 The policy of waiting for ESU and

          4  supervision must be changed:

          5                 If the supervising officer, upon

          6  arrival, is not able to move the situation beyond

          7  the "holding pattern" of "isolate and contain," the

          8  patrol guide directs him or her to establish

          9  firearms control, employ the protective shields, and

         10  call in a hostage negotiation team, and perhaps an

         11  ESU supervisor.

         12                 That means you have a person with

         13  mental illness, surrounded by armed officers, who

         14  are now raising shields to obscure their faces,

         15  still not responding rationally to directions to

         16   "drop it" and to surrender himself voluntarily to

         17  go for psychiatric evaluation.  It is ludicrous to

         18  expect the arrival of the ESU unit's supervisor or a

         19  hostage negotiator to solve this problem.  A

         20  rational person might put his hand up and surrender

         21  in such a situation, but a paranoid schizophrenic

         22  will likely not.

         23                 NYPD must move toward a psychiatric

         24  model and away from the criminal model:

         25                 What is missing in these policies,
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          2  inter alia, is any reliance on an informed opinion

          3  from a psychiatric social worker or other

          4  psychiatric emergency worker at the scene.  The NYPD

          5  must either train a significant portion of street

          6  officers on psychiatric techniques, or use mental

          7  health professionals at the scene.

          8                 NYPD policy calls for the "highest

          9  ranking uniformed officer" at the scene to be in

         10  charge of all decision- making.  NYPD policy should

         11  allow police officers to be informed and advised by

         12  people who have some expertise in dealing

         13  effectively with people with mental illnesses.

         14  Adopting a model that allows for consultation with

         15  others does not have to disrupt the chain of

         16  command, but would result in less injury to

         17  civilians and to officers.

         18                 Academy Training:

         19                 Copies of police training materials

         20  from 1994 are attached to this testimony.  We have

         21  seen various iterations of the materials, but none

         22  with substantive changes.  Lesson #44 "Emotionally

         23  Disturbed People" and lesson #46 "custody and non

         24  custody cases" are attached hereto as Exhibit 1.

         25                 These materials show an attempt to
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          2  teach officers about dealing with the mentally ill

          3  that falls short.  Telling officers that "time +

          4  distance= safety" and that they should "isolate and

          5  contain" until a supervisor or ESU arrives does not

          6  give the officer the tools he or she needs to handle

          7  the interaction with a paranoid schizophrenia who

          8  will not stand still and wait for the ESU to arrive.

          9    Giving the officer the definition of paranoid

         10  schizophrenia and the "helpful hint" to "empathize,"

         11  is not a substitute for having a person who is

         12  trained to deal with mental illness (i.e., a social

         13  worker or psychiatric emergency worker) at the

         14  scene.

         15                 The videos that the NYPD officers are

         16  shown at the Academy are no better.  Many of them

         17  have nothing to do with handling an emotionally

         18  disturbed person, but cover such topics as a Public

         19  Broadcasting produced documentary on the plight of

         20  homeless Americans, and examples of therapy sessions

         21  with a manic depressive patient and a schizophrenic

         22  patient, wholly unrelated to police interactions.

         23                 The portion of the videotape training

         24  that deals with communicating with the mentally ill

         25  was timed at 5 minutes (from 00:46:00 to 00:51:50 on
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          2  the tape).

          3                 The portion of the video that

          4  describes the "isolate and contain" policy

          5  represents in chart form officers encircling the EDP

          6  and maintaining a 20- foot distance from him.

          7                 Common sense tells us that armed men

          8  standing in a circle (or otherwise forming a

          9  perimeter) might injure each other if they feel they

         10  must fire their weapons.

         11                 ESU Training on emergency psychiatric

         12  technique is "elective":

         13                 The testimony of Captain DeFillipo at

         14  the 1999 hearing stated that promotional courses for

         15  Sergeants, Lieutenants and Captains, contained EDP

         16  training.  This training was not required, but

         17  merely offered.

         18                 DeFillipo also testified that ESU

         19  officers receive six months of training in rescue

         20  operations, tactics, and "special weapons", which

         21  included some training on non- lethal weaponry.  As

         22  explained above, relying on the arrival of a

         23  supervisor and the ESU is not an effective policy.

         24                 ESU officers bring specialized

         25  equipment, expertise and support to other units
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          2  within the NYPD.  They are trained to work as SWAT

          3  teams, work on counter- sniper details when foreign

          4  heads of state visit New York, work sophisticated

          5  machinery to extricate people from car wreckage and

          6  building collapses, and to handle hostage

          7  situations.

          8                 These jobs are quite different from

          9  dealing with a person with schizophrenia who is in

         10  distress or behaving erratically.  The primary focus

         11  of the ESU units is not on solving problems for

         12  persons in the community suffering from mental

         13  illness.  In fact, a recent deposition of Sergeant

         14  Wall from ESU Squad 3 highlights this point.

         15                 May 9, 2001, the following questions

         16  were asked of Sergeant Wall of ESU 3 and the

         17  following answers were given:

         18                 Q:  What about psychological

         19  training, do you also receive training in emergency

         20  psychological techniques?

         21                 A:  Yes, but not at the school [the 6

         22  month ESU training].

         23                 Q:  Where is that given?

         24                 A:  It is given at John Jay.

         25                 Q:  Is that a requirement to become
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          2  an ESU officer?

          3                 A:  No.

          4                 Q:  Do all the recruits receive it?

          5                 A:  We make an attempt to have them

          6  receive it but they can only handle so many people,

          7  so.  I don't know if everybody went through it.

          8                 Q:  So officers are not required to

          9  take that course at some point in their career to

         10  continue as an ESU officer?

         11                 A:  No, it is a goal we try to

         12  attain.

         13                 Lamot v. City of New York, Sergeant

         14  Wall EBT, p.16, 1.11 to p.17, 1.3.  (Transcript

         15  attached hereto as exhibit 3).

         16                 This testimony shows that ESU

         17  officers, ostensibly the "experts" at dealing with

         18  EDP custody cases, whom the line officers (or first

         19  responders) often wait upon in EDP situations, are

         20  not all prepared to respond to an EDP situation with

         21  psychological techniques rather than (and before)

         22  force.

         23                 The policy of relying on ESU officers

         24  to perform this function should change.  Instead,

         25  NYPD police officers should have experts (i.e.,
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          2  social workers or other psychiatric emergency

          3  workers) at the scene, and should be better trained

          4  themselves to deal with these sometimes volatile

          5  situations.  This better training must include the

          6  use of non- lethal "weapons" on par with the sort of

          7  weapons training cadets get on using their firearms.

          8                 Non- lethal Weaponry:

          9                 The NYPD should acquire the non-

         10  lethal weaponry that is available on the market

         11  today, and teach the officers how to employ it.

         12  Street officers today receive very thorough and

         13  repetitive training on how to use their lethal

         14  weapons, but virtually no training on the myriad of

         15  non- lethal weapons that are available.

         16                 For instance, there are devices on

         17  the market today (and in use in other cities) that

         18  operate by firing a plastic- like substance at the

         19  civilian that becomes a "net" that immobilized the

         20  civilian.  This sort of humane device is not being

         21  used by NYPD officers.

         22                 We have learned that police officers

         23  and supervisory officers often do not have on hand

         24  (or in their cars) even the rudimentary non- lethal

         25  weaponry that the patrol guide directs them to have
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          2  available.

          3                 We have learned that precincts are

          4  not even equipped with the modern non- lethal

          5  weaponry that could prevent injury.

          6                 There is no reason that the ESU units

          7  should have more access to non- lethal weaponry than

          8  the Sergeant's cars and the precinct houses.

          9  Sergeants are able to get to the scene faster than

         10  the ESU, and equipping them fully with all the non-

         11  lethal weaponry available today would by a step that

         12  would lessen the chance of officers and EDPs getting

         13  hurt.

         14                 Conclusion:

         15                 Our organization and other advocacy

         16  groups see a number of cases where EDP calls result

         17  in unnecessary and tragic injuries.

         18                 The Legal Aid Society advises us that

         19  many if not most of the "line of duty" injuries to

         20  police officers that they hear of in court are the

         21  result of mishandled EDP calls, where the officers

         22  resorted to force too quickly.  Every year civilians

         23  and officers alike suffer needless injuries due to

         24  this ineffective policy for handling "EDPs."

         25                 Because of the very nature of these
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          2  psychiatric disabilities, we often learn about what

          3  really happened in these cases from bystanders and

          4  witnesses, not from the victims themselves.  That is

          5  part of the reason you may not hear a lot of

          6  testimony directly from victims today.

          7                 That is also why we need to have

          8  people with psychiatric and psychology backgrounds

          9  at the scene of these EDP incidents.  We need well-

         10  trained professionals there to give guidance to the

         11  police officers, and we need them to bear witness to

         12  what is happening to people with mental illness in

         13  police encounters.  Maybe then we will see changes.

         14                 Thank you.

         15

         16  Testimony of:

         17  Anne J. Swern

         18  Counsel, Honorable Charles J. Hynes

         19  District Attorney of kings County

         20

         21                 A.  Introduction

         22                 Kings County District Attorney

         23  Charles J. Hynes has dedicated himself to reducing

         24  crime in Brooklyn and improving the quality of life

         25  of its residents.  In an effort to break the vicious
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          2  cycle of drug abusers committing crimes, doing

          3  prison time, and re- offending upon their release

          4  from incarceration in order to support their drug

          5  addiction, DA Hynes has been in the forefront of

          6  instituting prosecutor- run drug treatment

          7  alternatives to prison. His DTAP (Drug Treatment

          8  Alternative to Prison) Program boasts a recidivism

          9  rate for graduates that is half the rate for

         10  comparable defendants who served state prison time.

         11  In the course of those pioneering efforts, DA Hynes

         12  came to the conclusion in 1998 that a certain

         13  population of drug abusers, namely, those who had co

         14  occurring disorders of serious, persistent mental

         15  illness and substance abuse, had complex needs that

         16  were not being met.  Since then, DA Hynes has

         17  striven to divert more and more mentally ill

         18  defendants into treatment, while at the same time

         19  remaining mindful of his responsibility to protect

         20  public safety.

         21                 DA Hynes supports Resolution Number

         22  284, which (1) calls upon the New York State

         23  Legislature to enact legislation which would insure

         24  that mentally ill persons who are discharged,

         25  without health insurance, from state prisons and
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          2  city jails will be presumed eligible for Medicaid

          3  coverage for 90 days from the date of discharge, and

          4  (2) calls upon the City to provide adequate

          5  discharge planning as mandated in the court order

          6  issued in Brad H. These initiatives are relevant to

          7  the Brooklyn District Attorney's Office because we

          8  believe that they will have an impact on the crime

          9  rate and on the District Attorney's treatment

         10  diversion and reentry programs.

         11                 B.  Diversion Programs

         12                 1.  TADD (Treatment Alternative for

         13  Dually Diagnosed Defendants)

         14                 TADD, an alternative to incarceration

         15  program, was launched by the Brooklyn District

         16  Attorney's Office in October of 1998.  Originally

         17  aimed only at dually diagnosed defendants, the

         18  program now also encompasses some mentally ill

         19  defendants who do not have a substance abuse

         20  disorder.  TADD's objective is to divert jail- and

         21  prison- bound misdemeanor and non- violent felony

         22  defendants to treatment venues, while at the same

         23  time obtaining appropriate dispositions of the

         24  ending criminal charges consistent with public

         25  safety concerns.
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          2                 Once a defendant is identified as a

          3  mentally ill substance abuser, the District

          4  Attorney's Office reviews the facts of his or her

          5  case to determine program eligibility.  Those

          6  defendants who are believed to be appropriate

          7  candidates for treatment are referred to TASC

          8  (TADD's  case  manager) for clinical assessment,

          9  placement, and monitoring.  A severe and persistent

         10  mental illness generally determines clinical

         11  eligibility.  Contacts are investigated to assist in

         12  the apprehension of the participant in the event

         13  that he or she absconds from the treatment program.

         14  Defendants who meet program criteria must plead

         15  guilty prior to entering treatment.  Predicate

         16  felons are placed in treatment for 16- 24 months,

         17  while those with misdemeanor charges enter treatment

         18  for a period consistent with their charges.  Upon

         19  successful outcome, the plea of guilty is withdrawn

         20  and the charges are dismissed.  Upon failure, the

         21  defendant is sentenced in accordance with the

         22  agreement at the time that the plea was taken.

         23                 As of June 1, 2002, TADD had

         24  identified and screened 19 defendants, out of which

         25  339 (47 percent) had been accepted by the program.
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          2  Of those accepted by the program, 49 percent are

          3  currently in treatment, 8 percent have completed

          4  treatment, 25 percent dropped out and were returned

          5  to court to face their charges, 3 percent have

          6  outstanding warrants, and 15 percent are currently

          7  pending placement (70 percent of whom are detained

          8  in city jails).  Fifty percent of those who were

          9  accepted and placed into treatment entered

         10  residential programs, 26 percent were referred to

         11  outpatient facilities, 5 percent entered hospital

         12  programs, and 19 percent were referred to other

         13  forms of treatment, such as temporary shelters,

         14  clinics and transitional housing facilities.

         15                 Psychiatric diagnosis of defendants

         16  accepted into treatment include Depressive Disorders

         17  (32 percent), Schizophrenia (17 percent),

         18  Schizoaffective (10 percent), Bipolar Disorder (9

         19  percent), Anxiety Disorder )7 percent), PTSD (3

         20  percent), Psychosis NOS (9 percent), Organic Brain

         21  Disorder (5 percent), Adjustment Disorder (4

         22  percent), Delusional Disorder (1 percent), and

         23  Impulse Control Disorder (1 percent), and 2 percent

         24  had a deferred diagnosis.

         25                 In the fall of 2001, the United
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          2  States Department of Health and Human Services

          3  Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services

          4  Administration awarded the Brooklyn District

          5  Attorney's Office 1.2 million dollars over three

          6  years to expand TADD to serve a greater number of

          7  defendants, to create a replicable program, and to

          8  research and analyze the diversion process.  The

          9  funds are being shared by the Brooklyn District

         10  Attorney's Office, TASC, the treatment providers and

         11  the researchers.  Therefore, since November 15,

         12  2001, we have been keeping additional statistical

         13  information on all those referred to TADD.

         14                 Significantly, over three- quarters

         15  of those referred to TADD since November 15, 2001,

         16  had prior contact with the criminal justice system,

         17  and, indeed, over one- fifth of the referred

         18  defendants had more than 10 prior arrests.

         19  The fact that so many of the TADD referrals had

         20  prior arrests suggests that there is indeed a

         21   "revolving door" problem, i.e. Those people with

         22  mental illnesses coming out of jail or prison and

         23  re- entering the community are re- engaging in the

         24  criminal behavior that landed them into trouble in

         25  the first place and quite possibly that behavior is
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          2  intertwined with their mental illness.

          3                 Better discharge planning, as called

          4  for in the court order in Brad H., might help to,

          5  ensure that those with mental illnesses are linked

          6  to proper treatment upon re- entry into the

          7  community and, thereby, might decrease the

          8  recidivism rate.

          9                 We are also hopeful that improving

         10  the discharge planning at Riker's Island will have a

         11  direct positive effect on TADD. Most potential TADD

         12  defendants are held at Riker's Island. Indeed, since

         13  November 15, 2001, over a quarter of the referrals

         14  to TADD came from Prison Health Services at Riker's

         15  Island.  Discharge planners are helpful to TADD in

         16  the following three ways:

         17                 1.  In communicating diagnoses to

         18  TASC (TADD's case manager).

         19                 2.  In providing accurate medical

         20  information to TASC.

         21                 3.  In communicating  with  the

         22  court.

         23                 Such information and communication is

         24  critical in order for TASC to be able to secure

         25  swift and appropriate treatment for the defendant.
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          2  If a clinical diagnosis is incorrect, or if the

          3  acquisition of medical records is delayed (a fairly

          4  common problem), a defendant will have to wait

          5  longer to be placed in an appropriate facility.  If

          6  the discharge planners are good, TADD's success rate

          7  is sure to increase.

          8                 Furthermore, the fact that many

          9  defendants held at Riker's Island lack Medicaid

         10  hinders their placement.  There are some very good

         11  hospital- based MICA rehabilitation facilities that

         12  have available treatment beds, but they require that

         13  the client have Medicaid.  If defendants were

         14  presumed to be Medicaid eligible upon their

         15  discharge from Riker's Island, as would be the case

         16  under the proposed legislation (Assembly Bill A.844-

         17  A and Senate Bill 5.1212- A), we might be able to

         18  place them in some of these beds.

         19                 2.  ComALERT (Community and Law

         20  Enforcement Resources Together).

         21                 For each of the past few years, over

         22  4,000 parolees have returned to Brooklyn from

         23  prison, and that number is expected to rise through

         24  2005.  ComALERT is a prisoner re- entry program

         25  created by DA Hynes in October 1999, to support the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            275

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  reintegration of parolees and probationers back into

          3  their Brooklyn communities.

          4                 Clients are referred to ComALERT

          5  mostly by the New York City Department of

          6  Corrections, New York State Department of Parole,

          7  and New York State Department of Probation.  The

          8  client undergoes assessment at the Brooklyn District

          9  Attorney's Office and is referred to a ComALERT

         10  Resource Partner for a variety of services

         11  including: Health and mental health services;

         12  treatment programs for drug and alcohol problems;

         13  literacy, educational counseling, and testing; GED

         14  and college preparation; transitional housing

         15  placement; career counseling and testing, resume

         16  development, interviewing skills, and direct job

         17  placement; and/or vocational training.  The ComALERT

         18  Resource Partner network is comprised of over 100

         19  community- based service organizations, many of

         20  which have experience serving the forensic

         21  population.  These organizations have developed

         22  programs to reduce crime through health and mental

         23  health treatment, training, mentoring, and,

         24  ultimately, job placement.

         25                 Research reports reveal that the
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          2  majority of parolees leave prison with no savings

          3  and with poor prospects for employment.  These are

          4  high hurdles to overcome.  Those parolees with

          5  mental illnesses face the additional challenge of

          6  trying to remain stable and not decompensate.  If

          7  this group were presumed eligible for Medicaid upon

          8  release, as would be the case under the proposed

          9  legislation, they would at least be able to get the

         10  follow- up  medical care that is so vital to their

         11  mental health and their ability to reintegrate

         12  successfully into the community.

         13                 3.  Arraignment Diversion Program

         14                 In April of 2001, a Mental Health

         15  Diversion Program, a collaboration between the

         16  Brooklyn Criminal Court, Brooklyn District

         17  Attorney's Office, the Department of Mental Health

         18  and TASC, deputed in the night arraignment part of

         19  Criminal Court.  The program ran, Monday through

         20  Friday, until February, 2002, and happily, after a

         21  brief hiatus, it is starting up again this week. It

         22  will begin again in the night arraignment part, but

         23  there is a planned expansion to the day arraignment

         24  part in the near future. The program identifies and

         25  diverts into treatment at arraignment mentally ill
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          2  defendants charged with psychologist present at the

          3  courthouse does an on- site evaluation of

          4  candidates.  Those defendants who have a discernable

          5  mental illness and who would benefit from immediate

          6  placement into treatment, are ordinarily offered a

          7  plea that includes treatment placement as a

          8  condition of the sentence.

          9                 From April 2001, to February 2002, 45

         10  defendants were diverted: 30 men and 15 women.  The

         11  most prevalent diagnoses were

         12  Schizophrenia/Schizoaffective and Major Depression.

         13  In addition to an Axis 1 diagnosis for mental

         14  illness, 96 percent of the defendants also had a

         15  concurrent substance abuse diagnosis. Generally, the

         16  defendants faced victimless, low- level criminal

         17  charges.

         18                 The vast majority (93 percent) had

         19  prior criminal arrests and 73 percent were homeless.

         20    Most had no Medicaid coverage. These facts are

         21  important for two reasons:

         22                 First, if these persons had received

         23  adequate discharge planning when previously coming

         24  out of jail or prison they might not have engaged in

         25  the criminal activity which caused them to end up in
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          2  night arraignments.

          3                 Second, it is difficult to place

          4  people who have no Medicaid coverage, but if we wait

          5  for them to get Medicaid, by then we have lost track

          6  of them and the therapeutic shock value of the

          7  arrest has been lost.

          8                 C.  Conclusion

          9                 As is evident from this brief outline

         10  of a few of the Brooklyn District Attorney's

         11  programs, the Office is committed to diverting

         12  mentally ill defendants whenever that is possible

         13  without comprising public safety.  Because mentally

         14  ill persons who are receiving appropriate treatment

         15  are less likely to commit crimes, such diversion is

         16  not only the right thing to do for the individual

         17  defendant from a therapeutic standpoint, but it is

         18  also the right thing to do for the community from a

         19  law enforcement standpoint.

         20                 We support better discharge planning

         21  and the presumption of Medicaid eligibility because

         22  we believe that these will help reduce recidivism

         23  rates and will increase the chances that more

         24  mentally ill people will get the care and treatment

         25  that they need.  A couple of caveats, however.  We
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          2  have to realize that discharge planning can do just

          3  so much; there is still a problem with compliance.

          4                 That said, improved discharge

          5  planning is still a step in the right direction.

          6  Additionally, one of the major hurdles that we face

          7  in diverting mentally ill defendants into treatment

          8  is that there are an insufficient number of

          9  structured programs with available beds.  The bottom

         10  line is that we need more such facilities for the

         11  mentally ill involved in the criminal justice system

         12  if we are to successfully expand treatment diversion

         13  programs.

         14                 In closing, I would like to mention

         15  one of TADD's success stories.  In June of 1999,

         16  this individual threatened a person with a knife in

         17  the subway, and was arrested and charged with

         18  menacing and criminal possession of a weapon.  The

         19  individual was homeless, living in subway tunnels.

         20  He had a drug addiction, and had previously been

         21  arrested and had spent time at Riker's Island.  When

         22  arrested this time, however, he was identified as a

         23  potential TADD candidate.  The Brooklyn District

         24  Attorney's Office arranged for him to be evaluated

         25  by a psychiatrist while being held at Riker's
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          2  Island.  The candidate was diagnosed with an Axis I

          3  disorder, Schizophrenia.  In September 1999, in

          4  Brooklyn Criminal Court, the TADD candidate pleaded

          5  guilty to menacing and was sentenced to a

          6  conditional discharge.  A condition of his sentence

          7  was his compliance with a treatment program.  He was

          8  placed at the Bowery Residence Community, and in

          9  February of 2000, he was transferred to Rosebud, a

         10  permanent MICA residence with an excellent

         11  structured program.

         12                 As it turns out, this man was one of

         13  the Brad H. Plaintiffs.  Now taking appropriate

         14  medication, receiving treatment, and living in an

         15  apartment, he has recaptured a sense of dignity and

         16  a sense of control over his life.  He graduated from

         17  TADD last month.  This TADD graduate's experience

         18  illustrates the positive outcome that can result

         19  from the appropriate treatment diversion of mentally

         20  ill, jail- or prison- bound individuals.

         21

         22  Testimony of:

         23  Raymond H. Brescia

         24  Urban Justice Center

         25
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          2                 Good afternoon.  I want to start by

          3  thanking the members of this Committee and the

          4  Committee Chair for taking your valuable time to

          5  focus on the two issues that are the subject of

          6  today's hearing.  Thank you also for the opportunity

          7  to provide this testimony,          which was a

          8  collaborative effort between several of my

          9  colleagues at the Urban Justice Center, Heather Barr

         10  and Craig Acorn, and myself.  I will present

         11  testimony on both issues, ATI programs and police

         12  interactions with individuals with psychiatric

         13  disabilities.  I have included with this testimony a

         14  copy of a report, co- authored by staff of the Urban

         15           Justice Center, entitled "Police

         16  Interactions with Individuals in Psychiatric

         17  Crisis," which is directly on point with one of the

         18  subjects of today's hearing.

         19                 Alternatives to Incarceration

         20                 It is well- documented that the

         21  criminal justice system discriminates against

         22  individuals with psychiatric disabilities.

         23  Individuals with psychiatric disabilities are more

         24  likely to be arrested, more likely to be detained,

         25  and less likely to have access to alternative- to-
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          2  incarceration programs than other defendants.  In

          3  prisons, inmates with psychiatric disabilities are

          4  frequently abused, and, as is amply demonstrated by

          5  a lawsuit several disability rights organizations

          6  filed against the State on May 28th of this year,

          7  are         likely to receive inadequate mental

          8  health care and be buried alive, figuratively, in

          9  solitary confinement.

         10                 So what is the role of ATI programs

         11  in remedying this situation?  Unfortunately, to

         12  date, we have made little progress.

         13                 New York City has a unique and

         14  outstanding system of ATI programs.  The New York

         15  City Council, more than any other entity, is

         16  responsible not only for providing funding to

         17  support these programs, but also having the vision

         18  to see how ATI programs can help to make our City's

         19  criminal justice system more humane and more focused

         20  on preventing recidivism, while at the same time

         21  more cost- effective.  The City's many ATI programs

         22  work very effectively with many different groups of

         23  defendants, preventing incarceration and providing

         24  services to assist participants from returning to

         25  the criminal justice system.
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          2                 Unfortunately, virtually all of New

          3  York City's ATI programs have one thing in common:

          4  They do not have the resources to serve people with

          5  psychiatric disabilities.

          6                 You will, I am sure, be hearing today

          7  about a number of programs designed to "divert"

          8  people with mental illness out of the criminal

          9  justice system in New York.  These programs include

         10  the Mental Health Court recently started in Brooklyn

         11  by the Center for Court Innovation, the NYC- LINK

         12  programs in each borough, the misdemeanor diversion

         13  program in Brooklyn Night Court, and the diversion

         14  program in the Bronx.

         15                 What is the difference between these

         16  programs and the ATI programs funded by the City

         17  Council?  The key difference is that while ATI

         18  programs are programs in and of themselves,

         19  providing services to participants, the "diversion"

         20  programs that have been created act as a "broker" of

         21  services, providing, at most, very short- term case

         22  management services.  In this way they rely entirely

         23  on the availability of treatment resources in the

         24  community.  While these programs may remain in

         25  contact with the client of an extended period of
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          2  time, that contact is as a monitor of the client's

          3  compliance with services, rather than as a case

          4  manager (as the term is used in a mental health

          5  context) or treatment provider.

          6                 This would be fine if there were

          7  adequate services in the community.  But as we all

          8  know, New York City's mental health system is in

          9  near crisis.  There is no area where it falls

         10  shorter than in providing housing, a critical

         11  element of an effective ATI program for individuals

         12  with psychiatric disabilities. In addition to the

         13  dire shortage of supportive housing beds, a shortage

         14  that impacts everyone, not just those in need of ATI

         15  programs, additional barriers mean that individuals

         16  with psychiatric disabilities, and often those with

         17  the most severe psychiatric disabilities, are

         18  literally "diverted" from these beds in the

         19  following ways: Eligibility criteria that exclude

         20  incarcerated people, resistance by housing providers

         21  to serving ex offenders, and logistical difficulties

         22  in conducting intake with a person behind bars.

         23                 These factors together create a

         24  situation where diversion from jail to supportive

         25  housing is extremely difficult and involves many

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            285

          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  months of delay in most cases.

          3                 Moreover, in many cases, this process

          4  results in individuals in desperate need of

          5  supportive housing, and often the most seriously

          6  disabled, either being placed in shelters rather

          7  than housing, or being released back to the streets

          8  without services once they have served their time.

          9                 Access to housing is a crucial issue,

         10  because we know that individuals with psychiatric

         11  disabilities who need ATIs are very likely to be

         12  homeless.  In New York City, a 1992 study found that

         13  20 percent of jail detainees were homeless.

         14  Subjects of this study who had histories of

         15  homelessness were twice as likely as the never-

         16  homeless to show some indication of mental illness

         17  (50 percent v.25 percent).  A 1995 study in New York

         18  City found that 43 percent of defendants with mental

         19  disorders were homeless at the time of arrest.  In

         20  the Nathaniel Project, a program I will mention in a

         21  moment, 92 percent of clients, all people with

         22  serious mental illness, are homeless at the time of

         23  release from jail.

         24                 How do "diversion" programs work when

         25  there is nowhere to divert people to?  Not
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          2  optimally, that is certain.  The State Offices of

          3  Mental Health and Court Administration, and the New

          4  York City Department of Mental Health have all

          5  invested in these programs, but none of these

          6  agencies has funded a single new bed specifically

          7  for the clients being "diverted" by these programs.

          8  Nor has the State Office of Mental Health even given

          9   "diversion" programs priority access to a single

         10  one of the very few beds that are available.  Other

         11  major deficits in New York's mental health system

         12  that hamper the effectiveness of "diversion"

         13  programs include lack of access to case management

         14  and ACT services.  The biggest problem with the

         15   "diversion" efforts the City and State have

         16  undertaken so far for individuals with psychiatric

         17  disabilities is that they do not bring new services

         18  into the community, or repair any of the existing

         19  gaps in services. One final deficit of diversion

         20  programs, both in and outside of New York, is that

         21  they tend to serve only non- violent, misdemeanor

         22  offenders.  Although New York is an exception to

         23  this in some ways, with many of the programs

         24  mentioned above serving non- violent felony

         25  offenders, these programs, in general, will not
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          2  serve individuals who  have committed violent

          3  offenses, although, in many ways, these offenses may

          4  be related to their disabilities and judges may be

          5  sympathetic to the individual's need for treatment.

          6  Ironically, diversion programs that serve only non-

          7  violent misdemeanors, as the vast majority of mental

          8  health courts do, are not really engaging in

          9  diversion from the criminal justice system; the vast

         10  majority of non- violent misdemeanor offenders are

         11  not jail- bound and these programs do not reduce the

         12  numbers of individuals with psychiatric disabilities

         13  going to prison.

         14                 You will also be hearing today from

         15  staff of the Nathaniel Project, a City Council

         16  funded ATI program for seriously mentally ill felony

         17  offenders operated by the Center for Alternative

         18  Sentencing and Employment Services.  This program is

         19  unique because it actually does bring new services

         20  into the community.  Nathaniel Project clients

         21  receive intensive case management not for a few

         22  weeks, but for a full two years, and a psychiatrist

         23  on staff provides treatment.  In addition, rather

         24  than simply compete with "diversion" programs for

         25  the very few beds available, the Nathaniel Project
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          2  has created new beds by collaborating with Pathways

          3  to Housing in a successful HUD application that

          4  funded 25 new beds for people being "diverted," and

          5  obtaining funding to build a 64- bed transitional

          6  residence for individuals with psychiatric

          7  disabilities being released from jail and prison.

          8                 We believe that developing more ATI

          9  options for individuals with psychiatric

         10  disabilities in New York City should be a great

         11  priority.  With 3,500 individuals with psychiatric

         12  disabilities "housed" on Riker's Island today and

         13  every day, Riker's is the State's largest

         14  psychiatric institution, and is five times the size

         15  of the next largest psychiatric facility in the

         16  State.  Something must be done to bring down these

         17  numbers and reduce the extent to which our criminal

         18  justice system has become the hospital of last

         19  resort for many individuals with psychiatric

         20  disabilities.  Furthermore, with extended periods of

         21  incarceration for individuals with psychiatric

         22  disabilities because of the inability of the mental

         23  health system to accommodate the population, the

         24  system, as it currently exists, discriminates

         25  against people with serious mental illness in a way
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          2  that is not only inhumane, but also perhaps illegal

          3  under the Americans with Disabilities Act.

          4                 It is important that, as New York

          5  moves forward in creating more ATIs for individuals

          6  with serious psychiatric disabilities, the process

          7  is informed by the following principles:

          8                 1.  ATI programs for individuals

          9  people with serious psychiatric disabilities must

         10  include new treatment resources in the community to

         11  serve participants, particularly housing. Programs

         12  that are expected to "divert" participants without

         13  being given new resources to divert them to give the

         14  appearance of addressing the problem while spending

         15  very little money meeting the real needs of New

         16  Yorkers with serious psychiatric disabilities who

         17  deserve an ATI.

         18                 2.  ATI programs must serve not

         19  simply individuals with mental health needs or

         20  mental illness, but also those with serious

         21  psychiatric disabilities.  There is no individual

         22  too ill to qualify for an ATI, even if the most

         23  appropriate treatment option is hospitalization.

         24  Providers who are funded to provide ATIs to

         25  individuals with psychiatric disabilities should
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          2  prioritized those with the most serious disabilities

          3  and should not be permitted to reject anyone based

          4  on severity of illness.

          5                 3.  ATI programs for individuals with

          6  serious psychiatric disabilities must provide

          7  sanctions proportionate to participants' offenses,

          8  and treatment proportionate to participants'

          9  clinical needs.  Many jurisdictions around the U.S.

         10  Have created "Mental Health Courts" that serve only

         11  non- violent misdemeanor offenders.  These courts

         12  probably are not really "diverting" people, since

         13  non- violent misdemeanor offenders who do not have

         14  serious psychiatric disabilities are likely to be

         15  serving little or no jail time.  If ATIs for people

         16  with serious mental illness are to be cost-

         17  effective and fair in New York, they must focus

         18  primarily on felony offenders, include violent

         19  felony offenders, and provide voluntary services for

         20  misdemeanor offenders.

         21                 Furthermore, it is clear that the NYC

         22  Department of Mental Health and NYS Offices of

         23  Mental Health and Court Administration should join

         24  the City Council and be at the forefront of such

         25  initiatives.  I trust that the City Council will
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          2  continue the important role it has played thus far

          3  in creating ATIs by creating a new system of ATIs

          4  for people with serious psychiatric disabilities.

          5                 Police Response to Emotionally

          6  Disturbed Persons

          7                 In recent years, awareness has

          8  emerged of the critical role played by the NYPD in

          9  the community mental health system.  Indeed, with

         10  the NYPD making somewhere between 60 and 70,000 so-

         11  called "Emotionally Disturbed Persons" calls a year,

         12  the NYPD is the largest psychiatric outreach team in

         13  the world, yet its members receive no more than 12

         14  hours of training, out of an 8 month long Police

         15  Academy training program, in dealing with such

         16  situations.

         17                 We have reached this crisis stage for

         18  a variety of reasons: The breakdown of the

         19  comprehensive mental health care system in New York

         20  City and State, the critical shortage of supportive

         21  housing for the mental health community, more

         22  aggressive police tactics toward street homeless

         23  individuals and the implementation of Kendra's Law.

         24  Thus, emergency crisis response, an area that

         25  requires particularized training and expertise, has
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          2  fallen heavily upon the shoulders of the NYPD.

          3  Unfortunately, and even tragically, the NYPD has

          4  done little to prepare itself for the role it

          5  currently plays within the mental health system.

          6                 Although it has proven difficult to

          7  pierce the figurative "blue wall" in order to learn

          8  about the NYPD's training in this area, we have

          9  learned enough recently to know that their focus in

         10  responding to EDPs has been on the use of weapons

         11  and tactics, rather than on de- escalation of

         12  tension and therapeutic intervention, techniques

         13  better- suited for peaceful, long- term solutions.

         14  The effectiveness of police response is further

         15  hindered by practice and protocol that delays and

         16  defers decision making by relying on a militaristic

         17  chain- of- command and a centralized Emergency

         18  Services Unit that simply can not and does not

         19  respond in time to every call.  Essentially, police

         20  officers who respond to an EDP call are taught to

         21  simply secure a perimeter and wait for the arrival

         22  of better- trained supervisory personnel. Of course,

         23  the situation itself may not cooperate with such a

         24  strategy.  Indeed, several incidents in the past few

         25  years have escalated to the point of fatal police
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          2  shootings of the individual in crisis.  The Urban

          3  Justice Center, along with our colleagues in the

          4  advocacy community, regularly hear and investigate

          5  reports from members of the mental health community

          6  in which a call for help or police services

          7  escalated into a violent confrontation and arrest,

          8  resulted in inappropriate forced transport to a

          9  psychiatric emergency room, or resulted in

         10  legitimate complaints going uninvestigated.  For

         11  example, an Urban Justice Center client was removed

         12  from the home he shared with his mother and taken to

         13  a psychiatric emergency room as many as three times

         14  in a single month and a dozen times in a year, each

         15  time triggered by legitimate complaints he made

         16  regarding a problem he was having with a neighbor.

         17  Although we have attempted repeatedly to meet with

         18  police at the precinct level in order to resolve

         19  this dispute in a manner respecting the needs and

         20  wishes of all concerned, the police never responded

         21  and the incidents continued unabated until our

         22  client's death late last year.

         23                 While I do not blame the NYPD for

         24  having been placed in this situation, I do believe

         25  that it has been largely unresponsive to the
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          2  concerns of the mental health community.  For

          3  several years, community members and advocates have

          4  sought to engage in a meaningful dialogue with the

          5  NYPD, with little response.  We have suggested

          6  programs and partnerships that would integrate the

          7  mental health community with the NYPD in meaningful

          8  ways.  We have suggested that community members be

          9  engaged to help in training all police officers to

         10  better understand, and respond to individuals with

         11  mental illness.  We have suggested that the NYPD

         12  adopt one of the best practices models  for

         13  responding to individuals with psychiatric

         14  disabilities that have been developed and

         15  implemented with great success, both in New York

         16  State and in communities throughout the country, but

         17  not here.

         18                 As a part of the community as a

         19  whole, and as the mental health community

         20  specifically, we seek to end in era marked by

         21  distrust and contentiousness with our Police

         22  Department.  To that end, advocates recently

         23  collaborated on a "white paper" to the new NYPD

         24  Commissioner that sets out our concerns and

         25  recommendations in detail.  The paper calls for the
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          2  appointment of a blue ribbon panel to study these

          3  issues further and to take its findings directly to

          4  Mayor Bloomberg and Commissioner Kelly.  I

          5  respectfully urge the Council to continue to work

          6  closely with the community, to recommend development

          7  of the proposals I have briefly outlined here today,

          8  and to support our call for the creation of a blue

          9  ribbon commission to study the problem of police

         10  interactions with the mental health community in New

         11  York City.

         12                 In sum, I respectfully make the

         13  following recommendations:

         14                 1.  The creation of an

         15  interdisciplinary, "blue ribbon" commission to study

         16  the problem of police~community relations with the

         17  mental health community in New York City.

         18                 2.  Comprehensive training on

         19  responses to individuals with psychiatric

         20  disabilities for all officers beginning in the NYPD

         21  Academy, and continuing throughout an officer's

         22  career.

         23                 3.  Mental health community

         24  involvement in training and response such that

         25  officers make contact with family members and
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          2  treatment providers in order to seek therapeutic

          3  solutions to ongoing problems.  This could be

          4  modeled on, and build on the success of, existing

          5  programs involving response to domestic violence

          6  calls on a precinct level, as well as previous pilot

          7  programs that sought to forge closer ties between

          8  local precincts and psychosocial clubhouses.

          9                 4.  Greater coordination between the

         10  NYPD and hospital- based psychiatric emergency

         11  services that would better enable officers to

         12  appropriately choose to make a medical referral

         13  rather than an arrest.

         14                 5.  Ongoing supervision and review of

         15  incidents involving EDPs in order to identify

         16  problems, ensure compliance with the law and improve

         17  the outcome of these incidents.

         18                 6.  Creation of alternatives to

         19  traditional police response, such as a mental health

         20  emergency line that would trigger either a rapid

         21  response by specially trained officers together with

         22  mental health workers, or a non- police response.

         23                 7.  Creation of designated "crisis

         24  intervention" officers in each precinct, as is

         25  currently done in the area of domestic violence,
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          2  where such officers would have specialized training

          3  to handle so- called "EDP" responses and serve as

          4  resources to their fellow officers in how to handle

          5  such situations.

          6

          7  Testimony of:

          8  Kenneth Linn

          9  Director

         10  Education and Assistance Corporation's NYC TASC

         11  Programs

         12

         13

         14                My name is Kenneth Lirn and I am the

         15  Director of the

         16           Education and Assistance Corporation's

         17  (EAC) New York City

         18           TASC Programs.  We are a not- for- profit

         19  organization that oversees New York City's largest

         20  alternative to incarceration program linking

         21  substance abusing offenders to treatment in lieu of

         22  prison.  My agency also works with a significant

         23  number of mentally ill offenders both as

         24  alternatives to incarceration (cases where we place

         25  mentally ill and mentally ill substance abusers into
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          2  community based services in lieu of prison and jail)

          3  as well as conducting discharge planning and case

          4  management for those mentally ill inmates who are

          5  released after serving their local jail sentence at

          6  Riker's Island and our other City jails.

          7                 In doing this work, it is wonderful

          8  to see that this City Council and this Committee are

          9  making the problems of working with mentally ill

         10  persons such a high priority, especially in times

         11  like these when the problems of the weakest and

         12  frailest among us and those least able to care for

         13  themselves are often lost in the larger issues that

         14  have taken front stage and which often command a

         15  higher priority on the government's agenda.

         16                 I wish I had been able to speak to

         17  committee staff before these hearings because the

         18  issues raised here now are those that we  struggle

         19  with every day as we desperately try to link our

         20  mentally ill clients to services.  On the

         21  alternative to incarceration end, this often results

         22  in eligible clients being bypassed for release to

         23  services that the criminal justice system has deemed

         24  them eligible for.  They historically remain in jail

         25  longer than necessary because of structural
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          2  impediments in the mental health delivery system

          3  that exceeds the issue of Medicaid and the services

          4  that Medicaid brings.

          5                 Please don't misunderstand me.

          6  Presumptive Medicaid would be a God- send to us in

          7  the field for it would help immensely when we try to

          8  carry out our mission.  Our clients are often not

          9  even up to the task of making their own application

         10  for services and benefits but need our help to

         11  accomplish these tasks in the first instance.  They

         12  are often daunted by their first encounter with the

         13  benefits system when they are initially asked for a

         14  birth certificate and a social security card as a

         15  prerequisite for even applying for benefits.  Even

         16  if this issue were resolved, boundless difficulties

         17  would remain since their experience is to encounter

         18  a world which often challenges even those without

         19  mental illness, those who arrive at its doorstep as

         20  a result of poverty and denial of opportunity yet

         21  without the accompanying difficulty of the

         22  disability of mental illness.  I remember one of my

         23  staff, a young Masters level staff and a recent

         24  graduate of John Jay telephoning our office and

         25  getting me on the phone frantic about the denial of
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          2  services for one of our clients because she was told

          3  that she was in the wrong catchment center after

          4  having spent a significant period of time waiting to

          5  see a worker.  This was a client who had just come

          6  out of Riker's Island the day before and who we

          7  placed overnight in a wonderful crisis center

          8  overseen by the Bowery Residents Committee who we

          9  picked up first thing in the morning and escorted to

         10  the center to apply for benefits.  I asked my

         11  staffer to see if she could get me on the phone with

         12  one of the supervisors.  I started off the

         13  conversation with the supervisor by explaining that

         14  we had a mentally ill client who desperately needed

         15  to sign up for benefits and who before being in

         16  Riker's Island had been homeless and when it came to

         17  catchment areas, if their Center were near an "A"

         18  train then he lived in their catchment area.  I then

         19  pleaded with her before she sent him away to say a

         20  few words to him and see who she was sending out

         21  into the streets and how badly he needed services.

         22  She put me on hold for a few minutes and thankfully

         23  went to investigate.  When she came back on the

         24  phone, she said, "yes, we will process the

         25  application".  Could you imagine if our client had
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          2  tried this on his own?

          3                 But back to Medicaid and while the

          4  Senate and Assembly Bills would be wonderful it is

          5  my understanding that even without them something

          6  can be done right now.  It is my recollection that

          7  about two or three years ago, one of the staff of

          8  the Office of Court Administration contacted the

          9  Federal Health and Human Services Administration and

         10  received a reply from the then Cabinet Secretary,

         11  Donna Shalala, who advised in a written opinion that

         12  there is nothing that prevents an application for

         13  Medicaid benefits from a person in jail or prison

         14  and that there is no reason to terminate a person in

         15  jail or prison from Medicaid.  To the best of my

         16  recollection, it went on to state that Medicaid

         17  benefits could not be accessed for services while a

         18  person is in jail or prison but that an application

         19  could be made and approved but the use of the card

         20  and its benefits could not be available until

         21  discharge.  In fact, I believe that since the

         22  process had been started we have received Medicaid

         23  cards for our jailed clients in the mail at our

         24  offices even before discharge and that the benefits

         25  of these cards have then been available for our
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          2  clients immediately upon release.  It was my

          3  understanding that the City was going to continue

          4  this process.  So  while I am not privy to the

          5  details of when, where and how, we clearly did

          6  benefit from this and I can attest to the fact that

          7  it has happened in a number of cases.  You can not

          8  imagine the relief we experience when we have a

          9  client who already has Medicaid benefits in place.

         10                 Before I conclude, I will tell you

         11  about a program that is starting to work and which

         12  does ameliorate a part of the situation to some

         13  extent and could serve as a model for Presumptive

         14  Medicaid.  It is the Medication Grant Program.  This

         15  is a program wherein our mentally ill clients upon

         16  leaving Riker's and other jails are immediately

         17  eligible for a Medication card.  It takes about 20

         18  minutes to get one and these cards are accepted at a

         19  wide range of pharmacies.  They provide payment only

         20  for the psychotropic medications that our clients

         21  desperately need.  It is a wonderful start albeit a

         22  stop- gap measure that so far is working and I am

         23  holding my breath and hoping that it does not get

         24  derailed somehow.  It has its flaws because it does

         25  not pay for a lot of other needed services and other
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          2  medication which our clients often need nor does it

          3  obviate the need for a prescription from a doctor

          4  but when Zyprexa, one of the new wonder drugs for

          5  schizophrenia costs between $800 to $900 a month,

          6  having this medication paid for is absolutely

          7  wonderful.

          8                 I have much more that I would like to

          9  say about these issues but time precludes me.  I

         10  would be derelict however,if I did not bring up a

         11  bigger issue and one that far exceeds any other

         12  single issue when working with the mentally ill.

         13  Because while Medicaid benefits for our clients

         14  would be a blessing, our clients still need a place

         15  to live.  I could write volumes on this issue as it

         16  is one of the overriding and chronic difficulties of

         17  our work.  There simply is not enough housing or

         18  appropriate treatment services for the mentally ill.

         19    The number of mentally ill coming out of our local

         20  jails with a dual diagnosis of mental illness and

         21  substance abuse is far beyond the recognized figure

         22  of 60 percent.  Our work has shown that more than 95

         23  percent of our clients coming out of our local jails

         24  have this dual diagnosis. This often precludes them

         25  from much of the mental health housing and treatment
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          2  and similarly from much of the substance abuse

          3  housing and treatment.  The mental health system is

          4  not equipped to deal with substance abuse and the

          5  providers do not want to take on this additional

          6  complication.  The substance abuse system also is

          7  loathe to accept and often not capable of working

          8  with the seriously mentally ill client.  But for the

          9  very limited number of programs that have been

         10  designated and are capable of accepting the dually

         11  diagnosed population, there is a barrier called the

         12  New York, New York agreement that precludes all but

         13  the homeless from this housing and in fact, being in

         14  jail at Riker's is not eligibility under New York-

         15  New York for under that regulation, Riker's Island

         16  and our other local jails are a valid home.  Thus,

         17  those who after entering Riker's have lost their

         18  apartments yet have no place to return to are still

         19  not eligible to be considered homeless.  In the

         20  criminal justice system, even if the prior address

         21  was a place that there is a Court Order of

         22  Protection forbidding the inmate to return to, this

         23  is nonetheless considered their home and as a

         24  result, the bar of the New York- New York agreement

         25  deems them not homeless and thus not eligible for
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          2  this specialized MICA housing.

          3                 I don't want to leave you with the

          4  feeling that there is not good work going on and

          5  attempts to break down the barriers.  In Brooklyn,

          6  under Charles Hynes, the Brooklyn District Attorney

          7  has championed and led the charge in dealing with

          8  community treatment services for appropriate non-

          9  violent mentally ill offenders the way he pioneered

         10  substance abuse treatment for non- violent drug

         11  addicted criminals with his DTAP (Drug Treatment to

         12  Prison Program).  That program founded by the

         13  District Attorney in 1990 has spread to all of the

         14  counties of New York City and many throughout New

         15  York State.  In face, there is pending Federal

         16  legislation that could create it on a nation- wide

         17  scale.

         18                 In 1998, with a small grant from the

         19  state, the Brooklyn DA's office partnered with our

         20  agency to begin to place mentally ill offenders in

         21  community treatment instead of prison. Since then,

         22  we have worked together to continue this work and

         23  today in Brooklyn at present we have over 300

         24  mentally ill criminal justice clients in treatment

         25  instead of jail or prison and we have almost 100
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          2  pending placement.  In October, in partnership with

          3  us and various treatment programs, they received a

          4  Federal SAMHSA grant of $400,000 a year for three

          5  years to expand this program to accept and place

          6  more clients.

          7                 And Brooklyn is not alone.  Following

          8  the lead of Brooklyn, the Bronx District Attorney

          9  has also championed the cause of the non- violent

         10  mentally ill offender and also partnered with us and

         11  won a Federal grant to continue this work.  This

         12  partnership with us in Bronx County, has led to a

         13  caseload of 150 diverted mentally ill clients, who

         14  instead of remaining in jail and going to state

         15  prison are actively getting better in community-

         16  based housing and receiving treatment services in

         17  the community.

         18                 In conclusion, it is hard to put into

         19  works how much we value your interest and your

         20  activities as represented by these hearings as a

         21  hopeful first step.  We who toilet in this field day

         22  in and day out give you our full support.  The work

         23  you accomplish by hearings such as this will

         24  undoubtedly make life better for those who suffer

         25  among us with mental illness and in the long run
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          2  will make New York a better place to live for us

          3  all.

          4

          5  Testimony of:

          6  John A. Gresham

          7  New York Lawyers for the Public Interest, Inc.

          8

          9                 Thank you for inviting me to testify.

         10    As you know, New York Lawyers for the Public

         11  Interest, along with the Urban Justice Center and

         12  Debevoise and Plimpton, are counsel to the plaintiff

         13  class in Brad H. V. City of New York.  This is a

         14  lawsuit to compel New York City to meet its legal

         15  obligations to provide discharge planning, so

         16  mentally ill jail inmates can have the means to

         17  continue their mental health treatment after their

         18  release into the community.  One essential component

         19  of discharge planning is securing the means to pay

         20  for continuing treatment, including medication.

         21                 The Council's Resolution No. 284

         22  supports State legislation proposed by Mr. Luster

         23  and Senator Marching on Medicaid Presumptive

         24  eligibility for mentally ill people leaving hospital

         25  psychiatric units, prisons and jails.
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          2                 Medicaid Presumptive eligibility

          3  would be a useful addition to what is supposed to be

          4  happening already in as a consequence of the Brad H.

          5  Litigation.  Even if discharge planning ran well, it

          6  will never result in Medicaid applications being

          7  submitted and acted upon for every mentally ill

          8  inmate who needs one, in the advance of release.

          9                 Unfortunately, discharge planning is

         10  not running well now.  New York City claims it has a

         11  process to screen mentally ill inmates for Medicaid

         12  eligibility and keep the on if they are already on

         13  Medicaid, or reinstatement them if they have been on

         14  in the last 12 months, or submit new applications if

         15  neither of the above is true.

         16                 If the inmates do not have a Medicaid

         17  card in hand by the time they leave jail, then the

         18  City's procedures call for them to get Medication

         19  Grant Program cards to fill in the gap until

         20  Medicaid applications can be determined.  MGP is a

         21  new program created by the Legislature in 1999 to

         22  bridge this gap in coverage.

         23                 Supposedly New York City has had 51

         24  discharge planners serving mentally ill jail inmates

         25  since April 2001.  But its own figures indicate it
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          2  screened an average of only 262 inmates per month

          3  during the period of July 2001- March 2002.  That is

          4  only 5.2 inmates screened per planner per month.

          5  The screening form is a single sheet of paper.

          6  During that same time period discharge planners

          7  submitted only 51 new Medicaid applications on

          8  average per month, about 1 per planner per month.

          9                 MGP is not filling the gap as planned

         10  by the Legislature and claimed by the City.  New

         11  York City estimated 15,000 inmates per year would be

         12  eligible, in March 2001.  That would be 1,250 per

         13  month.  The highest number of City jail inmates

         14  enrolled in a month that we know of is 200, in March

         15  2002.

         16                 Also, as you heard at the hearing on

         17  Brad H. Compliance in March, the MGP has not been

         18  effectively publicized or understood by providers.

         19                 If the presumptive eligibility

         20  proposal were adopted and implemented well, it would

         21  add a useful element to even a well run discharge

         22  planning program.  No matter what, some inmates will

         23  not have Medicaid applications submitted prior to

         24  release, and many will be released before their

         25  applications are acted upon.
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          2                 There is already a process for

          3  presumptive eligibility for people in hospitals who

          4  could leave if they had Medicaid in place to pay for

          5  home health care.  The State allows localities 5

          6  days to find presumptive eligibility, after which

          7  they must make the full determination intravenous he

          8  usual course.

          9                 If the Luster- Marchi bill were

         10  enacted, a Brad H. Class member with proper

         11  documentation could get a presumptive determination

         12  of eligibility in 5 working days.  This would

         13  require completion of the regular applications plus

         14  a simple checklist plus medical certification of

         15  mental illness and need for continuing treatment.

         16                 The presumptive eligibility process

         17  could be used to speed up processing of applications

         18  which are submitted prior to discharge, to get

         19  Medicaid cards issued to more mentally ill inmates

         20  prior to discharge.

         21                 Also, if no applications had been

         22  submitted prior to discharge, an inmate could apply

         23  after release and get a quick response from

         24  Medicaid, provided the jail gave necessary

         25  documentation.
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          2                 Presumptive eligibility would be

          3  limited to people with severe and persistent mental

          4  illness, but they need it most.

          5                 Presumptive eligibility cannot

          6  replace discharge planning activities around

          7  Medicaid, but it could certainly be a useful

          8  addition.

          9                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         10  testify.

         11

         12  Testimony for:

         13  Nahama Broner, Ph.D.

         14  Senior Research Psychologist, Research Triangle

         15  Institute International

         16  Adjunctive Associate Professor, New York University

         17

         18                 During the past five years there has

         19  been a steady proliferation of post- booking

         20  diversion programs that test both legally mandated

         21  and non- mandated models at arraignment (EAC- TASC

         22  DMH funded Kings County arraignment court mental

         23  health service), criminally and supreme courts (EAC-

         24  TASC and Bronx District Attorney's Office Mental

         25  Health Court Diversion Service for SPMI and dually
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          2  diagnosed felons; Kings County District Attorney's

          3  Office TADD program for misdemeanor and felony SPMI

          4  and dually diagnosed defendants; Kings County TASC

          5  Link diversion; CASES Nathaniel diversion program

          6  for SPMI felony offenders; CCI Kings County Mental

          7  Health Court) and general jail diversion (DMH NYC

          8  LINK).  There are no current formal NYC pre- booking

          9  diversion programs.  The following summarizes a few

         10  main findings from recent research conducted in NYC

         11  on diversion programs, and reiterates several

         12  recommendations noted in materials submitted to the

         13  Council (e.g., final report on jail diversion

         14  research study of NYC- LINK; process study of two

         15  NYC court diversion programs; chapter on diversion).

         16

         17                 Local detainee population

         18  characteristics:

         19                 Study 1:  Severely Mentally Ill

         20  Dually diagnosed diversion eligible jail detainees.

         21                 A local study, part of the national

         22  SAMHSA- funded jail diversion study of pre- and

         23  post- booking diversion models around the country,

         24  was conducted of NYC- LINK diversion programs. Two

         25  hundred thirty- one post- booking diversion program
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          2  and comparison research participants diagnosed with

          3  serious and persistent mental illness (e.g.,

          4  schizophrenia, bipolar disorders completed baseline

          5  interviews, 175 of whom completed follow- up

          6  interviews at three and/or twelve months.  Fifty-

          7  seven percent of the sample was male, with a

          8  majority of the sample endorsing Black or Hispanic

          9  racial/ethnic background (58 percent black, 27

         10  percent Hispanic, and 4 percent white).

         11  Participants were on average 35 years- old and

         12  hacking completed 11 years of education.  Sixty-

         13  seven percent of clients reported a lifetime history

         14  of employment, although only 19 percent held a job

         15  for pay at the time of arrest. Thirty- one percent

         16  of clients were homeless at arrest (62 percent

         17  reported being homeless within the previous twelve

         18  months), 19 percent were HIV- positive, and 48

         19  percent had a child under the age of 12.

         20  Approximately one quarter (24 percent) of the

         21  overall sample reported a lifetime history of

         22  treatment for alcohol use, half (54 percent)

         23  reported a lifetime history of treatment for drug

         24  use, and 90 percent reported a lifetime history of

         25  treatment for mental health problems.  Eighty- one
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          2  percent of participants had been hospitalized for

          3  mental health problems at some point in their

          4  lifetime.  Seventy- four percent of participants

          5  were detained with a felony charge, 15 percent

          6  misdemeanor level charges and 11 percent were

          7  detained pending hearings for probation or parole

          8  violations.  A majority (53 percent) were charged

          9  with drug offenses.  The average length of stay in

         10  jail on the index offense was 104 days.

         11                 Main Findings:

         12                 1.  Diversion in general seems to

         13  have some positive outcomes, though onychomycosis a

         14  few differences were found. Experimental diverted

         15  participants spent less time in state prisons,

         16  tended toward less jail time, and used community

         17  emergency room services less frequently than did

         18  comparison subjects.  There was no increased risk

         19  for recidivism or violent acts for those diverted

         20  versus those not.  Experimental subjects were also

         21  more likely to have insight into substance abuse

         22  problems at three months and to maintain that level

         23  of insight at 12 months.

         24                 2.  Within diversion, though sample

         25  size was small, those with legally- mandated plans
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          2  (e.g., TASC court diversion), when compared to those

          3  with non- mandated diversion plans and those in the

          4  comparison group:

          5                 A.  Were less likely to spend time in

          6  prison in relations to comparison subjects, with a

          7  trend toward their spending more time in the

          8  community (not jail);

          9                 b.  Received more services from the

         10  diversion program prior to the diversion, better

         11  linkages to community services once diverted, and

         12  more treatment services;

         13                 c.  Were significantly more likely,

         14  upon their release from jail, to receive any

         15  residential or outpatient treatment than either

         16  those in low- coercion programs or their comparison

         17  counterparts: 95 percent of mandated diversion

         18  subject received either residential treatment or

         19  outpatient counseling over the course of the year,

         20  as opposed to 67 percent of the non mandated

         21  diversion participants, and 64 percent of comparison

         22  subjects; and

         23                 d.  Had greater reductions in

         24  substance use at 12 months.

         25                 3.  Mental health or integrated
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          2  treatment appeared to have a significant positive

          3  effect, particularly on recidivism outcomes, but

          4  also to some extent on substance abuse at both three

          5  and twelve months.

          6                 A.  Those who spent more nights in

          7  residential treatment had fewer overall at three

          8  months, and spent fewer days in jail on the original

          9  arrest, in jail overall, in state prisons, or in any

         10  correctional facility over the following year;

         11                 b.  Similarly, those participants who

         12  attended more outpatient counseling had fewer

         13  misdemeanor re- arrests and fewer re- arrests

         14  overall at three months, and fewer days in jail on

         15  the original arrest and fewer days in any

         16  correctional facility over the following year.

         17                 C.  Residential and outpatient

         18  treatment was associated with decreased use of drugs

         19  and alcohol.

         20                 D.  Medication compliance was a

         21  significant predictor of time spent in jail: The

         22  less complaint with medication, the more time spent

         23  in jail on subsequent re- arrests.

         24                 E.  Medication non- compliance was

         25  associated with risk for violence and acute
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          2  psychiatric symptoms over the course of the year.

          3                 F.  On the other hand, days in

          4  residential or outpatient treatment did not predict

          5  most mental health outcomes or impacted them

          6  negatively.

          7                 4.  Cost:  While the cost- benefit

          8  study is in preparation from RTI regarding NYC,

          9  general, less formal implications from the above

         10  data suggest that diversion could reduce emergency

         11  room costs and jail costs associated with

         12  recidivism, along with associated non- quantifiable

         13  costs to family members and the general public of

         14  substance use.

         15                 5.  There is a subpopulation who, due

         16  to individual charges, characteristics (e.g.,

         17  psychopathy), violence risk, or declining of

         18  services, continue to require in- jail

         19  stabilization, treatment and re- entry planning.

         20  Thus, costs are saved in reduced community emergency

         21  utilization and recidivism by maintaining essential

         22  in- jail services, which also provide an opportunity

         23  for treatment readiness and collaboration for

         24  diversion and discharge planning in- reach.

         25                 Study 2:  Pre- arraignment Adult
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          2  Detainees.

          3                 Three hundred and seven randomly

          4  selected pre arraignment general population

          5  detainees and 44 police- identified "Emotionally-

          6  Disturbed Persons" in Brooklyn, NY, were

          7  interviewed. After excluding EDPS and those who did

          8  not complete standardized diagnostic instruments,

          9  data was analyzed for 281 participants. Thirty- two

         10  percent of the population had a standardized

         11  instrument life- time diagnosis of mental health

         12  problems (25 percent had lifetime diagnoses that

         13  were considered severe; 18 percent had a current

         14  serious mental health diagnoses within the past 12

         15  months), and 45 percent have probable substance

         16  abuse or dependence (although 56 percent of the

         17  population reported using some illegal drug or

         18  alcohol during the month prior to arrest).  This

         19  general pre- arraignment population also

         20  demonstrated a high degree of social service needs:

         21  49 percent were unemployed, 29 percent had a history

         22  of homelessness, 19 percent has a history of child

         23  welfare involvement, 33 percent reported a history

         24  of childhood abuse, and 43 percent reported a

         25  history of mental health or substance abuse
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          2  treatment.  Eighty- one percent of the study sample

          3  returned to the community directly from arraignment,

          4  while 19 percent entered a detention facility to

          5  await the trail process; 40 percent were re-

          6  arrested during the 12 months following data

          7  collection.  Those at greatest risk for jail

          8  detention and/or re arrest have either substance

          9  abuse, mental health, or co- occurring disorders

         10  diagnoses.  These data have implications for

         11  community and jail intervention and service needs,

         12  criminally justice design of diversion programs, and

         13  policy for targeted intervention with this

         14  population.

         15                 Recommendations:

         16                 1.  Diversion:  Diversion for this

         17  population is a mechanism that has been shown

         18  empirically to increase service access and, to a

         19  greater and lesser degree, reduce recidivism,

         20  certain types of incarceration and length of

         21  incarceration (e.g., Broner & Maryrl, 2001; Hoff et

         22  al., 200; Steadman, Cocozza & Veysey, 1999).  By

         23  connecting a client to services and assisting the

         24  client in remaining in treatment, diversion reduces

         25  criminal justice involvement.  As was done in the
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          2  State of Connecticut, it is recommended that court

          3  based diversion be one of the mandated intervention

          4  options for the arraignment level, and potentially

          5  for other courts.  In NYC and certain NYS

          6  jurisdiction, there are various partnerships with

          7  mental health, mental health clinics, or linkage

          8  programs that would allow this recommendation to be

          9  implemented without requiring additional funding,

         10  although attaching funding to support community

         11  treatment slots for this population would indeed

         12  address the main obstacle faced by access programs

         13  (diversion or re- entry).  Such a policy would

         14  compel uniform and comprehensive efforts.

         15                 Further, while a number of post-

         16  booking diversion programs have begun, there are no

         17  formal pre- booking programs in NYC.  Several models

         18  exist and have been shown to increase access to

         19  services and decrease police injuries (e.g., the CIT

         20  model); memoranda of understanding (MOUstache)

         21  between hospitals and police, streamlining medical

         22  and psychiatric exams, specialized training for

         23  seasoned (post academy officers) and multiple

         24  stakeholder partnerships (police, mental health,

         25  substance abuse, family, consumer organizations) are
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          2  some of the programmatic suggestions for NYC

          3  implementation.

          4                 2.  Identification system.  Mandating

          5  parity in mental health and substance abuse

          6  screening for first arraignment (by adding mental

          7  health and substance abuse questions to the general

          8  health and community ties screening already done),

          9  would increase the potential for prevention,

         10  intervention and continuity of care. This could

         11  likely be done with little additional expense, if

         12  protocols already administered were broadened by the

         13  agencies screening this population prior to

         14  arraignment.

         15                 Identification:  From a New York City

         16  prospective, there are agencies that already screen

         17  all arrestees entering the court system (e.g., EMS

         18  and CJA).  The Mayor's Office, fire department and

         19  courts should work together along with the

         20  Department of Public Health to develop first, the

         21  addition of a few mental health and substance

         22  questions and second, the mechanism by which this

         23  information can be conveyed to diversion and jail re

         24  entry programs and Department of Corrections (for

         25  those defendants entering the correctional system
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          2  after arraignment), this should produce little, if

          3  any, negative expense.  While consent procedures may

          4  seem daunting, programs' staff and clients per exit

          5  interviews, indicate that a majority of clients

          6  would rather give consent for system to

          7  appropriately provide treatment than endure repeated

          8  redundant assessment that inherently ensures the

          9  lack of continuity of care.  Best of course, but

         10  costly, would be an agreement between the Department

         11  of Public Health and its current contracted programs

         12  to receive a data link, which data could be reviewed

         13  for clients that are receiving or have received

         14  mental health treatment; similarly a parallel system

         15  with OASAS would be beneficial.  Both Arizona and

         16  Connecticut use such data link system for court and

         17  jail- based diversion and discharge planning

         18  purposes.

         19                 Assessment:  A basic streamlined

         20  assessment protocol should be created for contracted

         21  programs working with this population.  This should

         22  be spearheaded by the NYC Department of Public

         23  Health, New York State Office of Mental Health (OMH)

         24  and Office of Alcohol and Substance Abuse Services

         25  (OASAS); these agencies along with the programs they
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          2  fund and the clients they serve could benefit

          3  greatly by having meaningful and comparable data.

          4                 3.  MICA beds:  The lack of beds in

          5  general, and treatment beds specifically (beds that

          6  imply a degree of at least coordinated treatment if

          7  not integrated treatment for clients with mental

          8  health and substance abuse problems), is vital for

          9  diversion or re- entry programs success; while

         10  research and best practice recommendations support

         11  these types programs as effective access to care

         12  mechanisms, without community residential beds that

         13  have appropriate co- located treatment,

         14  incarceration time increases and poor clinical and

         15  justice outcomes become more likely; the costly

         16  alternative is the continued cycling of this

         17  population through emergency and criminally justice

         18  systems.

         19                 4.  Credentialing for staff and

         20  agencies who serve this population:  Legislative

         21  action is recommended to address avenues that may

         22  increase the quality of care received by this target

         23  population, which treatment requires particular

         24  expertise. Unless the community system is encouraged

         25  to increase competency, as well as staff pay (which
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          2  may reduce high community agencies' staff turnover),

          3  the continued likelihood of failed treatment and its

          4  impact on the client's ability to remain in

          5  community treatment will continue.  Models for

          6  minimum agency competency have been established

          7  jointly by OMH and OASAS; the CASAC model of

          8  didactic and practicum training may serve as model

          9  for ran equivalent dual diagnosis certificate.

         10                 5.  Memoranda Of Understanding

         11  (MOUstache):  OASAS and OMH have developed excellent

         12  models for agency cooperation with two- by -- two

         13  MOUs with each other and recently with mental health

         14  and state corrections (Departments of Correction and

         15  Parole); however, three- way agreements that would

         16  include corrections, substance abuse and mental

         17  health are needed and MOUs have not been implemented

         18  between DPH's substance abuse and mental health

         19  divisions and city correction and probation.  The

         20  establishment of such agreements would support new

         21  and expanded program development, along with staff

         22  training and agency competency for work with the

         23  severely mentally and dually diagnosed justice

         24  client.

         25                 6.  State of city Forensic Task
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          2  Force:  While there are several collaborative

          3  planning groups city and state- wide, many of whom

          4  are engaged in either innovative interventions or

          5  designing system- wide plans for policy and practice

          6  change, these groups do not have a mandate to effect

          7  contracting, program practice and policy and do not

          8  have a systematic mechanism for direct input to

          9  effectively create such change.  Many states have

         10  such a task force focused on the mentally ill

         11  substance abusing individuals with justice

         12  involvement (e.g., Arizona, Maryland, Connecticut,

         13  Colorado, Washington State, etc.)  It is recommended

         14  NYStagmus also adopt this formal process to

         15  planning, program implementation and policy

         16  development.

         17                 7.  NYS Legislative Forensic

         18  Subcommittee:  It may be useful for the current

         19  individual legislative subcommittees for

         20  corrections, alcohol and mental health to create a

         21  mechanism whereby the remedies for issues that

         22  intersect between two or three of these areas can be

         23  coordinated.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 5:35 p.m.)

         25
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 12th day of June 2002.

         19
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         21

         22

         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          PAT WTULICH
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          8

          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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